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PART |
Iltem 1. Business.

FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION

Except for historical information, this Annual Repon Form 10-K may be deemed to contain "forwkaking" information. Examples
forwarddooking information include but are not limited t() projections of or statements regarding retumninvestment, future earnin
interest income, other income, earnings or lossspare, growth prospects, capital structure, ahdrdinancial terms, (b) statements of p
and objectives of management, (c) statements ofduwconomic performance, and (d) statements ohg#tsons, such as economic conditi
underlying other statements. Such forward-lookimigrimation may be identified by the use of forwéwdking terminology such as "believe
"expects," "may," "should," "anticipates," the ntdga of any of the foregoing or variations of suelms or comparable terminology, or
discussion of strategy. No assurance may be givanthe future results described by the forwlamking information will be achieved. St
statements are subject to risks, uncertainties pimet factors, which could cause actual resulgiffer materially from future results expres
or implied by such forward-looking information. Sustatements in this Annual Report on FormKl@aclude, without limitation, thos
contained in Item 1. Business, Iltem 7. Managemdbitgussion and Analysis of Financial Condition d@Rdsults of Operations, Item
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data inofyidivithout limitation, the Notes To Consolidatethdncial Statements, and Item
Executive Compensation. Important factors that@@aluse the actual results to differ materiallyrfrinose in these forwaldoking statemen
include, among other items:

e the Corporation's successful execution of intepgaformance plans;

e performance issues with key suppliers, subcontracémd business partners;

o the ability to negotiate financing arrangementfvénders;

e legal proceedings;

e changes in the need for additional machinery andpeaent and/or in the cost for the expansion ofGoeporation's operations;
o ability of outside third parties to comply with theommitments;

e product demand and market acceptance risks;

o the effect of economic conditions;

e the impact of competitive products and pricing;

e product development, commercialization, and teatwiohl difficulties;

e social and economic conditions and local regulatiorthe countries in which the Corporation condutst businesses;
e unanticipated environmental remediation expensetims;

e capacity and supply constraints or difficulties;

e an inability to perform customer contracts at dptited cost levels;

e changing priorities or reductions in the U.S. Goweent defense budget;

e contract continuation and future contract awards;

e U.S. and international military budget constraisms determinations;

e the factors discussed under the caption “Risk Fatin Item 1A below;

e and other factors that generally affect the busiméLompanies operating in the Corporation's ntar&aed/or industries.

The Corporation assumes no obligation to updatedmtooking statements to reflect actual results omgea in or additions to the fact
affecting such forward-looking statements.
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BUSINESS DESCRIPTION

The Corporation manages and evaluates its opesaltiased on the products and services it offerdtendifferent markets it serves. Baset
this approach, the Corporation has three reportsddenents: Flow Control, Motion Control, and Méelatatment. The Flow Control segm
primarily designs, manufactures, distributes, aadiises a broad range of highly engineered ftmmirol products used in severe ser
defense and commercial markets including power igdioa, oil and gas, and general industrial. TheitfoControl segment primarily desig
develops, and manufactures higéformance mechanical systems, drive systems, égeblecomputing solutions, and electronic controid
sensors for the defense, aerospace, and geneustriiadl markets. Metal Treatment provides a var@tynetallurgical services, principally sl
peening, laser peening, heat treating, and spgaiakitings, for various markets, including militeapd commercial aerospace, automo
construction equipment, oil and gas, power germratind general industrial.

Flow Control

CurtissWright Flow Control specializes in the design ananefacture of highly engineered valves, pumps, msotgenerators, electronics, i
related products for the commercial nuclear powdustry, oil and gas processing facilities, andrage of critical national defense progre
Flow control products are mainly used by the U.8vW nuclear power plants, the oil and gas industnd other commercial applicatic
While our markets are defined by advanced techryotogl significant engineering expertise, competitiespecially in the U.S. governments’
market, is increasingly impacted by price conceimd geopolitical events, such as the war on temarirhe ability to provide quality produ
with excellent performance coupled with our resgots downward pricing pressure have become integraheeting customer dema
Government sales, primarily to the U.S. Navy asilacentractor, comprised 43%, 48%, and 50% of segisedas in 2006, 2005, and 2C
respectively.

The Flow Control segment is made up of 19 compatiias are organized and managed through four dpgrdivisions: Valve Systen
Commercial Power and Services, Electromechanicstie®ys, and Controls Systems.

The Valve Systems division produces high perforreaspecialized valve solutions for the defense,grayeneration, oil and gas process
and industrial markets as well as providing engiimeg testing, repair, and consulting services tigftmut the world. The Valve Syste
division offers a diverse line of products and gz that control the flow of liquids and gases pralide safety relief in high-pressure, severe-
service applications. Because of the critical ratfrthese applications, our products are highlyireered to meet stringent performance
reliability requirements. These products and sewitclude customized critical valve componentstfa@ defense industry, a unique
revolutionary coker unheading device, boltlesseshdlves, fluidic catalytic cracking unit (FCCU)uiges, and welenabled software for t
management of pressure relief systems. Revenuesddrom the sales of valves during 2006, 200% 2004 represented 18%, 16%,
14%, respectively, of the Corporatisrntonsolidated revenue. This division operateditiasi in the U.S., Canada, and the U.K. To enhana
global competitiveness, we have made a small imvest in Korea and Russia and plan to establishraufaaturing facility in China in the ne
future.

This division’s sales to the U.S. Government, primarily the Bl&vy, include valves that are installed on everglear submarine and airct
carrier commissioned by the U.S. Navy. It also ently supplies all the relief valves utilized byetNavy’s nuclear propulsion systems. |
programs include the Virginia class submarine al@@ircraft carriers. Other programs include vasdlavy submarine classes, such as
Angeles and Trident, as well as the Nimitz airccaftriers. Additional growth in this sector has meenerated through development progi
for aircraft launch and arrest systems and noclear control valves for aircraft carriers andl balves for submarines. Valve Syste
continues to leverage its lorgganding relationship and proven engineering eigeemvith the U.S. Navy to identify new opporturstiéor
additional products on all of its platforms.
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The Valve Systems division also provides produetstlie commercial markets, mainly nuclear power Valve Systems Group provides
valves to owners and operators of commercial patigties who use them in new and existing nuclead fossil fuel power plants. Recenr
the product line has been enhanced to includetimsntation accessories for air operated valves.diision expects a resurgence of den
for commercial nuclear power both in the U.S. ahbad and is positioning itself to participate li new construction for both domestic
international nuclear power plants. In recent yealtsnewly built nuclear power plants have beetsiie the U.S., and segment sales for
plants have been mainly to South Korea and Taiwarthe nuclear market picks up momentum, we exipeceased competition in the marl
However, we believe our long standing reputatianoregy customer relationships, and proven technebghould provide us with gc
opportunities.

Within the petroleum, petrochemical, chemical, aidand gas processing markets, the Valve Systeivisi@h designs, engineers, ¢
manufactures spring-loaded and pilot operated preslief valves as well as metgated industrial gate, butterfly, boltless sligdeg, angle
diverter, and ball valves used in standard and raba applications including high-cycle, highessure, extreme temperature, and corr
plant environments. Included in this portfolio abgucts is the recent commercialization of the &@ltard™ cokelrum unheading devic
which represents a significant advancement in abkea unheading technology. This patented technolsgsemotely operated, therefi
inherently safe, easy to operate, reliable, cofctfe, and can be configured for any cakem application. There are patents for
DeltaGuard cokelrum which are significant to the sales of thisdutt as they require new entrants to develop netntdogical approaches
order to enter the market. The division also presidnspection, installation, repair and maintenaraocel other field services for ha
environment flow control systems.

Enhancing our oil and gas market position, thigsitm recently purchased Enpro Systems in April@88d subsequently integrated it witt
existing business, Tapco International, creatingcdb&npro International. The acquisition expandedposaduct portfolio to include enginee
pressure vessels, FCCUs, ethylene cracking praxessjuipment, and related field services. Tapco&hmiernational offers customesigne
valves and complementary components that operanelirstrial process applications including fluidsidual, and millisecond catalytic crack
units as well as power generation, steel manufactand ore reduction. TapcoEnpro International atsmufactures, repairs, and modi
orifice chambers, hydrotreaters, and American $pod Mechanical Engineers (ASME) code pressureseiss In addition, TapcoEng
International can provide a wide array of fieldvwegs, including equipment repair, modificationreplacement, inspection of valves, conti
pipes and refractory linings, maintenance planrang scheduling for valves or control systems, digfin assistance with troubleshoo
problems in critical components, and on-site systaining.

General industry products within the Valve Systativésion include hydraulic power units and compaseprimarily for the automotive a
entertainment industries, specialty hydraulic andymatic valves, aidriven pumps, gas boosters, and directional comtrlbles used in vario
industrial applications, including truck transm@siand car transport carriers.

The Commercial Power and Services division desigrejufactures, distributes, and qualifies flow coinproducts for nuclear power plat
hydroelectric energy producers, the Departmentn&fr§y (DOE), and the Department of Defense. Thissidin offers a wide range of fasten
fastening systems, specialized containment dodricl hatches, electrical units, bolting solutipmeachined products, consulting,
enterprise resource planning for the nuclear poweraddition, this division provides distributiomd servicing of original equipme
manufacturers (OEM) spare parts and valve compsnénatining, onsite services, staff augmentation, and enginegsiograms relating
nuclear power plants, as well as diamond wire iggtiervices used to create large, thick cuts frontiete structures.

During the last decade, numerous competitors haitedethis market due the stringent qualificatieguirements. Our operations h
maintained all of the regulatory certifications wggd to provide and /or qualify value-added repréations and certification of nuclegrade
products and are well positioned to benefit frosoenmercial nuclear power renaissance both domdgtanad internationally. The key will |
to remain competitive and continue to offer excdllperformance and quality products. This divistwes locations in Brea, Californ
Middleburgh, Ohio and Cincinnati, Ohio.
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The Electro-Mechanical Systems division producesaded electranechanical solutions for the U.S. Navy, commerniatiear power, ar
the oil and gas processing markets. The divisigigihs and manufactures advanced pumps, motorstajers propulsors, mechanicals s¢
control rod drive mechanisms, and power conditignétectronics. This division develops, designs, ufactures, and performs qualificat
testing of critical-function, electrdynamic solutions for their main customer, the UN8clear Navy, including reactor and main coolamnps
other criticalfunction pumps, various advanced motors, generasasondary propulsion systems, and design engmgeservices. Specil
applications include the Los Angeles, Virginia,diemt, Ohio, and Seawolf class submarines, and ¢ &rcraft carrier.

In addition, the segment provides ship service ggnes and secondary propulsion systems to thenocfear U.S. Navy, including t
Destroyer program. The division is strengthenirgyriglationship with the Navy by participating iretldesign and development of mi
subsystems for the Navy's Electkdechanical Aircraft Launch System (EMALS) as wel the Advanced Arresting Gear (AAG)
installation in its aircraft carrier fleet. ThisviBion expanded its offerings to the military towninclude advanced electromagnetic pro
development to the U.S. Army as pulsed power supphtinues to advance in the military weapons segme

The Electro-Mechanical System@oducts are also sold to complementary commenagakets, primarily nuclear power generation anchot
gas. We provide reactor coolant pumps, advancedm)atontrol rod drive mechanisms to the nucleavgsanarkets. In the oil and gas mar
we are partnering with industry leaders to devedolpanced systems for exploration and productionredti programs encompass sul
pumping and powedense motors for compact, integrated compressistess. This division has also expanded its offeritm includ:
hazardous waste pumps to the DOE.

The commercial nuclear power markets and the algas processing industries are experiencing gricioreases of materials due to incrt
in the demand. The increase in the pricing of tlagemals as well as pricing concerns and the efféthe war remain key competitive fact
As a renaissance is expected both domesticallyratite increasing market overseas, the key wilidoeemain competitive and continue to o
excellent performance and quality products. Thigsibn has locations in Cheswick, Pennsylvania, Rhillipsburg, New Jersey.

The Controls Systems division develops, manufastuests, and services specialized electronicumstntation and control equipment, wt
includes instrumentation for primary and secondamytrols, steam generator control equipment, vabtaators, and valve and heater cont
This division provides custom designed and comraegfi-theshelf (COTS) electronic circuit boards and systémnthe U.S. Nuclear Nav
Sales to the U.S. Navy are made by respondingttirex requests for proposals from customers. Tikesion also designs and manufactt
advanced valve controllers and predictive mainteaaystems for the oil and gas and industrial narke

The Controls Systems divisi®’'products also include plant instrumentation, primand secondary controls, steam generator ¢
equipment, valve actuators, valve and heater clentcalorimetric instrumentation, generic digitadreal processor cards, digital and num
readout meters, response time test instrumentatactor plant control equipment, and COTS powpbuunits. The division also provic
engineering and support services which include eltd@ system design, shipboard automation and vetgorking, microprocessor, Fit
Programmable Gate Array (FPGA), and analog desiggtem integration, software design and qualifacgtand factory acceptance testing.
division encounters strong competition in the Nangclear market from a limited number of competitdrhis division is located in Ee
Farmingdale, New York.

This division acquired Techswan, Inc., which conddcbusiness as Swantech, in September 2006 tonemlits portfolio of advanc
electronics for the oil and gas and general indalgtrarkets. Swantech has patented a unique teapynalalled Stress Wave Analysis (SW/
that provides vibration and oil/lubrication anatysiolutions. SWAN has shown to be an effective -ineasive method to identify early ste
mechanical damage and equipment setup issuesasualbalance and alignment, far sooner than trsiegitechnologies. SWAN is an or
of magnitude more sensitive than the presenthailest technologies and provides the only continubessurement of machine condition.
technology acquired in the purchase will enhanagesaisting product line.
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The following list defines our principle productsdathe markets served by the Flow Control segment.

Naval Defense

. Nuclear propulsion system component
Valves (butterfly, globe, gate, control, safetyliafe solenoid, hydraulic operated gate)
Pumps
Motors & generators
Instrumentation and controls

. Non-nuclear products
Smart leakless valves
Aircraft shuttle components
Sub-safe ball valves
Jet-fuel pumping valves
Steam generator control equipment
Air driven fluid pumps
Engineering, inspection and testing services

. Aircraft carrier launch and retrieval equipment
Advanced electromagnetic systems
. Instrumentation and control systems
Ground Defense
. Electromagnetic gun pulsed power supply systel
Oil & Gas Processing
. Critical Process Valves

DeltaGuard coker valve

Boltless slide valves

Butterfly and triple offset butterfly valves
Pilot operated relief valves

Pressure relief valves

Safety valves

Solenoid, gate and globe valves

Steam valves

. Fluid catalytic cracking devices

. Process Vessel
Cat cracker reactors and regenerators
Hydrotreators
Air grids and cyclones

. Advanced Valve Controls and Prognostics Technolog

Digital valve controller with redundant technology
Signature recognition for fault and leak detection

. Web-enabled process control softwar:
Nuclear Power Generation
. Pumps
Reactor coolant and process
. Advanced motors and generator:
. Control rod drive mechanisms
. Valves
Solenoid, ball, butterfly, check, pressure relgaffety and pilot operated relief valves, gate &bglo
. Design, fabrication of nuclear facility airlocks, dors, hatches
. Instrumentation
. Diagnostic and test equipmen
. Fluid sealing technologie:
. Actuators
Pneumatic and hydraulic
. Plate heat exchanger
. Separation technologie:
. Fasteners
. Advanced bolting technologie:

. Diamond wire concrete cutting



Engineering services
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. Equipment qualification, commercial grade dedicatim

. Inventory management system:
General Industrial
. Valves

Directional control and pneumatic
Critical machinery fault detection and prognosticssystems

The Flow Control segment experiences strong comipetfrom a large number of domestic and foreignrees. Competition occurs on
basis of technical expertise, price, delivery, cactual terms, previous installation history, apgutation for quality. Delivery speed and
proximity of service centers are important with pest to aftermarket products. Sales to commeraial esers are accomplished b
combination of direct sales employees and manufaxturepresentatives located in the segnseptimary market areas. This represent:
provides sales coverage of nuclear power utilitgcipal boiler and reactor builders, architeatuengineers, and hydrocarbon proces
industry and chemical processing industry plantsldvade. For its military contracts, the segmenteiges requests for quotes from pr
contractors as a result of being an approved seipfar naval propulsion system pumps and valvelesSengineers support nowniclear sale
activities. The segment uses the direct distribubasis for military and commercial valves and eiged spare parts. In addition, the s
associated with the power plants follow the cy@ssociated with the power outages that are moralemet in the spring and fall and ainua
plant updates.

Backlog for this segment at December 31, 2006, %4&<.9 million, of which 22% will be shipped aftame year, compared with $429.3 mill
at December 31, 2005. Additionally, 38% of thisreegt's backlog as of December 31, 2006 is compo$edders with the U.S. Navy throu
its prime contractor, Bechtel Group, Inc. Salestlig segment to Bechtel accounted for 21%, 24%,38% of total segment sales in 2(
2005, and 2004, respectively, or 9%, 10%, and 13%e Corporation’s consolidated revenue. Additibnasales to one of the segment’
commercial customers represented approximately B3%0,and 9% of total segment sales in 2006, 2008,2004, respectively. The loss
these customers would have a material adverset effethe business of this segment and the Corporalone of the business of this segr
is seasonal. Raw materials are generally availatdelequate quantities.

Motion Control

Curtiss-Wright's Motion Control segment designsyeleps, manufactures, and maintains sophisticéiigti;performance mechanical actua
and drive systems, missiamitical electronic component and control systears] sensors for the aerospace, defense, and iiadlestaipmer
markets. This segment consists of 14 business thatsare organized and managed as three corediegyngroups: Engineered Syste
Integrated Sensing, and Embedded Computing.

Our Engineered Systems division’s product offeribgshe aerospace industry consist of electro-m@chbhand hydranechanical actuatis
control components and systems that are designgdsition aircraft control surfaces or to operaaapies, cargo doors, weapons bay doo
other devices used on aircraft. Aircraft applicasionclude actuators and electronic control systantssensors for the Boeing 737, 747,
767, 777, Airbus A320, A330, A340, and future Ba@e#t87 civil air transports, the Lockheed Martin &Halcon fighter jet, the Boeing F/A8
Hornet fighter jet, the F-22 Raptor fighter jetetBell Boeing V22 Osprey, and the Sikorsky Black Hawk and Seahhelicopters. Th
Engineered Systems division is also developindhflicontrol actuators for the engineering and mastufing development phase of Lockh
Martin's F-35 Joint Strike Fighter (JSF) prograrhe TISF is the nexgeneration fighter aircraft being designed for bgeall three branches
the U.S. military as well as by several foreign @mments. The division also provides electric mmtocontrollers, and smal
electromechanical actuation subsystems for flighgine, and environmental control applications arious commercial transports, regic
aircraft, business aircraft, military aircraft, asghcecraft.

As a related service within the Engineered Systdivision, we also provide commercial airlines, théitary, and general aviation custom
with component overhaul and repair services. Trsesgices include the overhaul and repair of hydeaydneumatic, mechanical, electro-
mechanical, and electronic components, aircratsgarurcing, and component exchange servicesviddearray of aircraft.
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In addition, Engineered Systems designs, manufestuand distributes electro-mechanical and eldgtdraulic actuation components
systems, electronic controls for military trackettdavheeled vehicles and, higpeed tilting trains, and commercial markets utitizdrive
technology. These products consist of turret aimang stabilization, weapons handling systems, sisspe systems for armored milit:
vehicles sold to foreign defense equipment manufacs, tilting systems for higbpeed train applications, fuel control valves fargk
commercial transport ships, and a variety of conziaéservo valves.

Through its marine defense unit, the Engineerede8ys division designs and manufactures electechanical systems for landing helicop
aboard naval vessels. The shipboard helicopterlimgnslystems are used by the U.S. Navy, U.S. CBastrd, and more than ten other na
around the world. The division also designs anddsuihe elements of the sh#paircraft storage structures, including telescdwingars ar
hangar doors. Specialized handling systems arédgedvor towing sonar and mine sweep systems fomsuines and surface ships.

Engineered Systems products are sold primarilyuginoboth a domestic and international sales folweaddition, we have a marketi
distribution facility in Singapore. A direct saléwrce is utilized with assistance from commissioregnts. Sales to Japan are made thi
Mitsubishi Trading Corporation, and certain sateshie U.S. Navy are made through the Canadian Coomh€orporation. All other sales i
made directly to OEM’s, airlines, and governmerdrages as well as to aircraft and ship buildersiradahe world.

Our Engineered Systems products are sold in cotigretivith a number of other suppliers, some of whbave broader product lines
greater financial, technical, and human resourtks.competitive environment for these producto@ised on a short list of companies,
recent strategic trends at the prime contractoellegsulting in a smaller market of vertically igtated suppliers, while prime contrac
specialize in integration and final assembly. Rrieehnical capability, performance, service, angetall value’are the primary forces
competition with an ability to offer solutions tengform control and actuation functions on a limitedmber of new production programs.
overhaul and repair services are sold in compatitidh a number of other overhaul and repair prexsdwith a focus on quality, delivery, ¢
price. The division provides these services froailitees in Gastonia and Shelby, North Carolinaakii, Florida, and Stratford, Ontario.

Our Integrated Sensing division develops and marurfas a range of sensors, controllers, and eldctrcontrol units for military ar
commercial aerospace and industrial markets. Thes#ucts include position, pressure, and tempegatensors, solenoids and solenoid va
smoke detection sensors, torque sensing, ice deteahd protection equipment, air data computdightf data recorders, joysticks, ¢
electronic signal conditioning and control equipmé&kie sell this divisiors products primarily to prime contractors and systetegrators, bo
directly and through a network of independent sadgsesentatives on a worldwide basis. Positios@snare used on primary flight con
systems and engine controls on Airbus and Boeirwédi, regional and business aircraft, and on marg. and European military aircraft. .
data, flight recorder, and ice protection equiprestsupplied to many helicopter applications. \lge aell our products for use in a wide ra
of industrial applications such as off-highway \&é$, powered wheelchairs, process control, andmspbrt.

Competition within the Integrated Sensing divisi@specially in the aerospace market, is increagibging driven by price concerns. ~
ability to service the customer with superior periance and quality is expected of all vendors,dmwtnward pricing pressure is emerging
key discriminator. Integrated Sensing productsnaaeketed through facilities in the United KingdoBgrmany, and the United States.

Our Embedded Computing division designs, develapd, manufactures embedded computing béardl modules and integrated subsysit
primarily for the aerospace and ground defense etsrkUsing standard, commercially available elett® technologies, coupled w
application domain specific knowledge, this divisioffers hardware and software modules based on opRistry standards, referred tc
COTS. Our integrated subsystems include both irs@cand third party modules as well as custom maedoésed on itrouse intellectu
property content. We also offer a supporting aohgervices that include: lifeycle management, technical support, training, declopmer
of custom module variants based on COTS modules. Ebobedded Computing division is considered onehef embedded computi
industry’s most comprehensive and experienced single sdargerocessing, data communications, digital sigmalcessing, and video &
graphics computing solutions. Our COTS modules iatefrated subsystems are designed to performbhelia rugged conditions, such
extreme temperatures, terrain and/or speed whalitrim high shock and vibration, as well as conuiarenvironments for use in laborat
and benign environment applications.
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Embedded Computing’s subsystem products are useadaiitle variety of missiowritical military applications, including fire comt, aiming
and stabilization, munitions loading, and environtaé processors for military ground vehicles. Thpemducts are used on demanding col
platforms such as the Bradley fighting vehicle, itmams M1A2/A3 tank, and the Brigade Combat Teaterim Armored Vehicle, which
part of the U.S. Armys modernization and transformation efforts. Thidsibn also provides the mission management, flagintrol computer
and the sensor management units for advanced aeegpatforms including the U.S. Air Force Globawk, which is a highaltitude an
high-endurance unmanned aerial vehicle.

Embedded Computing’s modules are used in hundreastive programs today, including leadiedge military platforms such as the Impro
Bradley Acquisition System and the Improved Tow Aisifion System. The modules feature high perforteachips on open architectures.
division has taken a leadership position in thdtihgand definition of the newest embedded statislavhich are designed to address the
demanding performance and bandwidth requiremen& arging applications. Embedded Computing is itts¢ émbedded computing ven
to announce forthcoming boards and systems basélese new architectures. Embedded Computing isasmitted to supply technolc
for some of the most advanced future military glatfs including the F-22, JSF, and Future Combate®ys

This division’s products are manufactured at its operationséddciat North America and the United Kingdom. Ourdurcts are sold primari
to prime contractors and subsystem suppliers Idcatenarily in the United States, United KingdomdaCanada, both directly and throug
network of independent sales representatives.denteyears, competition in the embedded electrsystems market has migrated away 1
traditional board competitors toward subsystem apstem providers selling to prime and sectied-defense and aerospace compa
Competition in this market is based on qualityesfiinology, price, and delivery times.

The following list defines our principle productsdathe markets served by the Motion Control segment

Commercial Aerospace
. Commercial Jet Transports
Secondary flight control actuation systems andtedetechanical trim actuators
Aircraft cargo door and utility actuation systems
Fire detection and suppression control systems
Position sensors
Solenoids and solenoid valves

. Business/Regional Jet

Throttle quadrants
. Helicopters

Rotor Ice Protection Systems
. Repair & Overhaul Services

Component overhaul and logistics support services
Military Aerospace

. Transport and fighter aircraft
Weapons bay door actuation systems
Secondary flight control actuation
Rotary actuation for environmental control systems
Weapons handling systems
. Helicopters
Radar warning systems
Acoustic processing systems
Flight data recorders
Air data computers
. Unmanned aerial vehicles
Integrated mission management and flight contrataters
Weapons handling systems

Page 11

Ground Defense
. Tanks and light armored vehicles
Digital electromechanical aiming and stabilizatgystems
Fire control, sight head, and environmental controkcessors
Single Board Computers for target acquisition syste
Hydropneumatic suspension systems



Ammunition handling systems
Marine Defense

. Surface ships
Helicopter handling and traverse systems
Tie-down components

. Marine Propulsion
Marine engine diesel valve injection systems
. Submarines

Cable handling systems for towed arrays
Other Military & Government

. High performance data communication products
Power conversion products

. Space programs
Control electronics and sensors

. Security systems
Perimeter intrusion detection equipment

. FAA

Airport surface detection equipment radar videapssing
General Industrial Markets
. Automated industrial equipment
Air, sea, and ground simulation
Fractional horse power (HP) specialty motors
Force transducers
Joysticks
Sensors
. High speed trains
Electromechanical tilting systems for high-speaihts

Sales by Motion Control to its largest customer2B06, 2005, and 2004 accounted for 10% of Motiomtd revenue and 4% of ¢
consolidated revenue for each year. The loss efdhstomer would have a material adverse effedflotion Control. Direct and end use s:
of this segment to government agencies, primafiy U.S. Government, in 2006, 2005, and 2004, adedufor 63%, 64%, and 62
respectively, of total Motion Control sales. Altlgtuthe loss of this business would also have anmbtdverse affect on Motion Control,
single prime contractor to the U.S. Government kictv we are a subcontractor provided greater tio# &f Motion Control revenue duri
any of the last three years.

Backlog for our Motion Control segment at DecemBg&y 2006, was $438.6 million, of which 33% is expecto be shipped after one y
compared with $374.5 million at December 31, 2006ne of the businesses of our Motion Control segneiseasonal. Raw materials
generally available in adequate quantities fromuenlmer of suppliers. However, we utilize sole sousuepliers in this segment. Thus,
failure and/or inability of a sole source supplier provide product to Motion Control could have adverse impact on our financ
performance. While alternatives could be identified replace a sole source supplier, a transitionldcaesult in increased costs i
manufacturing delays.

Metal Treatment

Curtiss-Wrights Metal Treatment segment provides various metftlal processes that are used principally to imertve service lifi
strength, and durability of highly stressed, califunction metal parts. Metal Treatment provides ¢hesrvices to a broad spectrun
customers in various industries, including aerospaatomotive, construction equipment, oil and gas, metal working.
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This segment consists of several business unitsatieaorganized into three principal services thatsegment offers which include peen
specialty coatings, and heat treating.

Shot peening is a process by which the durabifityetal parts is enhanced by the bombardment opaines surface with spherical media, s
as steel shot or ceramic or glass beads, to cosfireuter layer of the metal. In addition, shexpforming enables metal panels to be st
with aerodynamic curvatures that are assembledirg skins of commercial and military aircraft. Reve of shot peening services in 2(
2005, and 2004 accounted for 10%, 10%, and 12%eotisely, of our consolidated revenues. Speciatigtings primarily consist of t
application of solid film lubricant coatings, whielne designed to enhance the performance of matgbanents used in higitress applicatiol
for a broad range of industries. We apply our camiby air spray or by a dipping and spinning pseder bulk applications. Heat treating
metallurgical process of subjecting metal objeotfi¢at and/or cold or otherwise treating the malteéa change the physical and/or chen
characteristics or properties of the material.dditon to shot peening, heat treating, and spc@datings, other metal treatment services
are provided on a job shop basis include shot faening, laser peening, wet finishing, chemicallmg, and feed valve manufacturing.

Working in conjunction with Lawrence Livermore Naial Laboratory, Metal Treatment has developeddwataced metal surface treatn
process utilizing laser technology. The laser pagiprocess is being used in production to exteadifi of critical turbine engine componel
Future applications include additional turbine elgtomponents as well as other high value, extssmdce components in aircraft structu
oil and gas, medical implant, and marine applicetioLaser peening also shows potential to augmentsegmeng wing skin formin
capabilities, allowing for placement of more exteemerodynamic curvatures of wing skins of gredtekhess. We operate a laser pee
facility in the United States and another in thdteth Kingdom. We currently have seven operationakts and are in the process of buil
two additional lasers, with mobile capability. Wetain the exclusive worldwide rights to the intelleal property necessary for the use of
laser architecture on laser peening of commergciadiycts. Currently, the patents associated witHabker peening technology are not mat
to our operations. However, we believe that thiht@logy has significant potential and, thus, thesents may become material to our fu
operations.

In May, 2006 we acquired, two coating applicatiaqilities of Diversified Coatings, Inc. (Alleghenydcated in Fremont, Indiana and Inger:
Ontario. These additions provided an entry into@mario, Canada coatings market and increasesetpments number of coating facilities
ten. During 2004, we increased Metal Treatmentatings capabilities with the acquisitions désted assets of Evesham and Everlube, lo
in Evesham, United Kingdom and Peachtree City, Gaprespectively. These acquisitions provided ranyento the European coatings ma
and added the capability to manufacture our owR bahtings.

The following list defines our principle productsdathe markets served by the Metal Treatment segmen

Commercial, Business/Regional Jel

. Shot peen forming
Wing skins
. Shot peening

Aircraft structural componen
Landing gear componer
Turbine engine rotating compone!

. Laser peening
Turbine engine rotating compone!
. Coatings
Fastener:
Sliding component
. Heat Treating
Aluminum structural componen
Automotive
. Shot Peening
Engine and transmission compone
. Heat Treating
Miscellaneous engine, transmission and structuadponent:
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. Coatings

Fastener:
Brake and suspension compone

Sliding component
General Industrial

. Shot Peening



Highly stressed metal components susceptible igpua
Welded components subject to distort
Architectural structure

. Heat Treating

Miscellaneous aluminum and steel compon
. Coatings

Fastener:

Miscellaneous components subject to corrosion hdithg wear

Through a combination of acquisitions and new ptgrgnings, we continue to increase Metal Treatrsergtwork of regional facilities. Me
Treatment operations are now conducted from 59itiasi located in the United States, Canada, UnKedydom, France, Germany, Swec
Belgium, and Italy, with new facilities in Spainw8den, and France scheduled to open in the se@hdfl2007. Our Metal Treatment servi
are marketed directly by our employees. Althougmearous companies compete in this field and maniomesrs have the resources to per
such services themselves, we believe that our teghknowledge and quality of workmanship provideoanpetitive advantage. We compet
this segment on the basis of quality, service, @ice.

The business of this segment is not seasonal. Raerials are generally available in adequate gtiesifrom a number of suppliers, and we
not materially dependent upon any single sourceugply in this segment. We have no significant wagkcapital requirements outside
normal industry accounts receivable and inventamdver. Our largest customer in this segment atealufor 9%, 10%, and 8% of Me
Treatment sales during 2006, 2005, and 2004, résplc Although the active customer base is inesecof 5,000, the loss of this custo
would have a material adverse effect on our Metahiment segment.

The backlog of Metal Treatment as of December 8062 was $2.1 million, all of which is expectedh®e recognized in the first quarter
2007, compared with $1.9 million as of December Z105. Due to the nature of our metal treatmentices, we operate with a very limit
backlog of orders and services that are providédarily on newly manufactured parts. Thus, the baglof this segment is not indicative
our future sales, and as a result, this segreesatfes and profitability are closely aligned wg#neral industrial economic conditions anc
particular, the commercial aerospace market.

OTHER INFORMATION

Certain Financial Information

For information regarding sales by geographic negsze Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Stat¢sncontained in Part I, Item 8, of 1
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

In 2006, 2005, and 2004, our foreign operationegeted 37%, 35%, and 33%, respectively, of ounaxesarnings. We do not regard the r
associated with these foreign operations to be niafljegreater than those applicable to our U.Sibesses.

Government Sales

Our direct sales to the U.S. Government and salet)fS. Government and foreign government end epeesented 45%, 48%, and 479
consolidated revenue during 2006, 2005, and 20fgpectively. U.S. Government sales, both direct iad@tect, are generally made un
standard types of government contracts, includixepfprice and fixed price-redeterminable.

In accordance with normal practice in the case &.Government business, contracts and ordersujecs to partial or complete terminat
at any time, at the option of the customer. Inékent of a termination for convenience by the goreent, there generally are provisions
recovery by us of our allowable incurred costs armtoportionate share of the profit or fee on tleekncompleted, consistent with regulati
of the U.S.
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Government. Fixegwice redeterminable contracts, generally on ngrabrams, usually provide that we absorb the migjaf any cos
overrun. In the event that there is a cost undethecustomer recoups a portion of the underrsedbaipon a formula in which tloestomer'
portion increases as the underrun exceeds cegtiblished levels.

Generally, longerm contracts with the U.S. Government requirdougivest in and carry significant levels of invanéble costs. Howeve
where allowable, we utilize progress payments aerointerim billing practices on nearly all of #eecontracts, thus reducing the ow
working capital requirements. It is our policy ek customary progress payments on certain of @uiracts. Where we obtain such paym
under U.S. Government prime contracts or subcotstréfite U.S. Government has either title to orause interest in the materials and wor
process allocable or chargeable to the respectimgacts. (See Notes 1.F, 3, and 4 to the Condetidéinancial Statements, contained in
II, Item 8, of this Annual Report on Form X0)- In the case of most motion control and flow tohproducts for U.S. Government end use
contracts typically provide for the retention byethustomer of stipulated percentages of the cdanpce, pending completion of contr
closeout conditions.

Patents

We own and are licensed under a number of UnitateStand foreign patents and patent applicatiohsshahave been obtained or filed ow
period of years. We also license intellectual propt and from third parties. Specifically, theSJ Government has licenses in our patent:
are developed in performance of government corgractd it may use or authorize others to use theniions covered by such patents
government purposes. Additionally, unpatented mesealevelopment, and engineering skills, some litwvhave been acquired by us thrc
business acquisitions, make an important contdoutd our business. While our intellectual propeitgyts in the aggregate are important tc
operation of our business, we do not consider tleeessful conduct of our business or business sagn® be materially dependent upon
protection of any one of the patents, patent apptios, or patent license agreements under whichomeoperate.

Research and Development

We conduct research and development activities nogitomersponsored contracts, shared development conti@uodspur own independe
research and development activities. Custospemnsored research and development costs are diargests of goods sold when the assoc
revenue has been recognized, funds received uhdezddevelopment contracts are a reduction ofotiaé development expenditures undel
shared contract and are shown net as researcheaetbgment costs, while corporatispensored research and development costs are d
to expense when incurred. Customsponsored research and development activity amduat§35.7 million, $28.3 million, and $26.5 milfi
in 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively, and wemibated to customers within our Flow Control andtdo Control segments. Research
development expenses incurred by the Corporatiasuated to $38.8 million in 2006 as compared witB.$3nillion in 2005 and $33.8 millic
in 2004.

Environmental Protection

We are subject to federal, state, local, and forédgvs, regulations, and ordinances that goveriviies or operations that may have adv
environmental effects, such as discharges to alrveater. These laws, regulations, and ordinances ate apply to handling and dispc
practices for solid and hazardous waste and impabgity for the costs of cleaning up and for @nt damages resulting from sites of |
spills, disposals, or other releases of hazardobstances.

At various times, we have been identified as a ri@hy responsible party pursuant to the Comprehen Environmental Respon
Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980 (CERCLAphdaanalogous state environmental laws, for thenclpaof contamination resulting frc
past disposals of hazardous wastes at certainteitehich we, among others, sent wastes in the G&RCLA requires potentially responsi
persons to pay for cleanup of sites from whichdhegis been a release or threatened release ofibagasubstances. Courts have interp
CERCLA to impose strict joint and several liabiliy all persons liable for cleanup costs. As atpracmatter, however, at sites where tl
are multiple potentially responsible persons, tostg of cleanup typically are allocated among thgdigs according to a volumetric or ot
standard.

Information concerning our specific environmentalbilities is described in Notes 1.M and 13 to thensolidated Financial Stateme
contained in Part 11, Item 8, of this Annual RepontForm 10-K.
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Executive Officers

Martin R. Benante, age 54, has served as the Caaiohthe Board of Directors and Chief Executivdic@f of the Corporation since Ag
2000; President and Chief Operating Officer of @wrporation from April 1999 to April 2000; Vice Rident of the Corporation from Ag
1996 to April 1999; and President of Curtidsight Flow Control Corporation from March 1995 Agril 1999. He has been a Director of
Corporation since 1999.

B. Parker Miller 1ll, age 61, has served as SeNigoe President -Government Relations of the Corporation since R8G5 and was elected
officer of the Corporation in February 2006; Dimcbf Business and Strategic Development, Nortf@opmman from January 2005 to J
2005; Director of Business and Strategic Develogmenmanned Systems Group, Integrated Systems iSéaothrop Grumman from Ju
2003 to January 2005; Manager, Legislative AffaMerthrop Grumman from January 1997 to June 200Fdbruary 1994, after 25 years:
service Mr. Miller retired from the Marine Corpstivithe rank of Colonel.

Edward Bloom, age 65, has served as Vice Presafehe Corporation and President of Metal Improvetr@ompany, LLC since June 20
Executive Vice President of Metal Improvement Compdnc. from December 1995 to June 2002.

David J. Linton, age 51, has served as Vice Prasioiethe Corporation and President of Curiiggght Flow Control Corporation since M
2004; Vice President of Program Management, Raythéetwork Centric Systems from November 2003 toilAp@04; Chief Executiv
Officer, Cordiem, Inc. from April 2001 to March 2BD0Vice President and General Manager of Electyst&ns, Hamilton Sundstra
Corporation, June 1998 to April 2001.

David C. Adams, age 52, has served as Vice Praside¢he Corporation since November 2005, and Besdiof CurtissAright Controls sinc
June, 2005; Senior Vice President, Electronic Systef Curtisswright Controls from February 2004 to June 20050r Vice Presider
Integrated Sensing from April 2002 to February 200ite President, Business Development of Cuiiigght Controls, September 200C
April 2002; and Director, Business Development aftids-Wright Controls from March 2000 to Septemd@@0.

Glenn E. Tynan, age 48, has served as Vice Prasidétinance and Chief Financial Officer of the @aration since June 2002; Controlle
the Corporation from June 2000 to May 2002; Vicesitent and Corporate Controller of the Movado @rivam 1999 to 2000.

Michael J. Denton, age 51, has served as Vice d&essi Secretary and General Counsel of the Coiiparaince August 2001; Corpor
Counsel of Honeywell International, Inc. (formeAiliedSignal Inc.) from 1993 to 2001.

Kevin McClurg, age 43, has served as the CorpdZatatroller since September 2002; Assistant Comrdiom February 2002 to Septem
2002; Director of Accounting of Toys R Us, Inc. idainuary 2002; Director of International Repagtiof Random House from January 199
May 2001.

Harry Jakubowitz, age 54, has served as TreasfittiecCorporation since September 2005; Directof @tes of the Corporation from Ju
2002 to September 2005; Vice President, Taxes asaistant Secretary of General Semiconductor, Iramf1997 to 2002, and also
Treasurer from 2000 to 2002.

Employees

At the end of 2006 we had 6,233 employees, appratdlyn 12% of which are represented by labor unemm covered by collective bargain
agreements.

Available information

We file annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly mépmn Form 10-Q, current reports on FornK,8and proxy statements for our anr
shareholders’ meetings, as well as any amendmertteose reports, with the Securities and Exchangrmar@ission (“SEC”).The public ma
read and copy any of our materials filed with tHeCSat the SEC's Public Reference Room at 100 FetStRE, Washington, DC 20549. 1
public may obtain information on the operation lné Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at@-BBC0330. The SEC also mainta
an Internet site at www.sec.gov that contains msp@roxy and information statements, and otheorinftion regarding issuers that
electronically with the SEC, including our filingEhese reports are also available free of
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charge through our web site at www.curtisswrighhcs soon as reasonably practicable after we etéctily file that material with, or furni
it to, the SEC.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

You should carefully consider the risks describetbWw and other information in this Annual Report Borm 10K. Our business, financ
condition, and results of operations could be nitgrand adversely impacted if any of these rigkaterialize. Additional risk factors r
currently known to us or that we believe are immatalso may impair our business, financial coiodit and results of operations. The trau
price of our common stock may also decline as altre§these risks.

A substantial portion of our revenues and earniagiependent upon the continued willingness ofitfe. Government and our other custor
in the defense industry to buy our products andices.

In 2006, approximately 45% of our revenues werévddrfrom or related to defense programs, with apipnately 21% attributable to U
Navy procurements. The loss of a significant deggm®gram or customer could have a material adweffset on our operating results. Th
can be no assurance that our significant customidrsontinue to buy our products and serviceswatent or increased levels.

Our business with the U.S. Government and defens#ractors is subject to risks including: termioati reduction, or modification of c
contracts, subcontracts, and backlog in the evémhanges in the U.S. Government’s requirementending priorities, or defengelate«
budgets; when we are a subcontractor, the failuieability of the prime contractor to perform pgime contract; in some contracts the f
price per unit may be deferred; adjustment of @mtcosts and fees as a result of government atiditfrequent need to bid on program
advance of design completion that may result iroredeen technological difficulties and cost ovesrwour contracts are for varying fixed te
that may not be renewed or followed by follow-omtacts upon expiration; and cancellation of tHéo%e-on production phase of contract
program requirements are not met in the developiplease.

Reductions in defense industry spending may or nziyhave an adverse effect on programs for whiclpregide products and services. In
event expenditures are reduced for products we faatwie or services we provide and are not offsetdvenues from foreign sales, r
programs, or products or services that we currentiypufacture or provide, we may experience a rémudh our revenues and earnings a
material adverse effect on our business, finar@atlition, and results of operations.

Our operating results are subject to fluctuations.

Defense industry procurement involves seasonatiteeconomic cycles and as a result our annual aadeagly operating results may fluctui
It is possible that our operating results for atipalar quarter may not meet the expectations etises analysts or investors. Simila
securities analysts may issue reports downgradimgcommon stock. These events could cause the inprice of our common stock
decline.

Future terror attacks, war, or other events codigeesely impact our commercial aerospace and dthsinesses.

Despite our concerted effort to minimize risk tor quoduction capabilities and corporate informatsystems and to reduce the effec
unforeseen interruptions to us through businesdiragty planning, terrorist attacks, war, or oth&rents such as strikes by a signifit
customers workforce could adversely impact demand for aadpcts and could also cause disruption to outifi@si or systems which cot
also interrupt operational processes and adveisghact our ability to manufacture our products gdvide services and support to
customers. For example, the terrorist attacks pte®aber 11, 2001 and subsequent terrorist attackislwide caused decreased demand i
commercial aerospace market for our products antheercial overhaul and repair services. During 2@@roximately 18% of our busin
was related to commercial aerospace. The commeaeiaispace industry is cyclical and subject toofacbeyond our control. A number
commercial airline carriers have recently expenighlarge losses and filed for bankruptcy. Finandifficulties of our customers and decree
demand for new aircraft and continued use of exgstiircraft could adversely affect our operatinguits and financial position.
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The success of our growth strategy is dependemnt appability to complete acquisitions and integratquired businesses.

Our strategy includes growth through acquisitioAs. a result, our future growth depends in larget per our ability to implement o
acquisition strategy and successfully integrateusted businesses into our existing operations.dfase unable to identify suitable candids
negotiate appropriate acquisition terms, obtaiarfging, and successfully integrate acquired busegmto our existing operations, our fu
growth and operating results could be adverselyaoted.

We operate in highly competitive markets.

We compete against companies that often have gregts volumes and financial, research, humanraarlleting resources than we have.
management believes that the principal points ehpetition in our markets are product quality, pridesign and engineering capabilit
product development, conformity to customer speaifons, quality of postale support, timeliness of delivery, and effeatass of th
distribution organization. If we are unable to catg successfully with existing or new competitorstiese areas, our business, final
condition, and results of operations could be nitgrand adversely impacted.

Our future growth and continued success is depdng®Em our key personnel.

Our success is dependent upon the efforts of mibisenanagement personnel. The loss of membersiosenior management group cc
have a material and adverse effect on our busihessldition, competition for qualified technicadngonnel in our industries is intense, ant
believe that our future growth and success willeepupon our ability to attract, train, and retsuich personnel.

Our international operations are subject to risks wolatility in foreign currency exchange rates.

During 2006, approximately 25% of our consolidatedenue was from customers outside of the UnitateSt and we have operating facili
in foreign countries. Doing business in foreign minies is subject to numerous risks including: §icdi and economic instability, restrict
trade policies, and complying with foreign regutgt@nd tax requirements that are subject to chamgethe extent that foreign sales
transacted in foreign currencies and we do notrénte currency hedge transactions, we are exptsetsk of losses due to fluctuations
foreign currency exchange rates, particularly fer Canadian dollar, the euro, Swiss franc, andtitessh pound. Significant fluctuations in
value of the currencies of the countries in whighdwe business could have an adverse effect oresults of operations.

We may be unable to protect the value of our iat#llal property.

Our success depends in part on obtaining and enfpouir intellectual property rights and avoidimdringing on the intellectual property rig
of others. When others infringe our intellectuadperty rights, the value of our products is dinfieid, and we may incur substantial litiga
costs to enforce our rights. Similarly, we may insubstantial litigation costs and the obligationpay royalties if others claim we infring
their intellectual property rights. When we develafellectual property and technologies in conrattivith U.S. Government contracts,
government has the royalty-free right to use thmaperty.

Our business is subject to substantial regulation.

We are subject to numerous regulations includingnioti limited to those relating to federal govermteontracting and export compliance.
failure to comply with these and other laws codduit in contract termination and debarment, dim#és and damages, and criminal proseci
and penalties, any of which could have a matedakese effect on our business and operating results

We are subiject to liability under environmental $aw

Our business and facilities are subject to numefedsral, state, local, and foreign laws and regpra relating to the use, manufact
storage, handling, and disposal of hazardous nadgeaind other waste products. Environmental lameiggdly impose liability for investigatio
remediation, and removal of hazardous materialsodiner waste products on property owners and tivbsedispose of materials at waste ¢
whether or not the
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waste was disposed of legally at the time in qoastiVe have been named as a potentially resporsdotg along with other organizations i
number of environmental clearp sites and may be named in connection with fusites. We are required to contribute to the costihe
investigation and remediation and to take reseirvesir financial statements for future costs deemprethable and estimable. Although we
estimated and reserved for future environmentaledation costs, the final resolution of these liibs may significantly vary from o
estimates and could potentially have an adversetedin our results of operations and financial foasi

Our current debt, and debt we may incur in theritaould adversely affect our business and firsmmsition.

As of December 31, 2006, we had $364.9 million elftdoutstanding, of which $359.0 million is loteym debt. Our debt consists primarily
principal payable under our fixed rate senior no@gsr level of debt could have significant conset&s for our business including: requi
us to use our cash flow to pay principal and irgeom our debt, reducing funds available for adtjaiss and other investments in our busin
making us vulnerable to economic downturns anceiamses in interest rates; limiting us from obtairadgitional debt; and impacting our abi
to pay dividends.

A percentage of our workforce is employed undelective bargaining agreements.

Approximately 12% of our workforce is employed undellective bargaining agreements, which from timeime are subject to renewal i
negotiation. Although we have generally enjoyeddyoaations with both our unionized and namionized employees, if we are subject to |;
actions, we may experience an adverse impact opprrating results.

We rely on certain suppliers as a sole source wipoments for some of our products.

Our manufacturing processes for our products afersist of the assembly of purchased componentatbaenerally available from a num
of different suppliers, though several suppliers @aur sole source of certain components. If a solece supplier should cease or otherwis
unable to deliver such components, our operatiaglt®could be adversely impacted.

Our future performance is influenced by costs inetiby our operating companies including, for exkemiine costs of raw materials

Our businesses depend on suppliers and subcomfraftio raw materials and components. These supptywarks can experience pr
fluctuations. While we have attempted to mitigde ¢ffects of increased costs through price inedbere are no assurances that higher |
can effectively be passed through to our custoretkat we will be able to offset fully or on a &g basis the effects of higher raw mate
costs through price increases.

Our business involves risks associated with compiarufacturing processes.

Our manufacturing processes depend on certain siigated and highalue equipment. Unexpected failures of this eqapimay result i
production delays, revenue loss, and significapairecosts. In addition, equipment failures cowdult in injuries to our employees. Moreo
the competitive nature of our businesses requisesontinuously to implement process changes intehal@chieve product improvements
manufacturing efficiencies. These process changag at times result in production delays, qualityn@grns, and increased costs. .
disruption of operations at our facilities due ¢ugpment failures or process interruptions couldeha material adverse effect on our business.

Potential product liability risks exist from thegolucts that we sell.

Our businesses expose us to potential productlitiabisks that are inherent in the design, mantife; and sale of our products and
products of thirdsarty vendors that we use or resell. We currenthintain what we believe to be suitable and adeqpedduct liability
insurance. There can be no assurance, howevenyéhatil be able to maintain our product liabilitysurance on acceptable terms or tha
product liability insurance will provide adequatefection against potential liabilities. In the avef a claim against us, a lack of suffici
insurance coverage could have a material advefsetefn our business, financial condition, and ltssof operations. Moreover, even if
maintain adequate insurance, any successful clairtd hiave a material adverse effect on our busjriessicial condition, results of operatic
and on the ability to obtain suitable or adequaseiiance.
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Increasing costs of certain employee and retireefits could adversely affect our results of ogerst.

The amount of expenses recorded for our define@fligrension plans is dependent on changes in marterest rates and the value of |
assets, which are dependent on actual plan assgigeSignificant changes in market interest rate$ decreases in the fair value of plan a
and investment losses on plan assets may advef$ety our future results of operations.

While we believe our control systems are effectthere are inherent limitations in all control gmt, and misstatements due to error or |
may occur and not be detected.

We continue to take action to assure complianck thi¢ internal controls, disclosure controls arftebrequirements of the Sarbar@sley Act
of 2002. Our management, including our Chief ExweuOfficer and Chief Financial Officer, cannot gamatee that our internal controls i
disclosure controls will prevent all possible esror all fraud. A control system, no matter how veeinceived and operated, can provide
reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the mgigcif the control system are met. In additioe, design of a control system must reflec
fact that there are resource constraints and thefib®f controls must be relative to their co8ecause of the inherent limitations in all cor
systems, no system of controls can provide absalsgerance that all control issues and instancésuad, if any, within the Corporation he
been detected. These inherent limitations inclingerealities that judgments in decisigraking can be faulty and that breakdowns can ¢
because of simple error or mistake. Further, cémitcan be circumvented by individual acts of somespns, by collusion of two or me
persons, or by management override of the contidie. design of any system of controls also is basgxhrt upon certain assumptions al
the likelihood of future events, and there can bassurance that any design will succeed in aateits stated goals under all potential fu
conditions. Over time, a control may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions or the degfremmpliance with policies

procedures may deteriorate. Because of inhereitations in a coseffective control system, misstatements due torenrdraud may occur ai
may not be detected

There are risks associated with owning our comntocks

Like any equity security, our common stock is sabje a number of risks that may adversely impactshare price including: there is a limi
trading market in our common stock; we may nothia future be able to pay dividends on our commookstwe may issue common stock
acquisitions or other purposes that could be diuto current stockholders; and we have varioustakéover defenses such as our rights
and our ability to issue preferred stock that mizgalrage a potential acquirer.

Iltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.
None.
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Item 2. Properties.

At December 31, 2006, we had 120 facilities worldisyiincluding manufacturing, metal treatment sexyvierospace component overt
engineering, selling, and other facilities and austiative offices. Of these, we owned 41 locatiand leased the remaining 79 facilities.

Our principal physical properties as of December2RD6, are described belo

Location Description Segmen Total Sq. Ft. ownefP
Cheswick, Manufacturing Flow Control 630,000
Pennsylvania

East Farmingdale, Manufacturing Flow Control 270,000
New York @

Mississauga, Ontario, Manufacturing Motion Control 220,000
Canada

Chester, Wales Metal Treatment Service- Shot Metal Treatmen 200,000
United Kingdom Peening and Wing Formir

Shelby, Manufacturing Motion Control 168,000

North Carolina

The aggregate remaining properties leased and qvayeshch business segment, are as folli

Segment Description Total Sq. Ft. Ownef! Total Sq. Ft. Leased
Metal Treatmen Metal treatment service and ott 904,000 876,000
facilities and administrative office
Motion Control Manufacturing, aerospace compon 139,000 583,000
overhaul, engineering, and ott
facilities
Flow Control Manufacturing, engineering, al 338,000 509,000

other facilities

(1) Sizes are approximate. Unless otherwise indicatbaywned properties are owned in fee, are noteailip any major encumbran
and are occupied primarily by factory and/or waredeoperation:

(2) In February 2003, we entered into a -traditional sale- leaseback transaction with the Town of Babylon bkidal Developmer
Agency for our property located in E. Farmingd&lew York. Pursuant to the terms of the Lease, thenty acquired fee simple ti
to the property and we are obligated to make I@asenents through 2014 to the Agency in lieu of pgyieal estate taxes on ¢
property. The Lease is subject to cancellation eutlpenalty on 90 days notice, and title revertklia us upon the repayment of .
tax savings realized by L

The Corporation also leases 25,700 square fedfioé pace for its corporate headquarters locetétbseland, New Jersey.

None of the properties listed above are individuatiaterial to our business. The buildings on thaepprties referred to in this Item are v
maintained, in good condition, and are suitable atelquate for the uses presently being made of.tManagement believes the produc
capacity of our properties is adequate to meetaticipated volume for the foreseeable future.

On March 17, 2005, we completed the sale of ourfiEll, New Jersey property, a former operatingpenty, for $10.5 million. The prope
encompassed approximately 39 acres and was forraarlgperating facility for our Motion Control segmienow located in Shelby, Noi
Carolina.
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Item 3. Legal Proceedings

In the ordinary course of business, we and ouridigvges are subject to various pending claims slaite, and contingent liabilities. We do
believe that the disposition of any of these maftérdividually or in the aggregate, will have ateral adverse effect on our consolid:
financial position or results of operations.

We have been named in approximately 120 lawsuds dlilege injury from exposure to asbestos. To,datehave secured dismissals \
prejudice and without prejudice in approximately d&®d 95 lawsuits, respectively, and are curremtlyiscussions for similar dismissal
several other lawsuits, and have not been fourdeliar paid any material sum of money in settlenmertny case. We believe that the mini
use of asbestos in our past and current operatindshe relatively noffriable condition of asbestos in our products makemlikely that wi
will face material liability in any asbestos litig@n, whether individually or in the aggregate. \3f@ maintain insurance coverage for tt
lawsuits and believe adequate coverage existsvier @ny unanticipated asbestos liability.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Securitydolders.

Not applicable
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PART II
Item 5. Market for the Registrant's Common Equity And Related Stockholder Matters And Issuer Purchasesf Securities.

MARKET INFORMATION

Our Common stock is listed and traded on the NewkY8tock Exchange under the symbol CW. On May 22052 we completed
recapitalization that resulted in the combinatidmur two classes of common stock into a single n&gs by converting all outstanding sh
of Common stock and Class B common stock into glsinew class of common stock. The recapitalizatias accomplished through a me
with a wholly owned subsidiary, in which the outslang shares of Common stock and Class B commatk stere exchanged for shares of
single class of Common stock. The ownership of b class of Common stock was the same immediaiér the merger as it w
immediately prior. Prior to May 24, 2005, Class &ronon stock was listed and traded on the New YadckKSExchange under the sym
CW.B.

Stock Price Range 2006 2005

Common High Low High Low
First Quarter $33.6¢ $26.8: $29.9! $24.4:
Second Quarter 35.01% 30.5Z 31.3¢ 25.07
Third Quarter 31.7¢ 26.61 33.7( 26.1¢
Fourth Quarter 38.4( 29.9¢ 31.9¢ 27.0¢
Class B High Low High Low
First Quarter N/A N/A $29.3: $24.1:
Second Quarter N/A N/A 31.11 26.71
Third Quarter N/A N/A N/A N/A
Fourth Quarter N/A N/A N/A N/A

@ Class B shares were converted to Common sharesagr?i| 2005.
We had approximately 6,762 holders of record of @mm stock, $1.00 par value, as of January 31, 2007.
DIVIDENDS

In the fourth quarter of 2005, we increased ouriguly dividend payment to $0.06 per share, a 388&teiase over the prior dividend of $0.
per share and the third increase in the dividendes000.

200¢ 200¢
Common
First Quartel $ 0.0t $ 0.0
Second Quarte 0.0€ 0.0t
Third Quartel 0.0€ 0.0t
Fourth Quarte 0.0¢ 0.0¢
Class BYW
First Quartel N/A $ 0.0
Second Quarte N/A 0.0t
Third Quartel N/A N/A
Fourth Quarte N/A N/A

@ Class B shares were converted to Common sharesagr2i| 2005.

All per share amounts have been adjusted to reflect-for-1 stock splits on April 21, 2006. See notes tactinesolidated financial stateme
for additional financial information
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SECURITIES AUTHORIZED FOR ISSUANCE UNDER EQUITY CGMENSATION PLANS

The following table sets forth information regamgliour equity compensation plans as of December286, the end of our most rece!
completed fiscal year:

Number of option:
remaining available fc
future issuanc
under equity
compensation plar
(excluding securitie
reflected in the first columr

Number of
securities to b
issued upon exercise
outstanding option:
warrants and right

Weighted averag
exercise price ¢
outstanding option:

Plan categor warrants and right

Equity compensation pla
approved by securit
holders 2,553,064(a $24.19 5,491,330(b
Equity compensation pla

not approved by securi

holders None

Not applicable Not applicable

(a) Consists of 2,396,697 shares issuable upon exeo€isatstanding options and vesting of performaslcares, restricted shares,
restricted stock units under the 2005 Omnibus Léagn Incentive Plan and the 1995 Lohgrm Incentive Plan, 93,379 she
issuable under the Employee Stock Purchase Plan6ar@88 shares outstanding under the 2005 Stoak fela NonEmployet
Directors and the 1996 Stock Plan for [-Employee Directors

(b) Consists of 3,828,741 shares available for futyroa grants under the 2005 Omnibus L-Term Incentive Plan, 1,570,108 shi
remaining available for issuance under the Empl@&teek Purchase Plan and 92,481 shares remainailglale for issuance under:
2005 Stock Plan for N-Employee Directors

Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

CONSOLIDATED SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
( In thousands, except per sh:

data) 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

Net sales $ 1,282,15! $ 1,130,922 $ 955,03¢ $ 746,07: $ 513,27¢
Net earning: 80,56¢ 75,28( 65,06¢ 52,26¢ 45,13¢
Total asset 1,592,151 1,400,28! 1,278,441 973,66¢ 810,10:
Long-term debt 359,00( 364,01 340,86( 224,15 119,04:
Basic earnings per she $ 1.84 $ 1.74 $ 1.5¢ $ 1.27 $ 1.11
Diluted earnings per sha $ 1.82 $ 1.72 $ 151 $ 1.2 $ 1.0¢
Cash dividends per she $ 0.24 $ 0.2C $ 0.1¢ $ 0.1€ $ 0.1f

All per share amounts have been adjusted to refbeict z-for-1 stock splits on April 21, 2006 and December 1003 See notes to 1
consolidated financial statements for additionabficial information.
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Famcial Condition and Results of Operations

COMPANY ORGANIZATION

Our Managemen$' Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditiord d&Results of Operations begins with an overviewoof compan)
followed by economic and industwide factors impacting our company and the marketsserve, a discussion of the overall resul
operations, and finally a more detailed discussibimose results within each of our reportable apierg segments.

Curtiss-Wright Corporation is a diversified, mu#itronal provider of highly engineered, technolofiicadvanced, valuedded products a
services to a broad range of industries in the anotiontrol, flow control, and metal treatment mask&Ve are positioned as a market le
across a diversified array of niche markets throeghineering and technological leadership, presisi@nufacturing, and strong relationsl
with our customers. We provide products and sesvicea humber of global markets, such as defermamercial aerospace, commer
power, oil and gas, automotive, and general indistWe have achieved balanced growth through theressful application of our cc
competencies in engineering and precision manufagtuadapting these competencies to new markessigh internal product developme
and a disciplined program of strategic acquisitiddsr overall strategy is to be a balanced andrsified company, less vulnerable to cycle
downturns in any one business sector, and to éstabirong positions in profitable niche marketgppfoximately 45% of our revenues
generated from defense-related markets.

We manage and evaluate our operations based grdtacts and services we offer and the differedtigtries and markets we serve. Base
this approach, we have three reportable segmelats: €ontrol, Motion Control, and Metal TreatmentrRurther information on our produ
and services and the major markets served by oae tbegments, see Item 1 Business Description aldwefollowing charts represent
sales by market for 2006 and 2005:

200& Salas by Market 2005 Bales by Markel

Otnar

Defenss Ground

Defencs Ground
%

2%

Dmfance Mavy
% miance Mavy

%

Comnuaroial Commerola
Asrocpane ABroL paos
8% 1T

Economic and Industry-wide Factors

By most measures, 2006 was another good year fais€Wright. Our strong financial performance was a lesfusuccessful organic grow
combined with efficient acquisition execution. Gaoed strength in the U.S. economy provided a sfolichdation on which our commerc
business thrived. Many of the key drivers of ousibass, such as the U.S. economy, U.S. Departni@dfense (DoD) funding, global enel
demand and the global commercial aerospace industnyinued to improve. In addition, U.S. militesgending levels remained steady, anc
commercial markets strengthened, particularly exé¢hergy sectors. Overall our sales grew at daliplepace in 2006. We generated cash
from operations of over $140 million, while freesbdlow, which is our cash provided by operatintivéiies less capital expenditures, was
$100 million and our strong year end backlog shquttvide us with great momentum heading into 2007.

Most of our sales growth was organic with solidfpenance by each of our segments. From a markatsigbint we experienced very stri
growth in our energy markets, including 45% growmtloil and gas and 13% growth in commercial nucfgawer. Our ground defense busir
rose 26% in 2006 fueled primarily by upgrades agw technology insertions in support of our troofgisned around the world.
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Looking forward, we see modest growth in the U&n®my in 2007. The overall U.S. defense spendingl$ will continue to grow at thi
current moderate pace, and the global commerciaspace industry continues to flourish. Energy retelkwill remain strong, fueled
increased demand and limited supply. However, nfantors could impact our future performance, inglgdthe timing and level of futu
defense spending in the U.S., volatility of the g@dical landscape, and the pace of global econamtivity.

General Economy

Many of our industrial businesses are driven igdapart by global economic growth, especially ia thS. In 2006, the U.S. economy g
modestly, and inflation and interest rates remaiia@tly stable. The overall healthy global economivironment in 2006 is supported by s
overall growth in our commercial/industrial markets19%. Based upon certain economic reports, tf& Bconomy is expected to grow
modest rate in 2007, similar to 2006, assuming ¢iigirices and the housing markets stabilize i@720nflation and interest rates are expe
to remain stable in 2007. However, if these cond#iwere not to occur, it may prompt the U.S. FaldBeserve to return to its progran
raising interest rates in 2007. At December 31,620(@ vast majority of our debt carried fixed ratdssignificant rise in interest rates co
result in increased interest expense to the exteriiorrow under our revolving credit agreement,ohfdarries a floating interest rate. Stabil
interest rates should lead to increased spendidgreestment in the business sector. Unemployngeakpected to remain below 5% in 2(
Also, global Gross Domestic Product (“GDRjlowth is expected to be moderate in 2007, primddicause of higher energy prices and ti¢
monetary policies.

Approximately 25% of our business is outside th8.land subject to currency fluctuations in botimsgegtions in foreign currencies as we
translation from local country currencies to th&ldollar. In 2006 we were negatively impacted prihg by the Canadian dollar, as sever:
our business units have revenues primarily in Wd@lars and expenses primarily in Canadian dollsve. have a global foreign currer
hedging program in place, however although we seehitigate these fluctuations through such hedgirggrams, there is no guarantee
our hedging efforts will offset the possible adeeimpacts of the currency fluctuations.

It appears that, at least in the U.S., 2007 is etgoeto mark the sixth consecutive year of econosxigansion, fueled primarily by strc
spending in the business sector. We remain caljiopsimistic that this expansion will continuetime near term. To the extent that it does
businesses that are largely economic driven angegbe commercial aerospace, oil and gas, and aleimetustrial markets, particularly ¢
Metal Treatment segment, are well positioned teeliefrom increased economic strength.

Defense

Approximately 45% of our business is in the miltaector, predominantly in the U.S., and charaoteriby longterm programs and contra
driven primarily by the U.S. DoD budgets and furidievels. We supply product to all branches of th8. military and also participate
several non-U.S. military programs, although theyndt represent a significant portion of our milthusiness.

In 2006, we achieved 9% growth in our defense ntarkegerall, including strong growth in our grounefehse business of 26% and n.
platforms of 9%. The growth in the ground defenssifiess was driven by strong demand for our emlzeddmputing products. Our aerosg
business was down slightly from the prior year. @uawth was achieved through a combination of ongailatforms, developmental progra
and current force repair and upgrades. We expacR007 defense market growth to be in line with BaD fiscal 2007 budget growth
approximately 5%.

The DoD fiscal 2007 budget continues investmerkeyn programs, funding in support of transformatinitiatives, and increased spending
the modernization and upgrading of our currenttfiee well as the global war on terror (GWOT). Oulow Control and Motion Contr
segments are well positioned on many high perfonaatefense platforms, including: the CVN-21 ngeteration aircraft carrier, the Virgil
Class nuclear submarine program, and the DDG-1@8@ayer for the U.S. Navy; the U.S. Coast Guardfeater program; the F-16, F-18, F-
22, V22, and Unmanned Aerial Vehicle programs, sucthas@lobal Hawk for the U.S. Air Force; and the AbgsaTank, Bradley Fightir
Vehicle and the Stryker Mobile Gun System for th& UArmy. Our Motion Control segment also providesariety of products to nod-S
military programs in Europe, the Asia Pacific ragithe Middle East, South America, and Canadadtit@n, we are involved in many of 1
future military systems that are currently in dexghent, such as the35 Lightning Il, the Future Combat System, shipblagrcraft launchin
and arresting systems, and the Electromagnetic &) program.
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There is the possibility that defense spending aegrease in the future, which could adversely &ffec operations and financial conditi
While DoD funding fluctuates year-by-year and peogrbyprogram, the primary risk facing us would be thenieation of a major prograi
We are not aware of any potential material progtarmination for which we have content. If a matepegram were to be terminated,
termination process takes several years to windhdawhich should provide us ample time to react teefmy potential impact occurs. Althot
we monitor the budget process as it relates torprog in which we participate, we cannot predictuhienate impact of future DoD budgets
us. In addition, there are other risks associatéd aur defense businesses, such as failure ofraepcontractor customer to perform a
contract, pricing and/or design specifications thaty not always be finalized at the time the carttis bid, and the failure and/or inability
certain sole source suppliers to provide us prqoaust of which could have an adverse impact onfimancial performance. While alternati
could be identified to replace a sole source seppéi transition could result in increased costsraanufacturing delays.

Commercial Aerospace

Approximately 18% of our revenues are derived fritv@ global commercial aerospace industry. Our pynfacus in this market is OE
products and services for commercial jets. Howewerhave expanded into the regional and businésggors with new content on the Ecli
and Embraer platforms. Our Motion Control segmenmarily provides flight actuation control systensgnsors, and other electronic:
Boeing as well as electronic products to Airbusr ®etal Treatment segment forms all of the wingnskior Airbus aircraft and also tre
highly stressed components on a variety of turtengines and landing gear systems primarily throtigid party machine shops.
commercial aerospace business grew approximatély ih92006 and 2005. This growth has come from iwed customer production ley
but also new platforms for both Boeing and Airbstspng demand for our overhaul and repair servigesyell as introduction of new prodt
for existing programs.

Our commercial aerospace business is expectedrtaimehealthy in 2007 as we are well positioned amumber ofcommercial aerospa
platforms and should benefit from continued growthhis industry over the next couple of years. laloairline traffic is one of the prime
drivers for longterm growth in the commercial aerospace industng, @onomic growth is one of the primary drivergylabal airline traffi
demand. Based on industry reports, global passdraféc grew approximately 6% in 2006, which wagter than expected, fueled mainly
strong traffic growth in Asia and the Middle EaS§llobal traffic growth in 2007 is expected to be isimto 2006. Traffic growth, large
stimulated by the health of the general economy, am aging fleet of existing commercial aircrafhtbute to the need for more aircr
which has generated increased new aircraft ordegs the past two years. This healthy backlog okemds expected to lead to higher O
production levels, a key driver of our commerciataspace business. We expect to see healthy giowilr Boeing business offset somev
by lower Airbus business because the delay in tB@04program will not totally be offset by other Birs programs.

While improved economic conditions have contributedhis industrys recovery, concerns still exist regarding therfrial weakness of ma
of the airlines, continued high fuel prices, and threat of another major terrorist attack, anyvbfch could have an adverse impact on
industry and our operating results and financialitoan.

Oil and Gas

Approximately 14% of our revenues are derived fritw@ oil and gas industry. We provide primarily icat-function pumps, valves, proci
vessels, and control electronics to this industrpugh our Flow Control segment. Our significanttfmdio of advanced technologies for t
market resulted in a record 45% sales growth ir62@@ven mainly by new orders for our revolutiopaoker valve product and incremel
sales from the acquisition of Enpro Systems. Wesekpontinued strong growth in 2007.

The most prevalent driver impacting our market &pital spending by refiners for maintenance, upgsadapacity expansion, saf
improvements, and compliance with environmentallatipns. Refiner profitability and global crudd prices in general will impact the
capital spending levels. Refining margins have liegthrelatively high despite higher crude oil psaghich, combined with increased glc
petrochemical production and continued global eounogrowth, have generated and should continueettegate increased investment
capital spending by the refineries in 2007 and bdy®ew environmental regulations in the U.S. ampting additional spending to com
with more stringent emissions standards. The pegaend enacted environmental regulations in the &h8 other developed countries cc
drive increased demand for flow control productsabymuch as 8% to 10% over the next few yearslifire the world continues to depenc
natural resources, oil exploration deepens, ambp@rt requirements widen, we anticipate additiapdortunities to provide our flow cont
products to meet
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these challenges. For instance, increased crugeiods has increased refinery focus on throughpdthas resulted in the delayed coking
catalytic cracking processes becoming more prdétahd safer, leading to increased demand forelated products, which are inherently s
than existing products and, because of their siganitly reduced maintenance requirements, incresaseghput for the refinery.

In 2006 we announced two important partnershipf witustry leaders that will unite our combinedhtéical expertise in creating advan
pumps and motors. While these programs have jst [zinched, we are confident the continued highashel for natural resources produc
should result in significant market growth for ueothe next few years. However, we temper ourooltfor the petroleum markets based
number of potential and unforeseeable events. Mdmhe same factors that drove world oil marketgiior years, such as low product
capacity and rapid demand growth, are expectedntiraie to constrain this market in 2007. Othetdes; such as the frequency and intel
of hurricanes, other extreme weather, and geopalithstability, may also continue to affect thiginket. While global demand is expecte
increase in 2007, primarily from economic growthdeveloping Asian countries, global production adyais also expected to increase
2007, which should moderate the global oil priceréases experienced over the past two years. ¥ivedl cannot predict how long glo
economic growth can be sustained, whether propesgiilonmental and energy legislation will be endcthe impact of further geopolitic
disruption of energy supply, or to the extent sfadtors may impact this industry.

Power Generatiol

Approximately 11% of our revenues are derived fith commercial nuclear power market, where we supplariety of highly engineer
products and services, including reactor coolambsj control rod drive mechanisms, valves, motans, bolting solutions through our Fl
Control segment. In addition, we are one of a smathber of companies which providesshdmp quality assurance certification necessai
supplying nuclear plant equipment. Many of the cames that originally participated in the nucleawgr plant construction have since ex
this market.

We experienced 13% growth in this market in 2006 @aur outlook continues to be strong. Our receaivtin has come primarily from the U
plant recertification process because most of O0fekisting nuclear power plants have applied fowitl be applying for plant life extensiot
as required by current regulations. As of Decen®igr2006, approximately 47 plants have receivedtdige extensions, applications fron
additional plants have been submitted and are pgnapproval, and letters of intent to apply haverbesceived from 30 more plants v
expected application submittal dates from March72@@ough August 2013.

In addition to plant recertifications, there areesal emerging factors that could precipitate apagsion in commercial nuclear power den
over the next several years. Continued growth obagl demand for electricity, especially in develapicountries with limited supply, w
require increased capacity. The Nuclear Energytitetestimates that an average of 34 new reaetotsd need to be built every five ye
over the period 2010 through 2030 to meet projeditiand. Instability in the world petroleum markethere we have seen unprecede
historically high oil prices, have fostered supgdortseeking alternative fuel sources globally. ldac power is the most economical sourct
generating electricity. There is also increasednditin to environmental issues, and nuclear povasrgroven to have minimal impact on
environment as compared to the majority of curemirces. In addition, the U.S. has indicated thataints to decrease its dependenc
foreign oil imports, which accounts for almost haiflfits current supply.

Longer term, we see excellent growth opportunitg tuplanned new plant construction both domesieald internationally. Domestically,
energyrelated companies have announced their intentio@pply to the Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NR&)a combined constructi
and operating license (COL) for new nuclear powanis in the U.S. Thus far, the Westinghouse AP1@@@tor design has been selecte:
10 of the potential new reactors. Curtiss-WrighHtlow Control segment has significant contentl@AP1000 reactor, the only generatior
advanced design certified by the NRC. COL applocatsubmittals are expected to begin in the foudharggr of 2007 and, if approw
construction could begin as early as 2010. Intégnatly, new nuclear plant construction is ongoi@gurently there are 25 new reactors u
construction, 18 more planned, and another 51 mexgholn particular, China intends to expand itslearcpower capabilities significan
through the construction of new nuclear power Hamter the next several years. In December 200&1aCénnounced its selection of
Westinghouse AP1000 advanced reactor design fomevo power plants. Contract negotiations are ctigremderway and are expected tc
completed in 2007.
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With these developments underway, our Flow Cordegiment is well positioned to take advantage ofettansion in this industry over
next decade. The recent history of plant life egimm approvals in the U.S. and continued stronddbpiiograms in Asia are encouragi
However, there is no guarantee that the nuclearrgitive will continue to be fully endorsed in tdeS. and other parts of the world, or that
NRC will authorize the construction of new facéiiin the U.S. In addition, the geopolitical clim& volatile and could impact future nuc
plant construction levels around the world.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Analytical Definitions

Throughout management’s discussion and analydisaricial condition and results of operations, tiens “incremental” and “basedre use
to explain changes from period to period. The t&rmaremental”is used to highlight the impact acquisitions hadtmcurrent year results,
which there was no comparable prior-year period.

During 2006, we redefined the method of calculatinganic growth by including the results of opeyasi for acquisitions in the base busil
after twelve full months of ownership. This changas made to conform to more common practice within industry. Therefore, the 2C
results of operations for acquisitions are “incrata¥ for the first twelve months from the date of acdgigs. The remaining businesses
referred to as the “base” businesses, and growtheise base businesses is referred to as “orgakscsuch, for the year ended Decembe
2006, our organic growth calculations exclude therations of the 2006 acquisitions as well as itts¢ tivo months of operations during 2!
of Indal Technologies, which was acquired in Magfl05. These excluded results of operations fromotiganic calculation are conside
“incremental”.

The 2005 results of operation continue to predemtrésults based upon the 2005 methodology. As suchcquisition is considered base w
the reporting period includes fully comparable euntrand prioryear data. Therefore, for the year ended Decembe2®5, our organic grow
of the base businesses excludes all acquisitiorce danuary 1, 2004. The term “incrementsiised to highlight the impact acquisitions ha
the current year results, for which there was noparable prior-year period.

Year Ended December 31, 2006 Compared with Yeaedb@cember 31, 2005

For the year ended December 31, 2006, we recoralesbtidated net sales of $1,282.2 million and rehi@gs of $80.6 million, or $1.82 |
diluted share. Sales for 2006 increased 13% ov@5 2@les of $1,130.9 million. Net earnings for 200G eased 7% from 2005 net earning
$75.3 million, or $1.72 per diluted share.

The increase in revenues was mainly driven by @setbusinesses, which experienced organic saleghgod 11% in 2006, led by the Fl
Control segment, which grew organically by 15%. ®atal Treatment and Motion Control segments exgmexed solid organic sales growtt
9% and 8%, respectively. Additionally, sales in @@@nefited from an additional two months of revegenerated from our 2005 acquisitio
Indal and the sales contribution from the 2006 &itions of Enpro Systems, Allegheny, and Swantedhich contributed $27.6 million
incremental sales in 2006. See Note 2 to the Cwlael Financial Statements for further informatiegarding acquisitions.

In our base businesses, all of our segments expedeorganic growth in our defense markets, whicheiased 2006 sales by $36.9 million «
2005. The increase was due primarily to higherssaethe ground defense market in support of theeffart in Irag and Afghanistan and

timing of longterm Navy procurement programs. Organic salesaamihand gas market increased $37.8 million asflour control coker valv
product continues to gain customer acceptance fhenperformance of initial product installs as thegch the five year in service mark. S
from our base businesses to the commercial aeregpacket increased $34.6 million in 2006 becausthefoverall growth of the mark
leading to increased production requirements fram austomers in our Motion Control and Metal Treattnsegments and content on

programs in our Motion Control segment. In additiareign currency translation had a favorable iotpan sales of $5.0 million in 2006
compared to 2005.
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Operating income for 2006 totaled $140.6 million,iacrease of 2% from operating income of $138.Migniin 2005. In the fourth quarter
2006, we established a reserve in the amount & ##llion to reflect potential liabilities arisinffom a jury verdict returned against us |
lawsuit filed by a former employee. Overall orgagperating income growth, which includes nonsegnegpense, was 3% for 2006, compi
to the prior year. Strong segment growth was drivgmmur Metal Treatment and Flow Control segmentsich experienced organic growth
21% and 14%, respectively, from the prior year.dDig operating income growth in our Motion Contsegment was 11% in 2006. The 2
and 2006 acquisitions experienced an increments ff $1.3 million during 2006 mainly due to int@gon costs, lowering the ovel
operating segment margin in 2006 as compared t6.200

In our base businesses, the organic operating iagmowth increase is primarily attributed to higkates volume even though gross mai
slipped from 34.5% to 33.7% . The gross margin gaiage decline occurred in our Flow Control andidoControl segments and is mai
due to increased work on development contracts reewd programs, which are priced at lower marginscapture follow-on londerrr
production and spares orders, higher material a@hergroduction costs on fixed-price loteym contracts, and cost overruns on certain
programs and development contracts. The gross ngfigim the higher sales volume were further redumehigher general and administra
costs, which grew faster than sales at 20% in 2@06ompared to 2005. The increase in general amthestrative costs is due primarily to-
establishment of the $6.5 million litigation resemoted above, the expensing of stock options uperadoption of Statement of Finan
Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 20@Btare-Based Payme(fSFAS 123(R)")on January 1, 2006, which totaled $4.9 million, amn
increase in pension expense of $4.2 million relatethe CurtisdAright pension plan due primarily to increased gencosts related to he
count and salary increases, special terminatiorfiisnand a lump sum payment related to the retrg of a key executive. In addition,
recognized a gain on the sale of property for $&ilon in 2005, which did not recur in 2006. Setli expenses increased $6.9 million, or 1
which is slightly behind the sales growth. Reseamdd development costs declined $0.8 million in @3 compared to 2005 as n
engineering effort was put into development congrlathese costs were classified as cost of goddsosothe statement of income. We
benefited in 2006 from reimbursements of previowestpensed research and development costs undémpjoijects with customers. Fore
currency translation had an unfavorable impactperating income of $2.0 million for 2006 as compiate 2005.

We incurred higher interest expense in 2006 contpare2005. The increase was due to higher inteegss partially offset by lower avere
outstanding debt. Our average borrowing rate irsm@ar0 basis points in 2006 as compared to 200% wehir average outstanding d
decreased 3% for the comparable periods. Net egmin2006 included certain nonrecurring tax baséditaling $5.1 million.

Backlog at December 31, 2006 remained strong &b.$8million compared with $805.6 million at Decemi3d, 2005, and $627.7 million
December 31, 2004. Acquisitions made during 20@8esented $23.4 million of the backlog at DecenBfer2006. New orders receivec
2006 totaled $1,333.0 million, which represent@ificrease over 2005 new orders of $1,261.2 miléiad a 33% increase over new or
received in 2004. Acquisitions made during 2005 2006 contributed $39.8 million in incremental nexders received in 2006. Record ort
for our flow control coker valve and strong ordéssour motion control electronic and mechanicaldarcts drove the new order improvem
Our metal treatment services, repair and overhamlices, and aftemarket sales, which represent approximately 20%uoftotal sales ft
2006, are sold with very modest lead times. Acauglyi, the backlog for these businesses is less @idication of future sales than the bacl
of the majority of the products and services of Blation Control and Flow Control segments, in whaignificant portion of sales is deri
from long-term contracts.

Year Ended December 31, 2005 Compared with YeaedEBécember 31, 2004

For the year ended December 31, 2005, we recorolesbtidated net sales of $1,130.9 million and r@ehiags of $75.3 million, or $1.72 |
diluted share. Sales for 2005 increased 18% ove4 2ales of $955.0 million. Net earnings for 200&r¢ased 16% from 2004 net earninc
$65.1 million, or $1.51 per diluted share.

The increase in revenues was mainly driven by aptet® year of revenues generated from our 2004isitiqus, primarily Dy 4 Systemr
Primagraphics, Nova Machine, Trentec, Groquip, yeand EPD, and the 2005 acquisition of Indaé NRete 2 to the Consolidated Finan
Statements for further information regarding acigjoiss. These acquisitions contributed $100.5 wnillin incremental sales in 2005 (or 579
the total sales increase from 2004). Our base bssés experienced organic sales growth of 8% 6,260 by the Metal Treatment segm
which grew organically by 11%. Our Flow Control aMbtion Control segments experienced solid orgassites growth of 8% and 7
respectively.
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In our base businesses, our coker valve producitineeed to gain customer acceptance, which drogd-tbw Control organic sales increas
$22.6 million to the oil and gas market. The Moti@antrol segment experienced higher sales of ouvl@Rd spares products and repair
overhaul services to the commercial aerospace mafl&l6.1 million, mainly due to the increasedduotion requirements and the contin
improvement in the commercial aerospace marketaMegatment sales of our global shot peening sesvincreased $13.5 million, prima
in the commercial aerospace and automotive markets,mainly to the continuing recovery of the globeonomy and customer produci
requirements. In addition, we experienced orgamaevth in our defense markets in both our Motion alnand Flow Control segments, wh
increased 2005 sales by $7.4 million and $3.6 omlirespectively, over 2004. Foreign currency tietie had a favorable impact on sale
$1.2 million in 2005 as compared to 2004.

Operating income for 2005 totaled $138.0 million, iacrease of 25% from operating income of $110iBian in 2004. The increase
primarily attributed to higher sales volume, favmeamix, and previously implemented cost reduciinitiatives. Operating income in 20
experienced organic growth of 21% and was drivendryMetal Treatment and Motion Control segmentsictv experienced organic growtt
21% and 14%, respectively, from 2004. Metal Treaitiseorganic operating income growth was mainly thaulteof higher volume whi
Motion Control's organic growth was due to higher volume, favagadales mix from commercial aerospace spares dedrafrket service
and implemented cost control initiatives. Organpemting income growth in our Flow Control segmests 10% in 2005, due to higl
volume. The contributions of the 2004 and 2005 &itjions amounted to $0.6 million in incrementalkeagting income in 2005 comparec
2004, keeping the overall operating segment mdtgirin 2005 compared to 2004. The operating marginour segments have been some
lower than historical levels in recent years, ppady related to the large number of acquisitionade since 2002. Although the r
acquisitions continue to have a positive effectoperating income, the operating margin of the di&arporation is lower since the mar
levels of the newly acquired companies are belowgehof our base businesses. We consider this sotemporary issue that should be n
than offset by the benefits of diversification, ihglementation of cost control measures, and asxd future profitability. The integration
our acquisitions continues to progress as planimealddition to having improved operating marginsdbmost all of our recent acquisitions,
have initiated programs to crosgarket products and share technologies across usindsses. Foreign currency translation had a &ble
impact on operating income of $0.2 million for 208 compared to 2004.

In addition to the strong organic growth of theraegts, we experienced favorable results in 2005pewed to 2004 from lower environmet
remediation costs, which declined $4.5 million,angon the sale of property of $2.8 million, and/és costs associated with Sarba@edey
Section 404 compliance of $1.2 million. These fabe impacts were offset by higher research anceldpment, selling, general, ¢
administrative expenses, mainly due to the 2004 20@b acquisitions. In addition, we incurred addfiil infrastructure costs to support
business growth and higher pension expense.

We incurred higher interest expense in 2005 as epaapto 2004 due to higher interest rates, whidoauted for approximately 54% of
increase, and higher debt levels associated wahfuhding of our acquisition program. Net earnimg®2004 included certain ortene tay
benefits of $3.4 million, which primarily resultécbm the change in legal structure of one of oursadiaries and a favorable IRS Appt
settlement.
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Segment Performance

We operate in three principal operating segmentshenbasis of products and services offered anketarserved: Flow Control, Moti
Control, and Metal Treatment. See Note 16 to thasBlidated Financial Statements for further segnfieancial information. The followin
table sets forth revenues, operating income, opgratargin, and the percentage changes on thass,iter 2006 as compared with the g
year periods, by operating segme

Year Ended December 31 Percent Changes
(In thousands, except percentai 200¢ 200t
2006 2005 2004 vs. 200! vs. 200«
Sales
Flow Contro $ 548,12: $ 466,54t $ 388,13¢ 17.5% 20.2%
Motion Contro 509,46: 465,45: 388,57t 9.5% 19.8%
Metal Treatmer 224,57. 198,93: 178,32 12.9% 11.6%
Total Curtiss-Wright ~ $ 1,282,15! $ 1,130,92: $ 955,03¢ 13.4% 18.4%
Operating Income:
Flow Contro $  60,54: $  54,50¢ $ 44,45! 11.1% 22.%
Motion Contro 55,24: 50,48¢ 44,89: 9.4% 12.5%
Metal Treatmer 42,38¢ 34,47( 28,11 23.% 22.%
Total Segmen 158,16¢ 139,46« 117,45! 13.&% 18.7%
Corporate & Othe (17,54)) (1,487) (7,119 1,083.0%6 (79.2%)
Total Curtiss-Wright $ 140,62¢ $ 137,98. $ 110,34: 1.9% 25.1%
Operating Margins:
Flow Contro 11.(% 11.7% 11.5%
Motion Contro 10.£% 10.£% 11.€%
Metal Treatmer 18.9% 17.2% 15.8%
Total Segmen 12.2% 12.2% 12.2%
Total Curtiss-Wright 11.% 12.2% 11.6%

Flow Control

Our Flow Control segment reported sales of $5448ltlomfor 2006, an 18% increase over 2005 sale$4#6.5 million. The sales increase
achieved through organic sales growth of 15% atesgaom our 2006 acquisitions of Enpro Systems @wantech, which contributed $1
million in incremental revenue. The increase inamig sales was driven by higher sales to the allgas market of $33.9 million, higher s:
to the power generation market of $15.1 milliond drigher sales to the U.S. Navy of $13.1 milliorighdidemand for our coker vah
continued in 2006 as the products continue to gagater market acceptance in the industry as atallad base continues to perform w
Coker valve sales accounted for 71% of the oil gas industry sales growth in 2006. Additionallyfirreries continued to invest money
increase capacity and improve plant efficiencie®df6. As a result, sales of our other producteeil and gas industry were up $10.1 mil
over the prior period. We also benefited from add#l repair services associated with turnaroundkwesulting from the hurricane damag
2005. Strong product demand from nuclear powertpldrove the increased sales in the power genaratarket versus 2005. Demand fi
nuclear power plants is driven by the timing ofurbfshment cycles and both scheduled and unschixqhldent outages, which can vary
timing and cause fluctuations from period to periomd2006, we expanded our electreechanical product line to include reactor vessealds
which supplemented the control rod drive mechanisales. Power generation revenues were driven lap $d valves, spare parts, i
services, which increased by $8.2 million, contadd drive mechanisms to nuclear power plants, antbnremanufactures, which increa
$5.7 million and $5.0 million, respectively, ovéetprior year periodThese increases to the commercial power generatoe partially offse
by a $3.9 million decrease in reactor coolant pwales because of the timing of orders. The higalessso the U.S. Navy were mainly dri
by increased generator, pump, and valve sales 2 $8illion for use on the CVN aircraft carrier.I&ato the U.S. Navy were also positi
impacted by additional engineering, analysis, aadetbpment work of $5.0 million, higher sales odattonic power supply products of $
million as we gain additional market share, anchbrgelectromechanical spares of $1.6 million, versus the prear. Partially offsetting the
naval sales was a $19.4 million decrease in gemrernatimp, and valve sales for submarines. Saléketd).S. Navy are dependant on N
procurement budgets and are subject to
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fluctuations due to timing of funding releasesatidition, foreign currency translation favorablypacted this segmet'sales by $0.9 millic
in 2006 compared to 2005.

Operating income for 2006 was $60.5 million, arréase of 11% over 2005 operating income of $5415omi The base business opera
income grew a solid 14% organically for the fullagyeended December 31, 2006, while the 2006 acppuisitnegatively impacted operat
income by $1.3 million in 2006 due to businessgration costs. The increase in the operating inctrora the base businesses resulted
higher sales volume, particularly from our cokeodarcts to the oil and gas industry. The overallebbasiness operating margin for
segment decreased 70 basis points in 2006 versymitr year period. The lower overall margins teslifrom several factors including hig
material, transportation, and fabrication costdipalarly within fixedprice valve contracts within the oil and gas indusGross margins
2006 were also impacted by additional testing amalification costs on newer products such as tmraebrod drive mechanisms in the nuc
power generation market and composite pumps amdanid drain product to the U.S. Navy. The new pcbdost overruns are common w
undertaking the design, manufacture, and qualioadf technically challenging products for thesfitime. Additionally, we experienced ¢
overruns on our JB-and ball valves servicing U.S. Navy aircraft tas and submarines, respectively. The cost ovemware associated w
improving the design of the products and higheremialt costs. Partially offsetting these impacts Wwater labor utilization within our electro-
mechanical division and better mix in other prodsales to the oil and gas industry for maintenarggair, and overhaul services associ
with refinery turnarounds.

Research and development costs increased $1.5mitli2006 over 2005 as additional investments weade to grow our commercial po\
business, partially offset by reimbursements otscasder joint projects with customers. Selling addinistrative costs were up 21% in 2
and were driven by increased infrastructure costarred to support our organic growth as well &L % million expense associated with
adoption of SFAS 123(R). In addition, foreign cumeeg translation favorably impacted operating incdmes0.2 million in 2006 as comparec
2005.

Backlog at December 31, 2006 is $434.9 million careg with $429.3 million at December 31, 2005 aB8653 million at December 31, 20
New orders received in 2006 totaled $545.6 mill@®% increase over 2005 new orders of $500.1anikind a 25% increase over new or
received in 2004. The increase is mainly due tonaw acquisitions, which accounted for $29.5 millin incremental new orders during 2C
and a 40% increase in new orders for our cokerevphoducts to the oil and gas industry. Partiaffgeiting these increases were lower or
from the U.S. Navy in 2006 compared to 2005.

Our Flow Control segment reported sales of $466Ikom for 2005, a 20% increase over 2004 sale$388.1 million. The sales increase
achieved through organic sales growth of 8% anldykdr sales contribution of our 2004 acquisitiofitNova Machine, Trentec, Groquip, ¢
EPD, which contributed $49.0 million in incrementatenue. The organic growth in sales was drivehipker sales to the oil and gas indu
of $22.6 million and higher product sales and depelent work to the defense market of $3.6 milli@oker valve products accounted
approximately 80% of the increased oil and gas etaskles due to greater customer acceptance areased installations, while our other
and gas valve and field service revenues were higgause of increased maintenance expendituresfingries worldwide. Higher valve sa
to the U.S. Navy of $8.3 million were driven byastg demand for our JP-5 jet fuel transfer valves laail valves used on Nimitzass aircra
carriers and Virginiazlass submarines, respectively. Electronic instntateon and digital signal processing card saleshawal platform
increased $7.4 million in 2005 as compared to 20b#se increased sales to the U.S. Navy were hyaniéset by anticipated lower revent
from electromechanical products because of timing of major mog. Revenues from pump production decreased $2dli8n in 2005 a
compared to 2004 due to completion of Los Angeled Wirginia class submarine production pump congreand development prototy
programs, such as for the CVN-21 aircraft caréer] were partially offset by sales for developmegatk on the U.S. Armys electromagnet
gun, which increased $10.7 million, and sales afegators which increased $4.8 million. In additiforeign currency translation favora
impacted this segment’s sales by $1.2 million if®206ompared to 2004.
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Operating income for 2005 was $54.5 million, arréase of 23% over 2004 operating income of $4415omi The base business opera
income grew 10% organically for the full year enddecember 31, 2005, while the 2004 acquisitiondrdmrted an additional $3.4 million
incremental operating income in 2005. The improwvetniie operating income of base businesses wasrdpvienarily by higher sales volun
Factors impacting the comparison of the 2005 basinbsses against 2004 include increased salesargins from our oil and gas produ
notably record orders for our coker valves andHigger margin field service and repairs businessaddition, the operating income ber
from the higher overall volume to the U.S. Navy wmstially offset by unfavorable mix within our eteonic products and lower mar:
development work performed in anticipation of fell@n production orders with the U.S. Army. Higher ranvaterial costs, such as the cos
steel, and higher administrative infrastructuretedsve adversely impacted our operating margmsaddition, foreign currency translat
favorably impacted operating income by $0.2 millior2005 as compared to 2004.

Motion Control

Our Motion Control segment reported sales of $5@8ilBon for 2006, a 10% increase over 2005 safes465.5 million. The sales increase
achieved mainly through organic sales growth of &% a full year of sales contribution related to 2005 acquisition, Indal, which incluc
$5.9 million of incremental revenue. The increaseiganic sales was driven mainly by higher sadethé commercial aerospace marke
$27.6 million and higher sales to the military netekof $18.9 million, which was partially offset bydecrease in sales to the general indu
market of $5.7 million. The growth in the commeld@rospace market was mainly related to an iner@s$20.2 million in commerci
aerospace OEM market sales. The OEM sales wererdiargely by increased sales of $9.3 million fontent on the Boeing 700 sel
platforms, due mainly to an increase in sbgis and new programs, and $9.5 million of senasodscomponents, due mainly to new custc
programs, expansion of existing product lines, aeev products, such as the recently approved Eclgisgaft. Commercial aerosp:
aftermarket sales increased $7.4 million from pyear, with $4.0 million attributable to the repaird overhaul business as conditions imp
in the industry. The remaining increase was dubigber spares sales of $3.4 million, mainly rela@dmproving conditions in the indust
There was also an increase in sales of sensor godinich was mainly related to smoke detectioriaesvand flight recorders due to impro
general economic conditions. Higher sales to tHéan were driven by a $25.2 million increase ales to the defense ground market. Hi
sales of our embedded computing products of $14llomused on various ground defense vehicles wdrreen by warrelated orders
additional spares and resets for the Bradley Rightiehicle, new production orders for the Armorezt @ity Vehicle, and additional ord
from other military programs. The remaining chamges caused by growth in sales of our ruggedizedamjilground vehicle subsystems tc
used on the Future Combat System program. Thesmwaments were partially offset by a $7.5 milli@duction in the defense aerosg
market. The decrease is attributable to lower salesirborne sensor products of $7.6 million reésgltfrom the completion of contracts ¢
lower sales for electronic communication device$2b million due to reduced customer demand, aértoffset by stronger orders for varic
helicopter programs, especially for the Blackhailke defense navy market remained relatively flamfr2005, while a $6.9 million reducti
to the other government agencies related maintheaccompletion of the manned space flight contrdeastially offsetting these improveme
were lower sales of other sensor and controlledyxets to the general industrial market of $5.7ionll The decrease is primarily due to lo
sales of controller products of $3.1 million to theropean market as a primary customer for theséugts continued its transition to frous:
production.

Operating income for 2006 increased $4.8 millior$5%.2 million, an increase of 9% over 2005 opamthcome of $50.5 million. The b
business operating income grew 11% organicallytfier year ended December 31, 2006, while the 20@@isition negatively impact:
operating income by $0.8 million in 2006 due toagslin timing of their contracts. The improvemenbperating income was driven prima
by the higher sales volume, partially offset bywariavorable mix of sales to the aerospace defersd&ats. The lower gross margins w
associated with increased development work, whistivds lower margins and was performed in antiagmabf follow-on production order
investments in new programs which were competigiv@tl, and slightly higher material costs on thg peograms such as the 737 platfc
The segment also experienced cost overruns onircelt@elopment contracts, the bulk of which related fixed price contract for the 7
tanker refueling program. Also negatively impactmgss margins was unfavorable foreign currencystedion, as described in more de
below.
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The lower gross margin percentages did not haw@gasficant an effect on the overall operating niaggof the segment as operating cos
2006 remained flat as compared to 2005. Researtkderelopment costs declined $2.9 million becaheericreased engineering effort was
into development contracts. As a result, thesescaist classified as cost of goods sold on therstateof income. Additionally, we are see
the benefits of integration efforts as redundaseasch and development activities are consolidaspecially in our embedded compu
division. Selling, general, and administrative sostere up 7% over 2005, which includes overcomimg tinfavorable impact of forei
currency translation and the impact of adopting SFE3(R), where the expensing of stock optionseim®ed general and administra
expenses by $1.5 million as compared to the préaryperiod. Operating cost reductions were expegiégrihrough business unit integra
efforts, as well as significant costitting initiatives implemented during the currgmar at all facilities. Overall, operating incomeas
negatively impacted by foreign currency translatadn$2.4 million despite the favorable impact cagy translation had on sales. Thi:
primarily due to certain Canadian operations whgees are primarily denominated in U.S. dollarsl, ahus, changes in the foreign curre
rates directly impact Canadian dollar operatingsesth no offsetting effect on sales.

Backlog at December 31, 2006, was $438.6 milliomgared with $374.5 million at December 31, 2005 $829.6 million at December <
2004. New orders received in 2006 totaled $56316amj up slightly over the 2005 new orders of $56fillion and a 47% increase over r
orders received in 2004. The timing of strong asder our embedded computing and sensors and ¢epimaducts were mostly offset by lov
orders for our mechanical actuator products.

Our Motion Control segment reported sales of $466ilion for 2005, a 20% increase over 2004 sale$388.6 million. The higher sal
largely reflect the contributions of our 2005 aaifinn of Indal, and the full year contributions air 2004 acquisitions of Dy 4, Synergy,
Primagraphics. The 2005 incremental sales assdovaith these acquisitions amounted to $49.9 milli@nganic sales increased 7%. Sale
the base business were driven by several factochyding a $7.4 million increase in commercial apace OEM market sales. Commel
aerospace OEM sales were driven largely by incoedsenand for our actuation systems content on theer§y 737 platform and increased s
of sensors and components. Commercial aerosparenaftket sales increased $8.8 million during théode with $4.3 million of that increa
in our repair and overhaul business, driven by owjrg conditions in the commercial airline industryhile spares sales contributed
additional $4.0 million. The remaining change irr oummercial markets was highlighted by $3.4 millaf higher controller product sales
use in general industrial applications, which wastiplly offset by the expiration of a tilting traidrive systems project in Europe, wt
contributed $3.7 million in sales in 2004. We akxperienced a $3.2 million sales increase in thferde aerospace market, driver
production work on the new AMPR39 radar warning system for use on various bpter programs, along with strong sales increas
ruggedized embedded computing. Remaining saldsetonilitary aerospace market were essentiallyafaincreased ship set production of
actuation systems on the F-22 aircraft were offiselower sales of B-6 spares. Sales to the ground defense marketwpe$d.6 million, a
higher turret drive stabilization systems and mebilin systems sales were largely offset by lowarespsales for the Bradley Fighting Vehi
In addition, foreign currency translation negatywiehpacted sales by $0.1 million in 2005 as comg&oe2004.

Operating income for 2005 increased $5.6 millicfclover 2004. Operating income in our base busasesereased 14%, driven primarily
higher sales volume and related improvements isggroargin. The operating margins in 2005 decre&8eHasis points to 10.8%. Facl
impacting the comparison of the 2005 base busisesgainst 2004 include increased sales and mafrgimnscommercial aerospace progra
notably the Boeing 737 and 747 programs, and fédleradustry trends in the markets for commercitdranarket services and spares lea
to higher sales and margins, and cost reductidiativies. Offsetting these increases are the camoplef a tilting train drive systems projec
Europe and lower B6 spares orders, both high margin products thatribaited favorably in 2004, continuing integratiefforts in th
embedded computing business, and lower marginsiassd with development work performed in anticipatof follow-on production order
the bulk of which related to cost overruns on adiyrice contract for the 767 tanker refueling paog

The 2005 operating margin associated with busigeasquired in 2004 and 2005 was 6.1%, significaltlyer than the base busines
however, we expect our integration efforts will irpe these margins in the future. In the currerdry®ur newly acquired businesses’
operating income was impacted by the delay of erflarour naval systems products, which was ardteigh to be realized in 2005, the ongt
integration efforts in the embedded computing bessn and margin erosion from changes in foreighaxge rates on certain foreign curre
denominated contracts for similar products.

Page 35




Metal Treatmen

Our Metal Treatment segment reported sales of $2@4llion in 2006, an increase of 13% over 200%salf $198.9 million. Organic sa
growth of 9% contributed $18.1 million to the inase, while our 2006 acquisition contributed $7.@liom of incremental revenue. T
segment experienced organic sales growth in nadlrbyf its markets, led by increased sales to thraroercial aerospace and general indu
markets of $7.0 million and $4.0 million, respeetix Meanwhile, sales to the defense, power geeraand oil and gas markets incree
$3.7 million, $2.1 million, and $1.9 million, resgévely, offset by a slight decline in sales to theomotive market of $0.7 million as compe
to 2005. The sales growth to the commercial aexzspaarket was driven by customer production requargs for shot peen forming servic
primarily on wing components on the Airbus familfyaircraft, coatings services for engine componemd®Boeing aircraft, and other peer
and coating services on various OEMSs. Increasess <&l our heat treating services drove the orggrowth in the general industrial mar
while sales increases in the defense, power geoeyaind oil and gas markets were driven primabilysales of our shot peening services,
primarily to the continued strengthening of theremmy. The slight decline in sales to the automotharket was due to lower demand of
shot peening services in North America partiallisef by increased European demand. In additioejdarcurrency translation had a favor:
impact on sales of $1.3 million in 2006 compare@@65.

Operating income for 2006 increased 23% to $42 Hiomifrom $34.5 million during 2005, mainly due tdgher sales volume. The b
businesses increased 21% while the acquisition ma@806 generated incremental operating incom®0of million. Overall, our operatil
income margin percentage improved 160 basis paiaigly as a result of improved gross margins fromtigher sales volume, particularh
our heat treating division, in addition to cost ouas on certain shot peening jobs incurred ateticeof 2004 and beginning of 2005. The hi
gross margins were offset by increased operatipgrses, which in the past have remained relatilalySelling, general, and administrai
costs of the base businesses increased 15% ovpritlieyear period, driven primarily by increasadck-based compensation of $1.1 mill
associated with the 2006 implementation of SFAS(RR3increased research and development costs & ®illion due to continue
development of our laser peening technology, andreal increase in employee salaries and othefatipgrcosts. Foreign currency transla
had a nominal positive impact on operating incom2d06 compared to 2005.

Backlog at December 31, 2006 was $2.1 million comgavith $1.9 million at December 31, 2005. Newassdreceived in 2006 totaled $2Z
million, a 13% increase from 2005 new orders of Q9million and a 26% increase over new ordersivedein 2004. The increase is mai
due to the improvement in the global economy, wipickitively impacted the core shot peening busireass the segment’s recent acquisition.

Our Metal Treatment segment reported sales of $188llion in 2005, an increase of 12% over 2004&saif $178.3 million. Organic sa
growth of 11% contributed $18.2 million to the iaase. The organic growth was due to solid perfocmam our global shot peening servir
which contributed $13.5 million of additional salesinly in the European commercial aerospace aolaglautomotive markets. Increase
shotpeen forming services, primarily on wing componemtsthe Airbus family of aircraft including the A@8and shot peening services
aircraft engines were both driven by customer petida requirements. Sales of shot peening senfimethe automotive industry increase
both Europe and North America by $2.7 million aridi$million, respectively, due to favorable overtd#pexisting and new programs in the 1
half of 2005, partially offset by decreased volunfreen General Motors and Ford in the second hal2@®5. Sales of our heat treating
coatings divisions were up $2.1 million and $1.9lion, respectively, over 2004. The increases wadgaved primarily from the commerc
aerospace market, as customer demand for theseeseon aircraft component parts increased withcthr@inuing recovery of the aerosp
market. In 2005, laser peening sales were esdgrftetl compared to 2004, as we continue to develpplications for this new technology tc
used on highly stressed critical components inttineine engine, aircraft structures, medical implamd oil and gas markets. The remai
sales increase in 2005 was due to contribution® foor 2004 acquisitions, which contributed $1.7lioml of incremental sales during 20
Foreign currency translation had a nominal positipact on sales in 2005 compared to 2004.

Operating income for 2005 increased 23% to $3418omifrom $28.1 million during 2004, mainly due kigher sales volume. Gross mart
improved slightly on the higher sales volume, p@dliti offset by higher energy costs of $2.3 milligerjmarily in our heat treating divisic
However, the impact of the greater sales volumefelasnost significantly on operating income, whitad margins of 17.3% in 2005 compk
to 15.8% in 2004. Selling, general, and administeatosts, which are generally fixed in nature ré@sed only 4% over 2004, contributing
the higher operating income margin percentage.igioreurrency translation had a nominal impact orraping income in 2005 comparec
2004.
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Corporate and Other Expenses

Non-segment operating costs consist mainly of pensigense associated with the Curtl8sght Pension Plans, environmental remedie
and administrative expenses, and other income gpehse not directly associated with the ongoindoperance of the segments. We had non-
segment operating costs of $17.5 million, $1.5iomll and $7.1 million in 2006, 2005, and 2004, extjvely.

Pension expense associated with the CuWiisgtht Pension Plans was $6.2 million, $2.0 milliand $0.5 million in 2006, 2005, and 2C
respectively. The increase in pension expense 0% 28 compared to 2005 and 2004 is due to a settlecharge resulting from the retirerr
of a key executive and his subsequent electiordeive his pension benefit as a single lump sunoytappecial termination benefits offe
for a limited period of time to certain employeaglie Motion Control segment who were subject tedaction in workforce, increased sen
costs due to greater headcount, as well as higimpensation expense, offset by lower interest costs

Environmental remediation and administration castgresented $0.8 million, $0.8 million, and $5.3lliov in 2006, 2005 and 20(C
respectively. The higher expense in 2004 was dua ##.4 million increase in remediation reserveuienents related to the Caldw
Trucking landfill superfund site. In the fourth qtex of 2006, we established a reserve in the amotn$6.5 million to reflect potenti
liabilities arising from a jury verdict returnedaigst us in a lawsuit filed by a former employees ¥so realized a gain of $2.8 million dut
2005 on the sale of a former operating propertated in Fairfield, New Jersey. In addition, highwallocated medical costs of $2.0 mill
associated with the pooling of self-insurance castounted for the remaining difference in 2006@spared to 2005 and 2004.

Interest Expens

Interest expense increased $2.9 million in 2006gamed to 2005. The increase was due to higherestieates partially offset by lower aver
outstanding debt. Our average borrowing rate irsg@a’0 basis points in 2006 as compared to 200% whir average outstanding d
decreased 3% for the comparable periods. IntergEnse in 2005 increased $8.0 million from 2004hwhigher interest rates accounting
approximately 54% of the increase. The remainigeiase was due to higher debt levels associatédatfunding of our acquisitions.

Provision for Income Taxe

Our effective tax rates for 2006, 2005, and 2004 ,34..5%, 36.4%, and 34.1%, respectively. Our Zf@&ctive tax rate included tax benefit
$2.0 million relating to research and developmeadits from our Canadian operations, the impaet Ganadian tax law change enacted di
the second quarter of 2006, which resulted in & $#dillion favorable adjustment, and the release tdix reserve associated with the sale
former facility following the expiration of the stae of limitations, which resulted in a $1.5 nuhi favorable adjustment, net of tax. Our 2
effective tax rate included a charge of $0.3 millfoom the repatriation of foreign earnings under American Jobs Creation Act of 2004.
2004 effective tax rate included nonrecurring bisdbtaling $3.4 million resulting primarily frorthe change in legal structure of one of
subsidiaries and a favorable IRS appeals settlement
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Sources and Uses of Cash

We derive the majority of our operating cash inflol@m receipts on the sale of goods and servicéscash outflow for the procurement
materials and labor; cash flow is therefore subjeanarket fluctuations and conditions. A substmiortion of our business is in the defe
sector, which is characterized by long-term corngraklost of our longerm contracts allow for several billing pointsdgress or mileston
that provide us with cash receipts as costs angriied throughout the project rather than upon emttcompletion, thereby reducing work
capital requirements. In some cases, these payroantsxceed the costs incurred on a project.

Operating Activities

Our working capital was $330.5 million at DecemB&r 2006, an increase of $61.5 million from the kirng capital at December 31, 200¢
$269.0 million. Our ratio of current assets to eatrliabilities was 2.1 to 1 at December 31, 2006 2.2 to 1 at December 31, 2005. Cast
cash equivalents totaled $124.5 million in the aggte at December 31, 2006, up from $59.0 milliobDecember 31, 2005. Excluding
impact on cash, working capital decreased $4.0ianjlipartially due to 2006 acquisitions. Inventdiglances rose primarily as a result
build up for expected increases in sales in 20Q¥ strategic initiatives to lower turaround time for deliveries. We also procured addai
material to hedge against rising steel prices hadstocking of long lead time materials for newgpeans. Accounts receivable increased di
higher sales volume as sales in December 2006 &% higher than December 2005 offset by strongectitin efforts of receivables frc
certain large projects. Unbilled receivables inseghdue to an increase in long-term contracts ateddor under the percentageaufmpletior
method as well as increased contracts for whiclgness billings do not apply. These increases teritory and receivables were offset b
increase in deferred revenue resulting from higlterance payments from our customers. We also epsd an increase in accounts pay
and accrued expenses associated with the build inpentories and higher accrued compensation.

Our short-term debt was $5.9 million at DecemberZD6 and $0.9 million at December 31, 2005. @ugkerm debt was $359.0 million
December 31, 2006, a decrease of $5.0 million frieenbalance at December 31, 2005. The decreasee&ilh of a shift in the classification
one of our Industrial Revenue Bonds from long-telebt to shorterm debt; the Industrial Revenue Bond was paidreoruary 1, 2007. Da
sales outstanding at December 31, 2006 increas#8l days from 43 days at December 31, 2005 whileritory turnover decreased to 5.5 ti
at December 31, 2006 as compared to 5.6 turnsearbieer 31, 2005.

Cash and cash equivalents totaled $59.0 milliothéraggregate at December 31, 2005, up from $41ill®mat December 31, 2004. T
increase was primarily due to an increase in cashcash equivalents following the 2005 Senior Naftering and subsequent pay down of
outstanding debt under our revolving credit faigitit Excluding the impact on cash, working capitateased $38.8 million partially due to
Indal acquisition made in the first quarter of 2006e remainder of the increase was driven maiglynbreases in inventory of $26.9 milli
and accounts receivables of $21.6 million. Inventealances rose primarily as a result of build apexpected increases in sales in 200¢
strategic initiatives to lower turaround time for deliveries. Accounts receivabledéased due to the timing of contractual billingd ardustn
cycles, partially offset by collection of receivablfrom certain large projects outstanding at Déxar31, 2004. Unbilled receivables incret
substantially due to funding and other operatiatedys by certain customers as well as increasettazds for which progress billings do
apply. Partially offsetting these increases in vimgkcapital requirements was an increase in aceopgyable and accrued expenses asso
with the build up of inventories and higher accregedpensation.

Investing Activitie:

We have acquired twenty-eight businesses since a@flexpect to continue to seek acquisitions tfetansistent with our lontgrm growtl
strategy. A combination of cash resources, funddlale under our credit agreement, and proceens &ur Senior Notes were utilized to fi
our acquisitions, which totaled $39.5 million an@3$L million in 2006 and 2005, respectively. Asidaded in Note 2 to the Consolida
Financial Statements, some of our acquisition agesgs contain purchase price adjustments, sucbtastal earrsut payments and worki
capital adjustments. During 2006, we made approtalpe$4.4 million in such payments relative to priperiod acquisitions. Addition
acquisitions will depend, in part, on the avail&pibf financial resources at a cost of capitalt theeets our stringent criteria. As such, fu
acquisitions, if any, may be funded through the afseur cash and
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cash equivalents, through additional financing lal#é under the credit agreement, or through neaniting alternatives.

Our capital expenditures were $40.2 million in 20$82.4 million in 2005, and $32.5 million in 200@apital expenditures relate primarily
new and replacement machinery and equipment anéxpansion of new product lines within the businesgments. During 2006, we &
expanded the reach of our metal treatment sendgeadding one new plant in Europe, while in 2005 relecated one of our flow cont
facilities to a new and more efficient manufactgrfacility.

Financing Activities

On December 1, 2005, we issued $150.0 million 51% Senior Series Notes (the “2005 Note®Yr 2005 Notes mature on December 1, .
and are senior unsecured obligations, equal irt G§payment to our existing senior indebtedness, 8 our option, can prepay at any timi
or any part of our 2005 Notes, subject to a makele payment in accordance with the terms of théeNPurchase Agreement. In connec
with our 2005 Notes, we paid customary fees thaehmeen deferred and are being amortized overetine of our 2005 Notes. We are requ
under the Note Purchase Agreement to maintainioditeancial ratios, the most restrictive of whicha debt to capitalization limit of 60%, ¢
a cross default provision with our other seniomibigédness. As of December 31, 2006, we were in kange with all covenants.

In November 2005, we unwound our interest rate ssgapements with notional amounts of $20 milliod &0 million which were original
put in place to convert a portion of our fixed iatet on the $75 million 5.13% Senior Notes and $h#lBon 5.74% Senior Notes, respectiv
to variable rates based on specified spreads axenenth LIBOR. The unwinding of these swap agreemesssilted in a net loss of $
million, which has been deferred and is being aimedtover the remaining term of the underlying debt

On September 25, 2003 we issued $200.0 millioneniicB Notes (the “2003 Notes"Jhe 2003 Notes consist of $75.0 million of 5.13%iSk
Notes that mature on September 25, 2010 and $12H#i06n of 5.74% Senior Notes that mature on Seften5, 2013. Our 2003 Notes
senior unsecured obligations and are equal in Bgpayment to our existing senior indebtedness, &/eur option, can prepay at any time
or any part of our 2003 Notes, subject to a makele payment in accordance with the terms of tbhéeNPurchase Agreement. In connec
with our 2003 Notes, we paid customary fees thaehmeen deferred and are being amortized oveetihestof the 2003 Notes. We are reqL
under the Note Purchase Agreement to maintaininditeancial ratios, the most restrictive of whiisha debt to capitalization limit of 60% &
a cross default provision with our other seniomibigédness. As of December 31, 2006, we were in kange with all covenants.

At December 31, 2006, we had a $400 million revajveredit agreement (the “Agreement/ith a group of ten banks. The Agreement ex|
in 2009. Borrowings under the Agreement bear irstea¢ a floating rate based on market conditiomsaddition, our interest rate and leve
facility fees are dependent on certain financidlordevels, as defined in the Agreement. We arejemtbto annual facility fees on t
commitments under the Agreement. In connection tighAgreement, we paid customary transaction tfesgshave been deferred and are b
amortized over the term of the Agreement. We ageiired under the Agreement to maintain certainrfoi@ ratios and meet certain finan
tests, the most restrictive of which is a debtapitalization limit of 55% and a cross default gsian with our other senior indebtedness.
Agreement does not contain any subjective acc&eratauses. As of December 31, 2006, we were mptiance with all covenants and |
the flexibility to issue additional debt of apprmately $542 million without exceeding the coveniémit defined in the Agreement. We wo!
consider other financing alternatives to maintapital structure balance and ensure compliance alitdebt covenants. We did not have
cash borrowings outstanding (excluding lettersreftlit) under the Agreement at December 31, 2006Dwtmber 31, 2005. The unused ci
available under the Agreement at December 31, 2236$362.2 million.

Our industrial revenue bonds, which are collateealiby real estate, were $14.2 million at Decen#ier2006 and December 31, 2005.
loans outstanding under the 2003 and 2005 Notemrelst Rate Swaps, Revolving Credit Agreement,laddstrial Revenue Bonds had varie
interest rates averaging 5.38% for 2006 and 4.67192005.
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Future Commitment

Cash generated from operations is considered atietjueneet our operating cash requirements fougm®ming year, including planned cag
expenditures of approximately $50 million to $60lion, interest payments of approximately $22 roiflito $24 million, estimated income

payments of approximately $50 million to $60 mitjadividends of approximately $11 million, pensfoimding of approximately $5 million

$6 million, and additional working capital requiremis. We have approximately $3 million in shieMm environmental liabilities, which
management’s estimation of cash requirements f@62@dditionally, we are committed to potential maut payments on seven of .
acquisitions dating back to 2001, which are eseuiab be between approximately $14 million and &iiion in 2007. There can be

assurance, however, that we will continue to gererash flow at the current level. If cash generéitem operations is not sufficient to supj
these operating requirements and investing aesjitive may be required to reduce capital experdifwefinance a portion of our existing d
or obtain additional financing.

In 2007, our capital expenditures are expecteddtude the construction of new facilities, expansid facilities to accommodate new proc
lines, and new machinery and equipment, such asi@ual investment in our laser peening technology.

The following table quantifies our significant fuéucontractual obligations and commercial committees of December 31, 2006:

(In thousands Total 2007 200¢ 200¢ 201( 2011 Thereafte
Debt Principal

Repayment§? $ 364990 $ 587/ % 62  $ 64 $ 75066 $ 68 $  283,86(

Interest Payments on
Fixed Rate Debt 152,87( 19,28¢ 19,28¢ 19,28¢ 18,25« 15,44( 61,317
Operating leases 79,68( 16,89¢ 15,15: 12,617 9,947 7,50: 17,56¢
Total 597,54 $ 42,05 $ 34,50: $ 31,96¢ $ 103,26° $ 23,01 $ 362,73t
1) Amounts exclude a $0.1 million adjustment to the fair value of long-term debt relating to the Corporation’s interest rate swap agreements that were settled in

cash during 2005.

We do not have material purchase obligations. Mbstur raw material purchase commitments are magetty pursuant to specific contr:
requirements.

We enter into standby letters of credit agreemeiitts financial institutions and customers primanigfating to guarantees of repayment or
Industrial Revenue Bonds, future performance otagecontracts to provide products and serviced,tarsecure advance payments we
received from certain international customers. AgcBmber 31, 2006, we had contingent liabilitiesootstanding letters of credit due
follows:

(In thousands Total 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 Thereafte
Letters of Credit? ¢ 37,814 $ 14,059 $ 20,723 $2,439 $ — $ — $ 592
@ Amounts indicated as thereafter are letters of credit which expire in 2009 under our revolver, but will automatically renew on the date of expiration.

Critical Accounting Estimates and Policies

Our consolidated financial statements and acconipgmpotes are prepared in accordance with geneaaltgpted accounting principles in
United States of America. Preparing consolidatedrfcial statements requires us to make estimatkassumptions that affect the repo
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, and esgeThese estimates and assumptions are affecthd bpplication of our accounting polic
Critical accounting policies are those that reqaipplication of managemeastmost difficult, subjective, or complex judgmerdfien as a rest
of the need to make estimates about the effectsadters that are inherently uncertain and may ohamgubsequent periods. We believe
the following are some of the more critical judgmareas in the application of our accounting peBcihat affect our financial condition ¢
results of operations:
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Revenue Recognitic

The realization of revenue refers to the timingtsfrecognition in our accounts and is generallgsidered realized or realizable and ea
when the earnings process is substantially compledeall of the following criteria are met: 1) paaisive evidence of an arrangement exist
delivery has occurred or services have been redfd8)eour price to our customer is fixed or deterafile; and 4) collectibility is reasona
assured.

We record sales and related profits on productimhservice type contracts as units are shippedi@dnd risk of loss have transferred o
services are rendered. This method is used in @talMreatment segment and in some of the busimeiss within the Motion Control ai
Flow Control segments that serve non-military megke

For certain contracts in our Flow Control and MatiGontrol segments that require performance oveexanded period before delivel
begin, sales and estimated profits are recordeappyying the percentage-of-completion method obaating. The percentage-obmpletior
method of accounting is used primarily for our ehsfe contracts and certain lotegm commercial contracts. This method recognizesmu
and profit as the contracts progress towards caiopleFor certain contracts that contain a sigaificnumber of performance milestones
defined by the customer, sales are recorded bgsmu achievement of these performance milestones p&hformance milestone method i
output measure of progress towards completion nraderms of results achieved. For certain fixecc@rcontracts, where none or a lim
number of milestones exist, the cost-to-cost metbagsed, which is an input measure of progresatdwompletion. Under the cost-tos
input method, sales and profits are recorded basdtie ratio of costs incurred to an estimate stat completion. Under our percentage-of-
completion methods of accounting, a single estichatéal profit margin is used to recognize proéit £ach contract over its entire perio
performance.

Application of percentage-afempletion methods of revenue recognition requihesuse of reasonable and dependable estimatés dfiture
material, labor, and overhead costs that will bruired and a disciplined cost estimating systerwliich all functions of the business
integrally involved. These estimates are determibased upon industry knowledge and experience pfengineers, project managers,
financial staff. These estimates are significard egflect changes in cost and operating performamarighout the contract and could ha
significant impact on our operating performancejustiments to original estimates for contract reerastimated costs at completion, anc
estimated total profit are often required as worigpesses throughout the contract and as expergmtenore information is obtained, e
though the scope of work under the contract maychahge. These changes are recorded on a cumudasigin the period they are determ
to be necessary.

Under the percentage-abmpletion method of accounting, provisions forireated losses on uncompleted contracts are recegriie th
period in which the likelihood of such losses aetedmined. Amounts representing contract changersrdre included in revenue only w
they can be estimated reliably and their realizattoreasonably assured. Certain contracts coptaivisions for the redetermination of pi
and, as such, management defers a portion of temue from those contracts until such time as tfe thas been finalized.

Some of our customers withhold certain amounts fileenbillings they receive. These retainages anegdly not due until the project has b
completed and accepted by the customer.

Inventory

Inventory costs include materials, direct laboid amnufacturing overhead costs, which are statélgeabwer of cost or market, where ma
is limited to the net realizable value. We estinthenet realizable value of our inventories ardl#ish reserves to reduce the carrying arr
of these inventories to net realizable value, aesgary. We continually evaluate the adequacyeofrtentory reserves by reviewing histor
scrap rates, ohand quantities as compared with historical angepted usage levels, and other anticipated conahctquirements. The sta
inventory costs are also reflective of the estimaiged in applying the percentage-of-completioemere recognition method.
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We purchase materials for the manufacture of coraptenfor sale. The decision to purchase a set fyafta particular item is influenced
several factors including: current and projectddeprfuture estimated availability, existing anajpcted contracts to produce certain items
the estimated needs for our businesses.

For certain of our longerm contracts, we utilize progress billings, whielpresent amounts billed to customers prior todilesery of good
and services and are recorded as a reduction emtosy and receivables. Progress billings are gdigelbased on costs incurred, incluc
direct costs, overhead, and general and administredsts.

Pension and Other Postretirement Bene

In consultation with our actuaries, we determine #ppropriate assumptions for use in determinimglidbility for future pension and ott
postretirement benefits. The most significant afsih assumptions include the number of employeeswithreceive benefits, their tenure, tr
salary levels, the expected return on plan astetgjiscount rates used to determine plan obliggtiand the trends in the costs of medica
other health care benefits in the case of the ptiment benefit obligations. Changes in thesamapsions, if significant in future years, n
have an effect on our pension and postretiremepérese, associated pension and postretirement assgtBabilities, and our annual ci
requirements to fund these plans.

The discount rate used to determine the benefigatibns of the plans as of December 31, 2006,thadcannual periodic costs for 2007
increased in 2006 to 6.0% for all the U.S. pengilams and the EMD postretirement benefit plan tibelbeeflect current economic conditio
The rate was based on current and future econawicators. The increase in the discount rate dserkthe benefit obligation of the plans.
discount rate for the Curtidskight postretirement benefit plan remained at 5i5%2006. The lower rate in comparison to the otblans i:
because the plan is closed to new entrants, andxjected payouts are shorter in duration tharother plans. We also updated the rat
compensation increase for the pension plans terbettiect the experience over the past yearstam€orporatiors expectation of future sal:
increases. This change caused an increase tonleétbligation.

The overall expected return on assets assumptibased on a combination of historical performanfcthe pension fund and expectation
future performance. The historical returns are mieitged using the markeelated value of assets, which is the same valaa us the
calculation of annual net periodic benefit coste Tharketrelated value of assets includes the recognitiorealized and unrealized gains
losses over a five-year period, which effectivelgrages the volatility associated with the actwafgrmance of the plag’assets from year
year. Over the last ten years the me-related value of assets had an average annualofidld.2%, whereas the actual returns averaged
during the same period. We have consistently use®Bt5% rate as a lortgrm overall average return. Given the uncertasntiethe currel
economic and geopolitical landscapes, we consiteB15% rate to be a reasonable assumption ofitheeflong-term investment returns.

The longterm medical trend assumptions start with a currata that is in line with expectations for the miaure, and then grades the r:
down over time until it reaches an ultimate ratat tis close to expectations for growth in GDP. Téasoning is that medical trends cal
continue to be higher than the rate of GDP growthhie long term. Any change in the expectationhee rates to return to a normal i
should have an impact on the amount of expenseoagnize.

The timing and amount of future pension incomexgease to be recognized each year is dependehteatemographics and expected earr
of the plan participants, the expected interestsrat effect in future years, and the actual angketed investment returns of the assets i
pension trust.

The following table reflects the impact of changeselected assumptions used to determine the fuatiéus of the Corporatigpensio
plans as of December 31, 2006:

Increase ir
Percentag Benefit Increase ir
Assumption Point Changt Obligation Expense
Discount rate (0.25%) $ 10,361 $ 88¢
Rate of compensation incree 0.25% 2,420 56€
Expected return on asst (0.25%) — 858
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See Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statesrfentfurther information on our pension and pditenent plans, including an estimats
future cash contributions.

Environmental Reservt

We provide for environmental reserves on a sitasiteybasis when, in conjunction with internal amteenal legal counsel, it is determined
a liability is both probable and estimable. In maages, the liability is not fixed or capped whenfist record a liability for a particular sité
only a range of potential liability can be estinthéand no amount within the range is more probdide tanother, a reserve will be establish
the low end of that range. At sites involving npiki parties, we accrue environmental liabilitiesdzhupon our expected share of the liab
taking into account the financial viability of oather jointly liable partners. Judgment is requivdten we make assumptions and estimate
expected to be incurred for environmental remeatiatictivities because of, among other factorsjatlifiies in assessing the extent and tyy
environmental remediation to be performed, the ichjd complex environmental regulations and remtgatiatechnologies, and agreems
between potentially responsible parties to sharéhéncost of remediation. In estimating the futliadility and continually evaluating tl
sufficiency of such liabilities, we weigh certaiactors including our participation percentage due tsettlement by or bankruptcy of of
potentially responsible parties, a change in theérenmental laws requiring more stringent requiretse an increase or decrease in
estimated time required to remediate, a changéénestimate of future costs that will be incurredrémediate the site, and change
technology related to environmental remediation. #denot believe that continued compliance with esrwinental laws applicable to «
operations will have a material adverse effect an financial condition or results of operation. Hoxer, given the level of judgment ¢
estimation used in the recording of environmengslerves, it is reasonably possible that materidiffierent amounts could be recorde
different assumptions were used or if circumstamoe® to change, such as environmental regulationsmediation solution remedies.

As of December 31, 2006, our environmental resetotded $23.7 million, the majority of which isnlg term. Approximately 75% of t
environmental reserves represent the current \afloer anticipated remediation costs and are rsatalinted primarily due to the uncertaint
timing of expenditures. The remaining environmengslerves are discounted to reflect the time vafuaoney since the amount and timing
cash payments for the liability are reasonably meitgable. We use a discount rate of 4%, which axiprates an amount at which
environmental liability could be settled in an asméngth transaction with a third party. All enviroental reserves exclude any pote
recovery from insurance carriers or third-partyalegctions.

Purchase Accountin

We apply the purchase method of accounting to oquiaitions. Under this method, the purchase piitduding any capitalized acquisiti
costs, is allocated to the underlying tangible em@ngible assets acquired and liabilities assubsexkd on their respective fair market val
with any excess recorded as goodwill. We deterntligefair values of such assets and liabilities,egalty in consultation with thirgharty
valuation advisors. Such fair value assessmentsdreegignificant judgments and estimates such aefgted cash flows, discount rates, roy
rates, and remaining useful lives that can diffeterially from actual results. The fair value obeits acquired (net of cash) and liabili
assumed of our 2006 acquisitions were estimatédxb t842.4 million and $7.4 million, respectively.eTimitial fair values assigned to certait
these acquisitions are preliminary and may be eevfgior to finalization, which is to be completsihin a reasonable period, generally wi
one year of acquisition.

Goodwill

We have $411.1 million in goodwill as of Decembér 2006. The recoverability of goodwill is subjéatan annual impairment test bases
the estimated fair value of the underlying busires#\dditionally, goodwill is tested for impairmemhen an event occurs or if circumstar
change that would more likely than not reduce #ievfalue of a reporting unit below its carrying@mt. These estimated fair values are b
on estimates of future cash flows of the businedsastors affecting these future cash flows incltlte continued market acceptance of
products and services offered by the businessesgelielopment of new products and services by tisnbsses and the underlying cos
development, the future cost structure of the essias, and future technological changes. Estimaag¢eslso used for the Corporatisrcost @
capital in discounting the projected future casiw8. If it has been determined that impairmentd@=urred, we may be required to recog
an impairment of our asset, which would be limitedhe difference between the book value of thetamsd its fair value. Any such impairm
would be recognized in full in the reporting periadvhich it has been identified.
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Other Intangible Assets

Other intangible assets are generally the resudtcgliisitions and consist primarily of purchasezhtmlogy, customer related intangibles,
trademarks. Intangible assets are recorded at filieivalues as determined through purchase acowuribefinitelived intangible assets ¢
amortized ratably to match their cash flow streawer their estimated useful lives, which range frino 20 years, while indefinitiéved
intangible assets are not amortized. Indefitiited intangible assets are reviewed for impairmeamtually based on the discounted future
flows. Additionally, we review the recoverabilityf all intangible assets, including the related ukdfres, whenever events or change
circumstances indicate that the carrying amounhtmgt be recoverable. We would record any impairnire the reporting period in whick
has been identified.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In February 2006, the Financial Accounting StandaBbard (“FASB”)issued Statement of Financial Accounting StandaMds 155
Accounting for Certain Hybrid Financial Instrumer— an amendment of FASB Statements No. 133 an(fSBAS No. 155").SFAS No. 15
permits a fair value remeasurement for any hyhbirdrfcial instrument that contains an embedded deévir that would otherwise requ
bifurcation. This accounting standard is effectgeof the beginning of fiscal years beginning aBeptember 15, 2006. The Corporation 1
not anticipate that the adoption of this stateméhthave a material impact on the Corporation’sulés of operation or financial condition.

In March 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 1BG¢counting for Servicing of Financial Assets, aneadment of FASB Statement No.
(“SFAS No. 156").SFAS No. 156 requires that servicing assets andc#ay liabilities be recognized at fair value,ffacticable, when ti
Corporation enters into a servicing agreement dlovs two alternatives, the amortization and faafue measurement methods, as subse
measurement methods. This accounting standardeistiee for all new transactions occurring as @& beginning of fiscal years beginning a
September 15, 2006. The Corporation does not patieithat the adoption of this statement will havmaterial impact on the Corporatien’
results of operation or financial condition.

In June 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation NoAd&unting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, anfiptetation of FAS 109, Accounting
Income Taxe("FIN 48”), to create a single model to address accountingiricertainty in tax positions. FIN 48 clarifies thecounting fc
income taxes, by prescribing a minimum recognitibreshold a tax position is required to meet betoegng recognized in the financ
statements. FIN 48 also provides guidance on dgréiton, measurement, classification, interest padalties, accounting in interim peric
disclosure, and transition. FIN 48 is effective fmcal years beginning after December 15, 2006 Tlorporation will adopt FIN 48 as
January 1, 2007, as required. The cumulative effeeidopting FIN 48 will be recorded in retainedrgags and other accounts as applice
We are evaluating our tax positions and anticiplaaét the adoption of FIN 48 will not have a sigeéfint impact on our results of operations.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. BEs8ployers’Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and OthestRdirement Plar
(“SFAS No. 158").This Statement requires companies to recognizet $iatdlity or asset to report the funded statushadir defined bene
pension and other postretirement benefit planse(Rlans”).The recognition of a net asset or liability willqrére an offsetting adjustment
accumulated other comprehensive income (“AOCI$liareholderséquity. SFAS No. 158 will not change how the Plaresaccounted for a
reported in the income statement. Therefore, theuats to be recognized in AOCI will be the unredegd gains/losses, prior serv
costs/credits, and transition assets/obligatiofschvwill continue to be amortized under the exigtguidance as net periodic pension co
the income statement. Companies are required tialipirecognize the funded status and providertwired disclosures beginning for fis
year ends after December 15, 2006. The net impat¢he December 31, 2006 balance sheet is to inenp@paid pension costs by $2
million, increase other current liabilities $2.3lion, reduce accrued pension and postretiremenéfitecosts by $4.9 million, increase defe
tax liabilities by $9.0 million, with the offset éneasing stockholdersquity by $14.7 million. Additionally, for fiscalears ending aft
December 15, 2008, SFAS 158 will require compatdeseasure the plan assets and obligations a® afate of the employexfiscal year en
however earlier adoption of the measurement dateigions is encouraged. The Corporation currertilizas measurement dates of Septer
30 and October 31 for its various Plans. The Cafiom does not anticipate the change in the figear end measurement date to ha
material impact on the Corporation’s results ofratien or financial condition.
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ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures Aout Market Risk.

We are exposed to certain market risks from chang#gerest rates and foreign currency exchantgsras a result of our global operating
financing activities. We seek to minimize any mierisks from foreign currency exchange rate fiattions through our normal operating
financing activities and, when deemed appropriitegugh the use of derivative financial instrumeme do not use such instruments
trading or other speculative purposes. We useddaioreign currency contracts to manage our coyreate exposures during the year et
December 31, 2006. Information regarding our actingrpolicy on financial instruments is containedNote 1K to the Consolidated Financ
Statements.

The market risk for a change in interest rateseslarimarily to our debt obligations. Our intereste exposure was 96% fixed at Decembe
2006 and December 31, 2005. The variable rateeemtustrial Revenue Bonds are based on marlest.rAts of December 31, 2006, a che
in interest rates of 1% would have an impact orsobidated interest expense of approximately $0lliami Information regarding our 2005 &
2003 Notes, Revolving Credit Agreement, and IntelReges Swaps is contained in Note 10 to the Cateted Financial Statements.

Financial instruments expose us to counter-pagditrisk for nonperformance and to market risk for changes in éseand foreign curren
rates. We manage exposure to counter-party crekitthrough specific minimum credit standards, déifecation of counteparties, an
procedures to monitor concentrations of credit.risle monitor the impact of market risk on the fatue and cash flows of our investment:
investing primarily in investment grade interestitieg securities, which have sheerm maturities. We attempt to minimize possiblarde
in interest and currency exchange rates to amdhatsare not material to our consolidated resultsperations and cash flows.

Our acquisitions of Indal, Dy 4, and Novatronicsd@ncreased our exposure to foreign currency exgphaate fluctuations related primarily
the Canadian dollar. We currently have a hedgingi@m in place to mitigate the Canadian dollarifpreurrency risk. Although the major
of our sales, expenses, and cash flows are tratsactU.S. dollars, we do have some market rislosype to changes in foreign curre
exchange rates, primarily as it relates to theevaliithe U.S. dollar versus the Canadian dollar,Bhtish pound, the euro, and the Swiss ft
Any significant change in the value of the currescof those countries in which we do business agé#ie U.S. dollar could have an adv
effect on our business, financial condition, angutes of operations. We seek to minimize the righf these foreign currency fluctuatis
principally through invoicing our customers in tkame currency as the functional currency of themae producing entity. However,
efforts to minimize these risks may not be sucegsHfforeign exchange rates were to collectivelgaken or strengthen against the dolle
10%, net earnings would have been reduced or isetkaespectively, by approximately $5 million exelates exclusively to foreign curret
exchange rate exposures.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Datz

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNING:

For the years ended December 31, (In thousandgpeyer share data) 2006 2005 2004
Net sales $ 1,282,15! $ 1,130,92 $ 955,03¢
Cost of sales 851,07¢ 740,41t 624,53¢
Gross profit 431,07¢ 390,51: 330,50
Research and development costs (38,84)) (39,68)) (33,829
Selling expenses (76,54") (69,68") (61,64
General and administrative expenses (173,739 (144,98) (118,27()
Environmental remediation and administrative expens (843 (81¢) (5,28%)
(Loss) gain on sale of real estate and fixed assets (48€) 2,63¢ (1,139
Operating income 140,62¢ 137,98: 110,34:
Interest expense (22,899 (19,989 (12,03
Other (expense) income, net (112 29¢ 4432
Earnings before income taxes 117,62: 118,29¢ 98,75
Provision for income taxes (37,059 (43,019 (33,687

Net earnings $ 80,56¢ $ 75,28( $  65,06¢
Net earnings per share:

Basic earnings per share $ 1.84 $ 1.7¢4 $ 1.5

Diluted earnings per share $ 1.82 $ 1.72 $ 1.51

Shares and per share amounts have been adjusteproriorma basis for the April 21, 2006 2-for-@c#t split as further described in Note 1 to

the consolidated financial statements.

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

At December 31, (In thousanc 2006 2005
Assets:
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalents 124,51° $ 59,02:
Receivables, net 284,77: 244,68¢
Inventories, net 161,52¢ 146,29°
Deferred tax assets, net 32,48t 28,84«
Other current assets 19,34 11,61°
Total current assets 622,64! 490,46¢
Property, plant, and equipment, | 296,65 274,82:
Prepaid pension cos 92,26: 76,00:
Goodwiill 411,10: 388,15¢
Other intangible assets, r 158,08( 158,26°
Other asset 11,41¢ 12,57
Total assets $ 1,592,15 $ 1,400,28!
Liabilities:
Current liabilities:
Short-term debt 5,87¢ $ 88t
Accounts payable 96,02: 80,46(
Accrued expenses 81,53 74,25:



Income taxes payable 23,00: 22,85¢
Deferred revenue 57,30¢ 21,63«
Other current liabilities 28,38¢ 21,41
Total current liabilities 292,12! 221,50:
Long-term debt 359,00( 364,01
Deferred tax liabilities, ne 57,05¢ 53,57(
Accrued pension and other postretirement benegits 71,00¢ 74,99¢
Long-term portion of environmental resen 21,22( 22,64"
Other liabilities 29,67¢ 25,33
Total liabilities 830,08 762,06!
Contingencies and Commitments (Notes 10, 13, 157%
Stockholder Equity:
Common stock, $1 par value, 100,000,000 share®rr#dl at December 31, 20
and 2005; 47,533,294 and 25,493,442 shares issizecamber 31, 2006 and
2005, respectively; outstanding shares were 44403t December 31, 2006 and
21,746,362 at December 31, 2005 47,53 25,49
Additional paic-in capital 69,88’ 59,79
Retained earning 716,03( 667,89:
Accumulated other comprehensive inca 55,80¢ 20,65¢
889,25¢ 773,83:
Less: Common treasury stock, at cosO@ &4 shares at December
2006 and 3,747,080 shares at December 31, 2005) (127,187 (135,619
Total stockholders’ equity 762,07: 638,22(
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 1,592,15 $ 1,400,28'
See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOW
For the years ended December 31, (In thousa 2006 2005 2004
Cash flows from operating activitie
Net earning: $ 80,56¢ $  75,28( $  65,06¢
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net castiiged by operatin
activities:
Depreciation and amortization 50,79: 47,85 40,74:
Net loss (gain) on sales and disposals of reatesatad equipment 48€ (2,63¢) 1,13¢
Deferred income taxes (11,419 141 (3,500
Stock based compensation 6,621 — —
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, nbusfnesses acquired:
Increase in receivables (20,489 (21,559 (39,879
(Increase) decrease in inventories (11,244 (26,909 7,57¢
(Decrease) increase in progress payments (7,024 9,81t (4,339
Increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses 15,64: 22,97¢ 19,78¢
Increase (decrease) in deferred revenue 32,641 (8,049 4,84¢
Increase in income taxes payable 1,207 11,26¢ 8,40:
(Increase) decrease in net pension and postretitesseets 2,98 (3,819 5,05¢
Increase in other current and long-term assets (2,667) (912 (1,830
Increase in other current and long-term liabilities 5,76¢ 1,727 2,27¢
Total adjustments 63,30: 29,89¢ 40,28
Net cash provided by operating activities 143,87: 105,17¢ 105,34

Cash flows from investing activitie



Proceeds from sales and disposals of real estdteguipmen 77¢€ 11,26¢ 1,192
Acquisition of intangible asse (1,669 (5,08¢) (2,100
Additions to property, plant, and equipm (40,202 (42,449 (32,45
Acquisition of new businesses, net of cash acqt (39,527 (73,11) (247,407
Net cash used for investing activities (80,617 (109,37)) (280,762)
Cash flows from financing activitie
Borrowings of deb 240,00( 655,00( 624,10t
Principal payments on de (240,059 (630,32) (508,02
Proceeds from exercise of stock opti 8,61¢ 8,492 7,45¢
Dividends paic (10,539 (8,45%) (7,66€)
Excess tax benefits from sh-based compensatic 1,88t — —
Net cash (used for) provided by financing actigtie (95) 24,701 115,87
Effect of exchanc-rate changes on ca 2,332 (2,529 1,90¢
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis 65,49¢ 17,98 (57,639
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 59,02: 41,03¢ 98,67:
Cash and cash equivalents at end of $ 12451 $ 59,02 $ 41,03t
Supplemental disclosure of r-cash investing activitie:
Fair value of assets acquired from current yeauia@pns $ 42,41° $ 88,57¢ $ 303,04:
Additional consideration on prior year acquisitions 4,54¢ 8,61¢ 3,02
Fair value of Common stock issued as considerdgioacquisitions — — (14,000
Liabilities assumed from current year acquisitions (7,429 (23,867 (42,33)
Cash acquired 17 (222 (2,33%)
Acquisition of new businesses, net of cash acquired $ 39,52 $ 73,11 $ 247,40.

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Accumulatec
Class B Additional Other
Commor Commor Paid in Retainec Comprehensiv

(In thousands Stock Stock Capital Earnings Income (Loss

Comprehensiv

Income

Treasury
Stock

January 1, 2004 $ 16,611 $ 8,765 $ 52,943 $ 543,670 $ 22,634

$ (165,742)

Comprehensive income:
Net earnings - - - 65,066

Translation adjustments, net - - - - 14,163

$ 65,066
14,163

Total comprehensive income

$ 79,229

Dividends paid - - - (7,666)
Stock options exercised, net - - (1,748)
Stock issued under employee stock
purchase plan, net 35 - 1,358
Equity issued in connection with
acquisitions - - 3,259

Other - - 39

11,345

10,741
141

December 31, 2004 $ 16,646 $ 8,765 $ 55,851 $ 601,070 $ 36,797

$ (143,515)

Comprehensive income:
Net earnings - - - 75,280

Translation adjustments, net - - - - (16,142)

$ 75,280

(16,142)

Total comprehensive income

$ 59,138

Dividends paid - - - (8,458)
Stock options exercised, net - - 42

Stock issued under employee stock

7,721



purchase plan, net 82 - 3,863 - - N
Recapitalization 8,765 (8,765) - - - -
Other - - 38 - - 180
December 31, 2005 $ 25,493 - 59,794 667,892 20,655 $ (135,614)
Comprehensive income:

Net earnings - - - 80,569 - $ 80,569 -
Minimum pension liability
adjustment, net - - - - (1,750) (1,750) -
Translation adjustments, net - - - - 22,215 22,215 -
Total comprehensive income $ 101,034
Adjustment for initial application of

FAS 158, net - - - - 14,686 -
Dividends paid - - - (10,538) - -
Stock options exercised, net - - (1,521) - - 8,021
Stock issued under employee stock

purchase plan, net 147 - 4,483 - - N
Two-for-one common stock split

effected in the form of a 100% 21,893 - (21,893) - -

stock dividend
Stock based compensation - - 6,480 - - 141
Other - - 651 - - 270
December 31, 2006 $ 47,533 - 69,887 716,030 55,806 $ (127,182)

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT?¢
1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Curtiss-Wright Corporation and its subsidiariese(tfCorporation”)is a diversified multinational manufacturing andvése company th
designs, manufactures, and overhauls precision opergs and systems and provides highly engineetlpts and services to the aerosy
defense, automotive, shipbuilding, processing,patrochemical, agricultural equipment, railroaoiwpr generation, security, and metalworl
industries. Operations are conducted through 35ufaaturing facilities, 59 metal treatment servieeilities, and 2 aerospace compol
overhaul and repair locations.

A. Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include #mants of Curtiss-Wright and its majoribyvned subsidiaries. All material intercomp
transactions and accounts have been eliminated.

B. Use of Estimates

The financial statements of the Corporation havenh@epared in conformity with accounting princgptgenerally accepted in the United St
of America, which requires management to make edsémand judgments that affect the reported amoluatsets, liabilities, revenue, :
expenses and disclosure of contingent assets abitities in the accompanying financial statemeiitse most significant of these estim:
include the estimate of costs to complete long-teomtracts under the percentagecofapletion accounting methods, the estimate oful
lives for property, plant, and equipment, cash flestimates used for testing the recoverability $dess, pension plan and postretirer
obligation assumptions, estimates for inventoryotdscence, estimates for the valuation and usie®s bf intangible assets, warranty resel
and the estimate of future environmental costsu&latesults may differ from these estimates.

C. Revenue Recognition

The realization of revenue refers to the timingitefrecognition in the accounts of the Corporatiord is generally considered realize:
realizable and earned when the earnings procesgantially complete and all of the followingteria are met: 1) persuasive evidence ¢
arrangement exists; 2) delivery has occurred origes have been rendered; 3) the Corporagiqnice to its customer is fixed or determing
and 4) collectibility is reasonably assured.

The Corporation records sales and related profitproduction and service type contracts as unéssaipped and title and risk of loss h
transferred or as services are rendered, netiofisgstd returns and allowances. Sales and estinpatditis under certain lonterm contracts a
recognized under the percentagecofpletion methods of accounting, whereby profits iecorded pro rata, based upon current estinod
direct and indirect costs to complete such corgrdet addition, the Corporation also records sateder certain longerm government fixe
price contracts upon achievement of performancestthes as specified in the related contracts.€lsosa contracts are provided for in
period in which the losses become determinableidiens in profit estimates are reflected on a cativk basis in the period in which the b
for such revision becomes known. The excess obiliags over cost and estimated earnings on Iltarg: contracts is included in defer
revenue.

D. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents consist of money market fundscangimercial paper that are readily convertible iwash, all with original maturity dates
three months or less.

E. Inventory

Inventories are stated at lower of production ¢psincipally average cost) or market. Productiostscare comprised of direct material
labor and applicable manufacturing overhead.
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F. Progress Payments

Certain longterm contracts provide for the interim billings @ssts are incurred on the respective contractsudat to contract provisiol
agencies of the U.S. Government and other custoarergranted title or a secured interest in thélledbcosts included in unbilled receivat
and materials and work-iprocess included in inventory to the extent of pesg payments. Accordingly, these progress paymeogsved hay
been reported as a reduction of unbilled receisabiel inventories, as presented in Notes 3 and 4.

G. Property, Plant, and Equipment

Property, plant, and equipment are carried at tesd accumulated depreciation. Major renewals agttedments are capitalized, wt
maintenance and repairs that do not improve omelxtiee life of the asset are expensed in the péhiey are incurred. Depreciation is compi
using the straight-line method based upon the astichuseful lives of the respective assets.

Average useful lives for property, plant, and equémt are as follows:

Buildings and improvemen 5 to 40 year:
Machinery, equipment, and other3 to 15 year:

H. Intangible Assets

Intangible assets are generally the result of aitipis and consist primarily of purchased techggl@ustomer related intangibles, tradem
and service marks, and technology licenses. Definred intangible assets are amortized ratablgn&tch their cash flow streams over t
estimated useful lives, which range from 1 to 2@rge while indefinite lived intangible assets ao# amortized. Indefinite lived intangit
assets are reviewed for impairment annually basethe discounted future cash flows. See Note #udher information on other intangit
assets.

[. Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Corporation reviews the recoverability of adingterm assets, including the related useful livesemaver events or changes
circumstances indicate that the carrying amouna dbngilived asset might not be recoverable. If requirdi, Corporation compares
estimated undiscounted future net cash flows tadleed assetd’ carrying value to determine whether there has bedmpairment. If an as:
is considered impaired, the asset is written dowfair value, which is based either on discountashcflows or appraised values in the pe
the impairment becomes known. There were no suitk-@owns in 2006, 2005, or 2004.

J. Goodwill

Goodwill results from business acquisitions. Thegooation accounts for business acquisitions hycaling the purchase price to tangible
intangible assets and liabilities. Assets acquémed liabilities assumed are recorded at theinfalines, and the excess of the purchase price
the amounts allocated is recorded as goodwill. idweverability of goodwill is subject to an annimlpairment test or whenever an e\
occurs or circumstances change that would moréyltken not result in an impairment. The impairmest is based on the estimated fair v
of the underlying businesses. Goodwill impairmests performed as of October 31, 2006 and Jul@16, 2005, and 2004 concluded the
impairment charges were required as of those datesNote 6 for further information on goodwill.

K. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SPANbY. 107,Disclosure About Fair Value of Financial Instrumentrequires certa
disclosures regarding the fair value of financi@tiuments. Due to the short maturities of cash @ash equivalents, accounts receivi
accounts payable, and accrued expenses, the rievab@ of these financial instruments is deemeapforoximate fair value.
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The estimated fair values of the Corporat®fixed rate debt instruments at December 31, 20ififfegated $350.8 million compared -
carrying value of $349.9 million. The carrying ambwf the variable interest rate debt approximédé@svalue because the interest rates
reset periodically to reflect current market coiwtis. Fair values for the Corporation’s fixed rdébt were estimated by management.

The fair values described above may not be indieatf net realizable value or reflective of futdiaé values. Furthermore, the use of diffe
methodologies to determine the fair value of carfaiancial instruments could result in a differestimate of fair value at the reporting date.

L. Research and Development

The Corporation funds research and developmentramneg) for commercial products and independent rebeamd development and bid
proposal work related to government contracts. graent costs include engineering and field supportnew customer requiremer
Corporation-sponsored research and developmert aosexpensed as incurred.

Research and development costs associated witbhncessponsored programs are charged to inventory anteaceded in cost of sales wt
products are delivered or services performed. Fuedsived under shared development contracts aesluction of the total developm
expenditures under the shared contract and arershetias research and development costs.

M. Environmental Costs

The Corporation establishes a reserve for a patentivironmental remediation liability on a site bige basis when it concludes the
determination of legal liability is probable andethmount of the liability can be reasonably estadabased on current law and exis
technologies. Such amounts, if quantifiable, reéftae Corporatiors estimate of the amount of that liability. If ordyrange of potential liabili
can be estimated and no amount within the rangeoi® probable than another, a reserve will be &skedal at the low end of that range.
sites involving multiple parties, the Corporatioccaies environmental liabilities based upon itseexpd share of the liability, taking i
account the financial viability of other jointlyalble partners. Such reserves, which are reviewedtarly, are adjusted as assessmen
remediation efforts progress or as additional imfation becomes available. Approximately 75% of@ueporations environmental reserves
of December 31, 2006 represent the current valugnti€ipated remediation costs and are not diseasuptimarily due to the uncertainty
timing of expenditures. The remaining environmenéskerves are discounted to reflect the time vafuaoney since the amount and timiny
cash payments for the liability are reliably deterable. All environmental reserves exclude any pié recovery from insurance carriers
third-party legal actions.

N. Accounting for Stoc-Based Compensation

Prior to January 1, 2006, the Corporation appliesl intrinsic value method of Accounting PrincipBsard Opinion No. 25Accounting fo
Stock Issued to Employeesand related interpretations in accounting forcktoased employee awards as allowed under SFAS Nqg
Accounting for Stoc-Based CompensatiofSFAS 123"). Accordingly, the Corporation did not recognize camgation expense for |
issuance of noqualified share options with an exercise price etuéhe market value of the underlying common kton the date of grant
for options granted under the employee stock pwehdan. As the requisite service period for penfomce shares, restricted stock units,
performance restricted shares did not begin uftgr danuary 1, 2006, no compensation cost wagdeddn prior periods. Effective Januanr
2006, the Corporation adopted SFAS No. 123 (rev&3a#l),Share-Based Payme(iSFAS 123(R)")using the modified prospective transi
method and therefore has not restated prior periddder this transition method, compensation cesbeiated with employee stock opti
recognized in 2006 includes compensation experlagedeto the remaining unvested portion of mp@ified share options granted priol
January 1, 2006. See Note 12 for further infornmatio this standard.
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O. Capital Stock

On February 7, 2006, the Board of Directors dedar@-ford stock split in the form of a 100% stock divideitie split, in the form of 1 she
of Common stock for each share of Common stocktauting was payable on April 21, 2006. To effecutie stock split, the Corporat
issued 21.9 million shares of Common stock, at Ghér value from capital surplus, with a correspogdeduction in retained earnings
$21.9 million. Accordingly, all references throughdhis Annual Report on Form 10+t0 number of shares, per share amounts, stodkre
data, and market prices of the Corporatiocdmmon stock have been adjusted to reflect tleetedf the stock split for all periods presen
where applicable.

On May 24, 2005, the Corporation completed a realipétion that resulted in the combination of tBerporations two classes of comm
stock into a single new class by converting allstartding shares of Common stock and Class B constank into a single new class
common stock. The recapitalization was accomplistedugh a merger of a wholly owned subsidiary ittie Corporation, in which t|
outstanding shares of Common stock and Class B aonstock were exchanged for shares of the singlesabf Common stock. The rela
ownership of the Corporation’s new class of Comratmtk was the same immediately after the mergénvess immediately prior.

In addition to the recapitalization, in May 2006aszholders approved a proposal to increase thdeuaof shares of Common stock author
for issuance from 45 million shares to 100 millgrares.

The Corporation is authorized to repurchase 9009h@0es under its existing stock repurchase progPamcthases are authorized to be r
from time to time in the open market or privatelygntiated transactions, depending on market aner @bnditions, whenever managen
believes that the market price of the stock dodsadequately reflect the true value of the Corporaaind, therefore, represents an attra
investment opportunity. The shares are held at @odtreissuance is recorded at the weighteztage cost. Through December 31, 200¢
Corporation had repurchased 210,930 shares undgurilgram. There was no stock repurchased dufig,2005, and 2004.

P. Earnings Per Share

The Corporation is required to report both basimiegs per share (“EPS”), based on the weiglatesiage number of Common and Cla:
shares outstanding, and diluted earnings per shased on the basic EPS adjusted for all poteytiilitive shares issuable. The calculatio
EPS is disclosed in Note 11.

Q. Income Taxes

The Corporation applies SFAS No. 1@&counting for Income Tax€$SFAS No. 109”).Under the asset and liability method of SFAS N@,
deferred tax assets and liabilities are recogniaeduture tax consequences attributable to diffees between the financial statement car
amounts of existing assets and liabilities andrtrespective tax bases. The effect on deferredsarts and liabilities of a change in tax lav
recognized in the results of operations in theqeethe new laws are enacted. A valuation allowascecorded to reduce the carrying amo
of deferred tax assets unless it is more likelythat that such assets will be realized.

The Corporation will also apply FASB Interpretatibto. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes an Interpretation of FAS
Statement No. 109FIN 48”). FIN 48 provides guidance on the recognition, measent, accounting, and disclosure of uncertairptsitions
This Interpretation is effective as of JanuarydQ2 See Note 9 for additional information on tieat of FIN 48 on the Corporation.

R. Foreign Currency Translation

For operations outside the United States of Amettiea prepare financial statements in currencibgrothan the U.S. dollar, the Corpora
translates assets and liabilities at period-encha@xge rates and income statement amounts usinghiedigverage exchange rates for
period. The cumulative effect of translation adjushts is presented as a component of accumulatert obmprehensive income wit
stockholdersequity. This balance is affected by foreign curseagchange rate fluctuations and by the acquisiioforeign entities. Gains a
losses from foreign currency transactions are ohedlin results of operations.
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S. Derivatives

The Corporation has used interest rate swaps amaid foreign currency contracts to manage its sypoto fluctuations in interest rates «
portion of its fixed rate debt instruments and fgmnecurrency rates at its foreign subsidiaries. Téreign currency contracts are marke
market with changes in the fair value reportechitoine in the period of change. In November 2008 Ghrporation unwound the interest
swap agreements. While the interest rate swap egmas were in effect, they were accounted for &svédue hedges. The interest rate sv
were recorded at fair value on the balance shettirwother noreurrent assets with changes in fair value recomedently in earning
Additionally, the carrying amount of the associatietht was adjusted through earnings for changésrivalue due to change in interest re
Ineffectiveness was to be recognized to the extettthese two adjustments do not offset. The ésterate swap agreements were assurr
be perfectly effective under the “short cut methof’'SFAS 133. The differential to be paid or recdilmsed on changes in interest rates
recorded as an adjustment to interest expenseistétement of earnings. Additional informationtibese swap agreements is presented in
10.

T. Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In February 2006, the Financial Accounting StandaBdard (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 158ccounting for Certain Hybrid Financi
Instruments— an amendment of FASB Statements No. 133 an¢'3BAS No. 155”).SFAS No. 155 permits a fair value remeasureme!
any hybrid financial instrument that contains anbedded derivative that would otherwise require rodition. This accounting standarc
effective as of the beginning of fiscal years begig after September 15, 2006. The Corporation ca¢santicipate that the adoption of -
statement will have a material impact on the Caapon’s results of operation or financial condition

In March 2006, the FASB issued the SFAS No. ¥&&;ounting for Servicing of Financial Assets, areadment of FASB Statements No.
(“SFAS No. 156").SFAS No. 156 requires that servicing assets andc#ay liabilities be recognized at fair value,ffacticable, when ti
Corporation enters into a servicing agreement dlovs two alternatives, the amortization and faafue measurement methods, as subse
measurement methods. This accounting standardeistiee for all new transactions occurring as @& beginning of fiscal years beginning a
September 15, 2006. The Corporation does not patieithat the adoption of this statement will havmaterial impact on the Corporatien’
results of operation or financial condition.

In June 2006, the FASB issued FIN 48 to createnglsimodel to address accounting for uncertaintyain positions. FIN 48 clarifies t
accounting for income taxes by prescribing a minmmecognition threshold a tax position is requitedneet before being recognized in
financial statements. FIN 48 also provides guidamt&erecognition, measurement, classificatiorgregt and penalties, accounting in inte
periods, disclosure, and transition. FIN 48 is @ffee for fiscal years beginning after December 2@)6. The Corporation will adopt FIN 48
of January 1, 2007, as required. The cumulativeceff adopting FIN 48 will be recorded in retairesinings and other accounts as applic
The Corporation is evaluating its tax positions amticipates that the adoption of FIN 48 will natvk a significant impact on its results
operations.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. BEs8ployers’Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and OthestRdirement Plar
(“SFAS No. 158").This Statement requires companies to recognizet $iatdlity or asset to report the funded statushadir defined bene
pension and other postretirement benefit planse(Rhans”).The recognition of a net asset or liability willgieére an offsetting adjustment
accumulated other comprehensive income (“AOCI$liareholderséquity. SFAS No. 158 will not change how the Plaresaccounted for a
reported in the income statement. Therefore, theuats to be recognized in AOCI will be the unredegd gains/losses, prior serv
costs/credits, and transition assets/obligatioschvwill continue to be amortized under the exigtguidance as net periodic pension co
the income statement. Companies are required tialipirecognize the funded status and providert#wired disclosures beginning for fis
year ends after December 15, 2006. The net impat¢he December 31, 2006 balance sheet is to inenpapaid pension costs by $2
million, increase other current liabilities $2.3lion, reduce accrued pension and postretiremenéfitecosts by $4.9 million, increase defe
tax liabilities by $9.0 million, with the offset éneasing stockholdersquity by $14.7 million. Additionally, for fiscalears ending aft
December 15, 2008, SFAS 158 will require compatdeseasure the plan assets and obligations a® afate of the employexfiscal year en
However, earlier adoption of the
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measurement date provisions is encouraged. Theo@dipn currently utilizes measurement dates oft&aper 30 and October 31 for
various Plans. The Corporation does not anticiplée change in the fiscal year end measurement tdateave a material impact on
Corporation’s results of operation or financial dition. See Note 14 for additional information twe effect of FAS 158 on the Corporation.

2. ACQUISITIONS

The Corporation acquired three businesses in 280@gescribed below. In addition, the Corporatiorchased one business in 2005 and el
businesses in 2004. The 2006 and 2005 acquisittanwiell as nine of the 2004 acquisitions, are ritesd in more detail below. The remain
two businesses acquired in 2004 had an aggregathgse price of $1.1 million and are not considerederial. All acquisitions have be
accounted for as purchases with the excess ofut@hase price over the estimated fair value ofriétetangible and intangible assets acqt
recorded as goodwill. The Corporation makes prelan estimates of the purchase price allocationsluding the value of identifiak
intangibles with a finite life, and records amaation based upon the estimated useful life of thowengible assets identified. The Corpora
will adjust these estimates based upon analysthiaf party appraisals, when deemed appropriaté,the determination of fair value, wt
finalized, generally within twelve months from agsjtion.

The results of each acquired business have beerdettin the consolidated financial results of @@poration from the date of acquisitior
the segment indicated as follows:

FLOW CONTROL

Techswan, Inc.

On September 1, 2006, the Corporation acquirediceassets and liabilities of Techswan, Inc., wHicisiness is now operated as Swar
(Swantech). The purchase price, subject to custpdjustments provided for in the Asset Purchaseedment, was $3.6 million in cash i
the assumption of certain liabilities to acquire tihtellectual property and assets of Swantech. gurehase price was funded from cr
available under the Corporatientevolving credit line. The excess of the purchasee over the fair value of the net assets aequis $2.'
million at December 31, 2006. Revenues of the mset business were $1.1 million for the year eiiszember 31, 2005.

Swantech is a designer and manufacturer of highiyalaced health monitoring and prognostics systents software for critical servi
machinery. Swantech is the technology leader itesiktheart stress wave analysis based prognostics systeitiisthe capability to predi
critical machinery failure far in advance of contienal vibration and temperature based monitoripsteans. The core technology is fi
developed, and Swantech is building its applicatitmase and channels to market in the commercial imaritpower, oil and gas, and defe
and aerospace markets. Swantech has significargramdng penetration in monitoring luxury cruisedr critical systems. Swantech is loc:i
in Ft. Lauderdale, Florida.

Enpro Systems, Ltd.

On April 17, 2006, the Corporation acquired certassets and liabilities of Enpro Systems, Ltd. (@hpwhich has subsequently been me
with Tapco International. The combined businessates as TapcoEnpro International. The purchase,psubject to customary adjustmi
provided for in the Asset Purchase Agreement, vii&sSpmillion in cash and the assumption of certiaibilities to acquire the assets of En|
The purchase price was funded from credit availablder the Corporatioa’revolving credit line. The excess of the purcha$ee over the fa
value of the net assets acquired is $6.0 millioDetember 31, 2006. Revenues of the purchaseddsssimere $35.9 million for the year en
December 31, 2005.

Enpro is a designer and manufacturer of highly megjied sliding gate, plug, block, butterfly, dieertand variable orifice flue gas valv
Enpro also manufactures, repairs, and modifies ASM#e pressure vessels, primarily for the petroétemrefining, and utility market
Enpro provides engineering services, subcontractufaaturing services, shop repairs, and field sewito support customersperations
Enpro is headquartered in Channelview, Texas.
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Engineered Pump Division

On November 10, 2004, the Corporation acquirecagedssets and liabilities of the Government MaBuosiness Unit division of Flowser
Corporation, subsequently renamed the EngineeretgpMivision (“EPD”). The effective date of the acquisition was Noventhe2004. Th
purchase price, subject to customary adjustmenotgged for in the Asset Purchase Agreement, wasl®2dlion in cash and the assumptiol
certain liabilities. The purchase price was fundi@in credit available under the Corporatiemevolving credit facilities. The excess of
purchase price over the fair value of the net asaetuired is $8.0 million at December 31, 2006veRees of the purchased business
$26.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2003.

EPD is a leading designer and manufacturer of fighigineered, critical function pumps for the UN&vy nuclear submarine and airc
carrier programs and namiclear surface ships. EPD is the sole source mupgdlmain and auxiliary seawater, fresh wated eooling pump:
coolant purification pumps, injection, chilled watand other critical pumps. The business suppustdear programs, and nonclear navi
surface programs. In addition, EPD has a stronggrading aftermarket business for repairs, refunvisnts, and parts. EP®bperations a
located in Phillipsburg, New Jersey.

Groquip

On July 12, 2004, the Corporation acquired thetantiing stock of Groth Equipment Corporation of Istana (“Groquip”).The purchas
price, subject to customary adjustments providedrféhe Stock Purchase Agreement, was $4.5 mifbayable in approximately 18,000 shi
of the Corporatiors restricted Common stock valued at $1.0 milliaastcof $3.5 million, and the assumption of certahilities. The cas
portion of the purchase price was funded from ¢rediilable under the Corporatienrevolving credit facilities. The purchase p
approximated the fair value of the net assets aedws of December 31, 2006.

Groquip is a market leader in the hydrocarbon drefhrical processing industries. Groquip providesipats and services for various pressure-
related processes that ensure safe operation gudatery compliance. Groquip is a manufacturerlessaepresentative for rupture dis
conservation vents, fire and gas detectors, anskpre relief valves. They also provide field andlop service and repairs for pressure
valves and a variety of specialty valves. Grogsipéadquartered in Geismar, Louisiana and hasea aal service center located in Sulg
Louisiana. Revenues of the acquired business wid $nillion for the twelve months ended June IM4A

NOVA

On May 24, 2004, the Corporation acquired certagets of NOVA Machine Products Corporation (“NOVAThe purchase price, subjec
customary adjustments provided for in the AssetRase Agreement, was $20.0 million in cash andafsaimption of certain liabilities. T
purchase price was funded from credit availableeuride Corporatiors revolving credit facilities. There are provisionsthe agreement f
additional payments upon the achievement of ceftaancial performance criteria through 2009 umtmaximum additional payment of $
million. Through December 31, 2006, the Corporatias made no payments of additional consideratimeuthese provisions. The exces
the purchase price over the fair value of the ssé® acquired is $5.0 million at December 31, 2006

NOVA is one of the largest suppliers of sa-related fasteners to the U.S. nuclear power ingumtd the Department of Energy and
provides a wide range of manufactured and distithyroducts and related services. NOVA is headgreattin Middleburg Heights, Ohio, w
distribution centers in Glendale Heights, lllino&md Decatur, Alabama, and five sales offices thihout the U.S. Revenues of the acqt
business were $17.1 million for the year ended Bdoes 31, 2003.

On September 1, 2005, NOVA acquired the HydraNatlpct line and related intellectual property of Aieafast International, a wholly owr
subsidiary of Tech Novus Pty. Ltd of Brisbane, Aak&a (“Technofast”).The acquisition of this product line replaced a&tising agreeme
between NOVA and Technofast, which was part ofatguired assets of the Corporation’s acquisitioNOWVA in 2004.

The purchase price of $8.0 million included ani@hitash payment of $4.5 million and will requireagterly cash payments calculated
percentage of sales of the product line, not teedc$3.5 million over an eight year period. Any a@mng purchase price unpaid at the er
eight years will expire unpaid. The Corporatiorireates this liability will be paid down within fivgears.
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The acquisition of this technology was accountedafan acquisition of intangible assets. As stieCorporation has estimated the fair v
of the future payments as of September 1, 2006¢ t$3.0 million and has recorded a liability. AsDsfcember 31, 2006, the remaining bal
on the liability, including accrued interest, wasémillion. The intangible asset was capitalizedexhnology in the amount of $7.5 million .
will be amortized over its 20 year useful life.

The HydraNut fastener provides simple and accueatsioning in safety risk situations and hard toess areas for customers in nuclear p
generation, industrial, and other energy markets.

Trentec

On May 24, 2004, the Corporation acquired certaisets of Trentec, Inc. (“Trentec”Jhe purchase price, subject to customary adjust
provided for in the Asset Purchase Agreement, w3 million, payable in approximately 280,000 &saof the Corporatior’ restricte
Common stock valued at $13.0 million, cash of $@iBion, and the assumption of certain liabiliti@he excess of the purchase price ove
fair value of the net assets acquired is $5.3 omilikit December 31, 2006.

In August 2005, the Corporation completed negatietiwith the sellers of Trentec regarding a mbssing dispute. The settlement resulte
$0.9 million of recovery, which is included in oping income for 2005, and $0.1 million of additrwonsideration paid under the work
capital adjustment, which increased the purchasee pf the acquired business. The effect of thélesaént was treated as a noast
transaction for purposes of preparing the staterobnash flows as the net settlement of $0.8 mmilleas effectuated through the forfeitur
the cash holdback in the same amount.

Trentec's services include specialty equipmentidation, diamond wiresaw cutting, nuclear powemplaquipment qualification, and third-
party dedication and supply of nuclear componéhisntecs operations are located in Cincinnati, Ohio. Reresrof the acquired business v
$13.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2003.

MOTION CONTROL

Indal Technologies, Inc.

On March 1, 2005, the Corporation acquired thetaoting stock of the parent corporation of IndatAmlogies, Inc. (“Indal”)The purchas
price was 80.3 million Canadian dollars ($64.7 imil) in cash and was funded from credit availabidar the Corporatios’revolving cred
facilities. The estimated excess of the purchagee mver thefair value of the net assets acquired is $27.2ionilat December 31, 20(
including foreign currency translation adjustmeaing of $1.7 million.

Indal provides shipboard helicopter handling systdéon naval applications with a global installedsé®an over 200 ships, including more 1
100 systems deployed in the U.S. Navy. Indal'slzighgineered, proprietary products enable helepto land aboard naval vessels in rc
sea conditions. Indal also designs and manufactpesialized telescopic hangars that provide ptiotedor helicopters aboard ships and ¢
handling systems for naval sonar applications. llislheadquartered in Mississauga, Ontario, Canddaenues of the acquired business
49.4 million Canadian dollars ($38.2 million) fdwetyear ended December 31, 2004.

Synergy

On August 31, 2004, the Corporation acquired thistanding stock of Synergy Microsystems, Inc (“Sgy&). The purchase price was $4
million in cash and was funded from credit avaiabhder the Corporationrevolving credit facilities. The excess of theghase price over t
fair value of the net assets acquired is $31.3anilkt December 31, 2006.

Synergy specializes in the design, manufacture, iategration of single- and multi-processor sing&ard computers for VME a
CompactPCI systems to meet the needs of demaneliijme applications in military, aerospace, indust@@ad commercial markets. Syne
is headquartered in San Diego, California. Revefidse acquired business were $17.5 million ferykear ended December 31, 2003.
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Primagraphics

On May 28, 2004, the Corporation acquired the antihg stock of Primagraphics Holdings Limited (fRagraphics”).The purchase pric
subject to customary adjustments provided for @$tock Purchase Agreement, wak2£5 million ($22.4 million) in cash. The purchasice
was funded from credit available under the Corponas revolving credit facilities. The estimated excefshe purchase price over the

value of the net assets acquired is $15.4 milliobexember 31, 2006, including foreign currencystation adjustment gains of $1.3 million.

Primagraphics is a market leader in the developrokradar processing and graphic display systerad tlwoughout the world for military a
commercial applications, such as ship and airbeomemand and control consoles, vessel trackingyaffic control, and air defense syste
Primagraphics' products include graphics and inggathnologies, video and sensor processing haejveard software that can be rea
engineered to provide vital components for a widdety of systems. Primagraphics is headquarteead @ambridge in the United Kingdc
with a worldwide network of dealers and distribstoRevenues of the acquired business wér8 fillion ($10.9 million) for the fiscal ye
ended June 30, 2003.

Dy 4

On January 31, 2004, the Corporation acquired thstanding stock of Dy 4 Systems, Inc. and Dy 4S(JInc. (collectively “Dy 4”).The
purchase price was $110.4 million in cash and gsamption of certain liabilities. Management fundlee purchase price with cash on F
and from the Corporatiog’revolving credit facilities. The excess of theghase price over the fair value of the net asaetpired as «
December 31, 2006, is $63.2 million.

Dy 4 is considered a market leader in ruggedizebesided computing solutions for the defense andspaoe industries. Using stand.
commercially available computing technologies, nefé to as commercial-off-thghelf, Dy 4 customizes the products to performatdyi ir
rugged conditions, such as extreme temperaturginerand speed. The acquisition was made primaoilgomplement the Corporatian’
existing businesses that serve the embedded camgputirket. Based in Ottawa, Canada, Dy 4 also Hasiliy in Virginia and a sales offi
in the United Kingdom. Revenues of the purchaseinass for the fiscal year ending August 29, 20@8ev$72.4 million.

METAL TREATMENT
Allegheny

On May 9, 2006, the Corporation purchased the sasmed certain liabilities of two units of Divergfl Coatings, Inc. (“Allegheny”)The
purchase price was $14.9 million in cash and tlseraption of certain liabilities. The purchase pniegs funded from credit available under
Corporations revolving credit facilities. The estimated excekthe purchase price over the fair value of theassets acquired is $4.6 mill
at December 31, 2006.

Allegheny’s services include the spray application of a waé high performance coatings to automotive mbtaking components. There
numerous specialty high performance coatings availan the market, which are specified on a parpégt basis by the automotive OEI
These high performance coatings are typically beehby the coating material manufacturer to qualifapplicators on a geographic bs
Allegheny is located in Fremont, Indiana, and Isgy Canada. Revenues of the acquired businesses $1.2.7 million for the year enc
December 31, 2005.

Everlube

On April 2, 2004, the Corporation purchased thewssf the Everlube Products division (“EverlubefMorgan Advanced Ceramics, Inc. ~
purchase price was $6.5 million in cash and therapsion of certain liabilities. The purchase pngas funded from credit available under
Corporations revolving credit facilities. The estimated excefthe purchase price over the fair value of teeassets acquired is $2.0 mill
at December 31, 2006.
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Everlube is a pioneer and leader in manufacturoigl gilm lubricant (“SFL") and other specialty engineered coatings with mbaa t18I
formulations available. Everlubgengineered coatings improve the functional peréorce of metal components in lubrication, tempeeatan:
corrosion resistance. Everlube is located in PeaehCity, Georgia. Revenues of the acquired businese $3.9 million for the year enc
December 31, 2003.

Evesham

On February 24, 2004, the Corporation purchaseddkets of the Evesham coatings business locatkd ldnited Kingdom (“Eveshamfjom
Morgan Advanced Ceramics, Ltd. The purchase prias #3.5 million ($6.5 million) in cash and the assuroptiof certain liabilities. Tt
purchase price was funded from credit availablesutide Corporatiors revolving credit facilities. The excess of theghase price over the f
value of the net assets acquired is $2.2 milliobetember 31, 2006, including foreign currencydfation adjustment gains of $0.1 million.

Evesham manufactures and applies an extensive rahdg&L coatings, which provide lubrication, coiigss resistance, and enhan
engineering performance. Revenues of the acquinsihéss were £ 2.6 million ($4.2 million) for theay ended December 31, 2003.

3. RECEIVABLES

Receivables include current notes, amounts billeccustomers, claims, other receivables, and uwbitevenue on longerm contract:
consisting of amounts recognized as sales butiletl bSubstantially all amounts of unbilled recailes are expected to be billed and colle
in the subsequent year.

Credit risk is generally diversified due to theglarnumber of entities comprising the Corporationustomer base and their geogra
dispersion. The Corporation is either a prime awttr or subcontractor of various agencies of tte Government. Revenues derived dire
and indirectly from government sources (primariig J.S. Government) were 45%, 48%, and 47% of diladed revenues in 2006, 2005,
2004, respectively. As of December 31, 2006 and52@&counts receivable due directly or indirecttgni these government sour
represented 43% and 52% of net receivables, régplyctSales to one customer through which the @@ton is a subcontractor to the L
Government were 9% of consolidated revenues in 200% in 2005, and 13% in 2004. No single custoaceounted for more than 10% of
Corporation’s net receivables as of December 30620hd 2005.

The Corporation performs ongoing credit evaluatiohgs customers and establishes appropriate atoes for doubtful accounts based
factors surrounding the credit risk of specifictousers, historical trends, and other information.

The composition of receivables is as follows:

(In thousandsDecember 31 2006 2005

Billed receivables

Trade and other receivabl $199,71: $171,20:
Less: Allowance for doubtful accounts (5,389 (5,459

Net billed receivable 194,32! 165,75(

Unbilled receivables

Recoverable costs and estimated earnings not | 111,110 107,61¢

Less: Progress payments applied (20,662 (28,679
Net unbilled receivable 90,44¢ 78,93¢
Receivables, ne $284,77: $244,68¢

The net receivable balance at December 31, 206ided $7.3 million related to the Corporation’®8&cquisitions.
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4. INVENTORIES

Inventoried costs contain amounts relating to lterga contracts and programs with long productionles;, a portion of which will not |
realized within one year. Inventories are valuethatlower of cost (principally average cost) orrked The composition of inventories is

follows:

(In thousandsDecember 31 2006 2005
Raw materia $ 67,667 $ 59,33¢
Work-in-proces: 43,28( 43,09¢
Finshed goods and component p. 58,48: 52,82t

Inventoried costs related to U.S. Government ahdrdbn¢-term
contract: 30,36: 27,53¢
Gross inventorie 199,79: 182,79:
Less: Inventory reserves (26,157) (25,37)
Progress payments applied, principally related to

long-term contracts (12,11) (11,119
Inventories, ne $161,52¢ $146,29

The net inventory balance at December 31, 200Gided $0.9 million related to the Corporation’s 2@@guisitions.
5. PROPERTY, PLANT, AND EQUIPMENT

The composition of property, plant, and equipmerad follows:

(In thousandsDecember 31 2006 2005

Land $ 19,08¢ $ 16,82¢
Buildings and improvemen 125,43: 111,40¢
Machinery, equipment, and otr 403,12! 362,01¢
Property, plant, and equipment, at ¢ 547 ,64. 490,25
Less: Accumulated depreciati (250,990 (215,43))
Property, plant, and equipment, | $ 296,65:. $ 274,82:

Depreciation expense for the years ended Decenlhet0®6, 2005, and 2004 was $38.8 million, $36.0ionj and $32.4 million, respective
The net property, plant, and equipment balancesgeber 31, 2006, included $13.1 million relateth®Corporation’s 2006 acquisitions.
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6. GOODWILL
Goodwill consists primarily of the excess purchpsee of acquisitions over the fair value of the agsets acquired.

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwillZ606 and 2005 are as follows:

Flow Motion Metal

(In thousands Control Control Treatmer Consolidate
December 31, 200 $115,20: $ 228,57! $ 20,53 $ 364,31
Goodwill from 2005 acquisition - 27,03 - 27,03¢
Change in estimate to fair value of net as

acquired in prior years 1,07( (53€) - 534
Additional consideration of prior ye¢

acquisitions 1,241 62¢ 60 1,93(
Foreign currency translation adjustm: (344 (4,810 (499 (5,659
December 31, 200 $117,16¢ $ 250,89t $ 20,09: $ 388,15¢
Goodwill from 2006 acquisition 8,91( - 4,59¢ 13,50¢
Change in estimate to fair value of net as

acquired in prior years 411 (1,459 (1,289 (2,33))
Additional consideration of prior ye¢

acquisitions 2,722 1,62¢ 13 4,36¢
Foreign currency translation adjustm: 85C 6,08¢ 46€ 7,402
December 31, 200 $130,06: $ 257,15t $ 23,88: $ 411,10:

Additional consideration of prior yearatquisitions includes accruals of $0.4 million floe year ended December 31, 2005, related to ed
and other required contractual payments. These atsaue classified in other current liabilitiesaailitional amounts due to sellers.

During 2006, the Corporation finalized the allooatof the purchase price for all businesses acdiyir®r to 2006. Approximately $13 milli
of the goodwill on acquisitions made during 200@ésluctible for tax purposes. None of the goodwiillthe 2005 acquisition was deduct
for tax purposes.

In accordance with SFAS No. 142, the Corporatiomgeted its annual goodwill impairment testing &sJoly 31, 2006, 2005 and 20
During the quarter ended December 31, 2006, thedzation changed the date of its annual goodwilaimment testing to October 31 in or
to better align with the Corporation’s normal besia process for updating the Corporasostrategic plan and forecasts. The Corpor
believes that the resulting change in accountingciple related to the annual testing date will detay, accelerate, or avoid an impairn
charge. Goodwill impairment tests performed as cfoBer 31, 2006 and July 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004laded that no impairment char
were required as of those dates. The Corporatidermiéned that the change in accounting principlategl to the annual testing date
preferable under the circumstances and does ndt residjustments to the Corporation’s financi@tsments when applied retrospectively.

7. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET

Intangible assets are generally the result of aitipims and consist primarily of purchased techgglocustomer related intangibles,
trademarks. Intangible assets are amortized oulusves that range between 1 and 20 years.
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The following table summarizes the intangible asseuired (including their weightedkerage useful lives) by the Corporation duringé
and 2005. No indefinite lived intangible assetseyaurchased in 2006 or 2005.

(In thousands, except years da 2006 2005
Amount Years Amount Years
Technology $ 2,39 12.1 $ 18,71( 19.7
Customer related intangibl 6,33( 8.7 11,107 17.7
Total $ 8,72 9.7 $ 29,81" 19.0

The following tables present the cumulative comgasiof the Corporation’s acquired intangible asset of December 31:

(In thousands Accumulate:
2006 Gross Amortizatior Net
Technology $ 94,61 $ (19,409 $ 75,20¢
Customer related intangibl 86,20¢ (14,400 71,80¢
Other intangible asse 12,41¢ (1,349 11,067
Total $193,23. $  (35,15) $158,08(
(In thousands Accumulater
20051 Gross Amortizatior Net
Technology $ 91,58 $  (13,44Y $ 78,13¢
Customer related intangibl: 79,34: (10,71H 68,621
Other intangible asse 12,41t (913) 11,50
Total $183,34( $ (25,079 $158,26°
1 Certain prior year information has been reclassifi® conform to current presentation.
The following table presents the changes in théaktnce of other intangible assets during 2006:

Customel Other

Related Intangible

(In thousands Technology Intangibles Assets Total
December 31, 200 $ 78,13¢ $ 68,627 $ 11,50: $ 158,26
Acquired during 200! 2,39( 6,33( - 8,72(
Change in estimate of fair value relatec
purchase price allocatic - 1,26( 29 1,28¢
Amortization expens (6,399 (5,20¢) (415 (12,01H
Net foreign currency translation adjustm 1,07¢ 794 (49 1,81¢
Total $ 75,20¢ $ 71,80t $ 11,06: $ 158,08(

Included in other intangible assets at December2BD6 and 2005, are $9.9 million of intangible &ss®t subject to amortization.
accordance with SFAS No. 142, the Corporation cetegl its annual test of impairment of indefiniteetl intangible assets during the fou
quarter of each year and concluded there was naiimpnt of value.

Amortization expense for the years ended DecembgeP@05 and 2004 was $11.9 million and $8.3 millimspectively. The estimated fut
amortization expense of purchased intangible assess follows:

(In thousands

2007
2008
2009
2010
2011

$ 12,362
12,302
11,280
10,801
10,584
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8. ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accrued expenses consist of the following:

(In thousandsDecember 31 2006 2005

Accrued compensatic $ 50,94! $  45,27(
Accrued commission 5,852 5,81¢
Accrued taxes other than income ta 3,98¢ 4,04¢
Accrued insuranc 4,11¢ 4,05z
Accrued interes 3,687 3,84:
Other 12,947 11,22(
Total accrued expens $ 81,53 $ 74,25

Other current liabilities consist of the followir

(In thousandsDecember 31 2006 2005

Warranty reserve $ 9,957 $ 9,85(
Litigation reserve: 6,512 718
Additional amounts due to sellers on acquisiti 4,67¢ 3,27¢
Current portion of environmental resen 2,441 2,67
Other 4,80( 4,908
Total other current liabilitie $  28,38¢ $ 2141

The accrued expenses and other current liabiltteBecember 31, 2006, included $1.5 million and7 $aillion, respectively, related to t
Corporation’s 2006 acquisitions.

The Corporation provides its customers with waiiggndn certain commercial and governmental prodismated warranty costs are chal
to expense in the period the related revenue isgrézed based on the terms of the product warrahty,related estimated costs,
guantitative historical claims experience. Thedameges are adjusted in the period in which actesililts are finalized or additional informat
is obtained. The following table presents the clearig the Corporation’s warranty reserves:

(In thousands 2006 2005

Warranty reserves at January $ 9,85( $ 9,661
Provision for current year sal 3,20¢ 3,18¢
Current year claim (2,045 (2,539
Change in estimates to |-existing warrantie (1,497 (1,700
Increase due to acquisitio 27 1,61¢
Foreign currency translation adjustm 414 (389
Warranty reserves at December $ 9,95 $ 9,85(

9. INCOME TAXES

Earnings before income taxes for the years endegmbker 31 consist of:

(In thousands 2006 2005 2004

Domestic $ 74,27 $ 77,44 $ 65,96:

Foreign 43,34 40,85¢ 32,79(

Total $ 117,62. $ 118,29¢ $ 98,75:
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The provision for income taxes for the years endedember 31 consist of:

(In thousands 2006 2005 2004
Current:
Federal $ 29,64( $ 25,36 $ 21,15¢
State 4,72¢ 6,02¢ 5,481
Foreign 14,10¢ 12,79 10,54¢
48,47 44,18 37,187
Deferred:
Federal (5,397 (674) (87¢)
State (930) 472 (1,969
Foreign (5,092 (961 (659
(11,419 (1,16%) (3,500
Provision for income taxe $ 37,05: $  43,01¢ $ 33,687

The effective tax rate varies from the U.S. fedstatutory tax rate for the years ended Decembgpr@icipally:

200¢€ 200% 2004
U.S. federal statutory tax ra 35.(% 35.(% 35.(%
Add (deduct).
State and local taxes, net of federal ber 2.C 34 1.6
Enacted future rate chanc (1.4 - -
R&D tax credits (3.0 (0.9 (0.2
Foreign rate differentic (0.8 (1.2 (1.2
All other, net (0.3 (0.4 (1.3
Effective tax rate 31.5% 36.4% 34.1%

The components of the Corporation’s deferred taet@sand liabilities at December 31 are as follows:

(In thousands 2006 2005
Deferred tax asset
Environmental reserves $ 9,71¢ $ 9,94¢
Inventories 8,261 8,35:
Postretirement/postemployment benefits 16,48¢ 16,45¢
Incentive compensation 10,79( 9,20:
Accrued vacation pay 4,92¢ 4,57(
Warranty reserve 2,27¢ 2,36:
Other 9,63¢ 7,607
Total deferred tax asse 62,10( 58,49t
Deferred tax liabilities
Retirement plans 15,15 10,37¢
Depreciation 19,35( 21,05¢
Goodwill amortization 15,19« 19,04
Other intangible amortization 32,20z 28,33:
Cumulative translation adjustment 2,38t -
Other 2,38¢ 4,41¢
Total deferred tax liabilitie 86,67( 83,22:
Net deferred tax liabilitie $ (24,570 $  (24,72)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are reflectedhe Corporation’s consolidated balance sheeeae®ber 31 as follows:



(In thousands) 2006 2005

Current deferred tax asst $ 32,48t $ 28,84:
Noncurrent deferred tax liabilitie (57,059 (53,570
Net deferred tax liabilitie $ (24,570 $  (24,72)
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As of December 31, 2006, the Corporation had stat foreign net operating loss carryforwards ofb$@illion, after tax. The state 1
operating loss carryforwards expire through the g823. The foreign net operating loss carryforvgdrdve no expiration date.

Income tax payments of $45.4 million were madedf&, $32.3 million in 2005, and $28.8 million in(D

No provision has been made for U.S. federal orijoréaxes on that portion of certain foreign sulasids’ undistributed earnings considere:
be permanently reinvested, which at December 306 2@as $45.3 million. It is not practicable toiestte the amount of tax that would
payable if these amounts were repatriated to ti;Uowever, it is expected there would be minimaho additional tax because of
availability of foreign tax credits.

In June 2006, the FASB issued FIN 48 to createnglesimodel to address accounting for uncertaintyain positions. FIN 48 clarifies t
accounting for income taxes, by prescribing a minimrecognition threshold a tax position is requitedneet before being recognized in
financial statements. FIN 48 also provides guidamt&erecognition, measurement, classificatioreregt and penalties, accounting in inte
periods, disclosure, and transition. FIN 48 is effee for fiscal years beginning after December28)6. The Corporation will adopt FIN 48
of January 1, 2007, as required. The cumulativeceff adopting FIN 48 will be recorded in retaireatnings and other accounts as applic
The Corporation is evaluating its tax positions amdicipates that the adoption of FIN 48 will n@vk a significant impact on its results
operations.

On October 22, 2004 the American Jobs CreationoA@004 (the “Act”) was signed into law. The Actlndes a ondime opportunity for
deduction of 85% of certain foreign dividends theg repatriated, as defined in the Act. Pursuathitoprovision of the Act, the Corporat
has repatriated $9.3 million in the fourth quad&R005 with a tax cost of $0.3 million. This taast was net of foreign tax credits which w
not previously provided. The Corporation shouldcbhasidered to have satisfied the Section 8.03 “kaf®or” contained in Notice 20083
since 100% of the required investments pursuatite@ection 965 dividend reinvestment plan have lpezde by the end of the 2005 tax year.

10. DEBT

Debt consists of the following:

(In thousands) December & 2006 2005

Industrial Revenue Bonds, due from 2007 througis: $ 14,18( $ 14,23¢
Revolving Credit Agreement, due 20 — —
5.13% Senior Notes due 20 74,78¢ 74,72¢
5.74% Senior Notes due 20 125,09 125,10¢
5.51% Senior Notes due 20 150,00( 150,00(
Other deb 814 82¢€
Total debi 364,87 364,90:
Less: Sho-term debi 5,87¢ 88t
Total Lon¢-term debt $ 359,00( $ 364,01

The weighted-average interest rate of the Corpmmailndustrial Revenue Bonds was 3.45% and 2.54%0@6 2nd 2005, respectively. 1
weighted-average interest rate of the Corporati®®golving Credit Agreement was 6.22% and 3.97%2006 and 2005, respectively.

The carrying amount of the Industrial Revenue Bamgisroximates fair value as the interest rateshismviariable debt are reset periodicall
reflect market conditions and rates. Fair valuegtie Corporatiors fixed rate debt totaled $350.8 million and $35mniflion at December 3
2006 and 2005, respectively. These fair values wstignated by management. The fair values descabese may not be indicative of
realizable value or reflective of future fair vadu&urthermore, the use of different methodolotpedetermine the fair value of certain finan
instruments could result in a different estimatéaif value at the reporting date.

Page 65




Aggregate maturities of debt are as folldWs

(In thousands

2007 $ 5,87¢
2008 62
2009 64
2010 75,06¢
2011 68
Thereaftel 283,86(
Total $ 364,99:

(@) Amounts exclude a $0.1 million adjustment to the fair value of long-term debt relating to the Corporation’s interest rate swap agreements that were settled in cash during
2005.

Interest payments of $21.3 million, $18.3 milli@amd $12.1 million were made in 2006, 2005, and 20€gpectively.

On December 1, 2005, the Corporation issued $1®dlidn of 5.51% Senior Notes (the “2005 NotesThe 2005 Notes mature on Decen
1, 2017. The Notes are senior unsecured obligatoidsare equal in right of payment to the Corporasi existing senior indebtedness.

Corporation, at its option, can prepay at any tather any part of the 2005 Notes, subject to aenakole amount in accordance with the te
of the Note Purchase Agreement. In connection with Notes, the Corporation paid customary fees lilaae been deferred and will
amortized over the terms of the Notes. The Corpmras required under the Note Purchase Agreeneentdintain certain financial ratios, -
most restrictive of which is a debt to capitaliratiimit of 60% and a cross default provision witle Corporatiors other senior indebtedne
As of December 31, 2006, the Corporation was ing@nce with all covenants.

In November 2005, the Corporation unwound its iegerate swap agreements with notional amount20frillion and $60 million whic
were originally put in place to convert a portiohtlee fixed interest on the $75 million 5.13% Serniotes and $125 million 5.74% Ser
Notes, respectively, to variable rates based onifspe spreads over s-month LIBOR. The unwind of these swap agreemersslted in a ne
loss of $0.2 million, which has been deferred andding amortized over the remaining term of theeulying debt.

On July 23, 2004, the Corporation amended its iegstredit facility, increasing the available lioé credit from $225 million to $400 millic
with a group of ten banks. The Corporation plansge the credit line for working capital purposaggrnal growth initiatives, funding of futL
acquisitions, and other general corporate purpoBes.credit agreement expires in 2009. Borrowingden the agreement bear interest
floating rate based on market conditions. In additithe Corporatios’ interest rate and level of facility fees dependneaintaining certa
financial ratios defined in the agreement. The ©Goxpon is subject to annual facility fees on tleenenitments under the Revolving Cre
Agreement. In connection with the Revolving Creliifreement, the Corporation paid customary transadies that have been deferred
are being amortized over the term of the agreenidre. Corporation is required under the agreememhamtain certain financial ratios ¢
meet certain financial tests as detailed in theagent, of which the Corporation is in compliant®acember 31, 2006. The unused ci
available under the Revolving Credit Agreement at&@nber 31, 2006 and 2005, was $362.2 million &8 $ million, respectively.

On September 25, 2003, the Corporation issued 82@0lion of Senior Notes (the “2003 NotesThe 2003 Notes consist of $75.0 millior
5.13% Senior Notes that mature on September 2% 20d $125.0 million of 5.74% Senior Notes thaturabn September 25, 2013. The Z
Notes are senior unsecured obligations and are @agught of payment to the Corporati's existing senior indebtedness. The Corporatic
its option, can prepay at any time all or any mdrthe 2003 Notes, subject to a maikele amount in accordance with the Note Purc
Agreement. The Corporation paid customary fees tizate been deferred and will be amortized overtdmns of the 2003 Notes. T
Corporation is required under the Note Purchasee@&ment to maintain certain financial ratios, thestmstrictive of which is a debt
capitalization limit of 60% and a cross default \ypsion with the Corporatios’ other senior indebtedness. As of December 316,20
Corporation was in compliance with all covenants.
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At December 31, 2006, substantially all of the isidial revenue bond issues are collateralized Byestate, machinery, and equipment. Ce
of these issues are supported by letters of crediich total $13.7 million. The Corporation had ieais other letters of credit totaling $2
million. Substantially all letters of credit arecladed under the Revolving Credit Agreement.

11. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The Corporation is required to report both basimiegs per share (“EPS”), based on the weiglaeetage number of Common sh:
outstanding, and diluted earnings per share, bagetthe basic EPS adjusted for all potentially dilitshares issuable. Share and per
amounts presented below have been adjusted on fopna basis for the April 21 2006 stock split. S¢ete 1O for further informatio
regarding the stock split.

At December 31, 2006, the Corporation had stockooptoutstanding of 380,723 shares that were redtided in the computation of dilut
EPS because to do so would have been antidilufivere were no antidilutive options outstanding atc&nber 31, 2005 or December 31, 2
Earnings per share calculations for the years ebdsgmber 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004, are as follows:

Weighte«-Average Earnings

(In thousands, except per share de Net Incom Shares Outstandil Per Shart
2006:
Basic earnings per she $ 80,56¢ 43,82¢ $1.84
Effect of dilutive securities

Stock option: 44k

Deferred stock compensati 63
Diluted earnings per sha $ 80,56¢ 44,33 $1.82
2005:
Basic earnings per she $ 75,28( 43,27( $1.74
Effect of dilutive securities

Stock option: 50C

Deferred stock compensati 58
Diluted earnings per sha $ 75,28( 43,82¢ $1.72
2004:
Basic earnings per she $ 65,06¢ 42,39; $1.52
Effect of dilutive securities

Stock option: 64¢

Deferred stock compensati 54
Diluted earnings per sha $ 65,06¢ 43,09¢ $1.51

12. STOCK COMPENSATION PLANS

The Corporation maintains three share-based comafiensplans under which it utilizes six differemtrins of employee and namploye:
share-based compensation awards, as explainedferfdetail below, which include nansalified share options, employee stock purchase
options, performance shares, performance restrigades, restricted stock, and restricted stocts.u@iertain awards provide for acceler:
vesting if there is a change in control. Prior &amJary 1, 2006, the Corporation applied the initinglue method of Accounting Princip
Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock IssuedEmployees,” and related interpretations in aotiog for stockbased employee awar
Accordingly, the Corporation did not recognize camgation expense for the issuance of qoalified share options with an exercise f
equal to the market value of the underlying comrstmtk on the date of grant or for options granteden the employee stock purchase |
Effective January 1, 2006, the Corporation ado@EAS 123(R) using the modified prospective traositnethod and therefore has not res!
prior periods. Under this transition method, congagion cost associated with employee stock optigtognized in 2006 includ
compensation expense related to the remaining tet/gmrtion of norgualified share options granted prior to JanuargQ6. The effect «
the change in 2006 from applying the original psawis of SFAS 123 on income from continuing operaiwas $4.9 million, on incor
before income taxes was $4.9 million, on net incomas $3.6 million, and basic and diluted earnings ghare was $0.08. As the requ
service period for performance shares, restrictedksunits, and performance restricted shares didbegin until after January 1, 2006,
compensation cost was recorded in prior periods.
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Additionally, SFAS 123(R) requires that cash flomesulting from tax deductions in excess of compmsacost that had been reflectec
operating cash flows be reflected as financing ¢lasts, which amounted to $1.9 million in 2006.

The compensation cost charged against income fptogt®e share-based compensation programs durir)i2@s follows:

(In thousands 2006
Non-qualified share option $ 3,55¢
Employee stock purchase optic 1,387
Performance shar 1,011
Performance restricted sha 26C
Restricted stock unit 56
Other shar-based paymen 34¢
Total shar-based compensation expense before income 6,621
Income tax benef 1,98¢
Net income impac $ 4,632
EPS Impact

Basic $ 0.11

Diluted $ 0.1C

Other share-based payments include unrestricte sivaards to employees and restricted stock awarde@nemployee directors, who ¢
treated as employees as prescribed by SFAS 123(R)compensation cost recognized follows the cbshe employee, which is primar
reflected as general and administrative expenstgeinonsolidated statements of earnings. No castaapitalized during 2006.

Pro forma information regarding net earnings arrdiegs per share is required by SFAS 123(R), ardbezn determined as if the Corpore
had accounted for its employee ngualified share options and employee stock purchiseoption grants under the fair value methogdrior
periods. The Corporation’s pro forma information tive years ended December 31, 2005, and 2004fidl @s's:

(In thousands, except per share de 2005 2004

Net earnings: As reporte $ 75,28( $ 65,06¢
Add: Total share-based employee compensation mestf related tax
effects, included in net income as reported - -
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensatioaresgdetermined
under fair value based method for all awards, hetlated tax
effects (2,56%) (1,867
Pro forma $ 72,71t $ 63,20¢

Net earnings per share:
As reported:

Basic $ 1.74 $ 1.5¢

Diluted $ 1.72 $ 1.51
Pro forma:

Basic $ 1.6¢ $ 1.4¢

Diluted $ 1.6€ $ 1.47
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1995 Long-Term Incentive Plan and 2005 Long-Tercemtive Plan

Awards under the 1995 Long-Term Incentive P{#re “1995 LTI Plan”) consisted of three components —performance unéshjc non-
qualified stock options, and namployee director grants. Under the 1995 LTI Plapraved by stockholders in 1995 and as amende006
and 2003, an aggregate total of 4,000,000 shar€smimon stock were approved for issuance. Issuasfc@emmon stock to satisfy emplo
option exercises will be made from the Corporatotteasury stock. The Corporation does not expmecepurchase any shares in 200
replenish treasury stock for issuances made tefgatiock option exercises.

Effective May 19, 2005, stockholders approved tb@32Long-Term Incentive Plgthe “2005 LTI Plan”) (collectively with the 1995 LTI Ple
the “LTI Plans”) , which superseded the 1995 LTI Plan. The sharesvika¢ registered and not yet issued under the 1993lan wer:
deregistered and then registered under the 2005P1AM. There are no new awards being granted uhdet995 LTI Plan and no remain
allowable shares for future awards under the 1986Rlan. As of December 31, 2006 there were opti@msesenting a total of 1.2 milli
shares outstanding under the 1995 plan.

Awards under the 2005 LTI Plan consist of six comgris — performance units (cash), mpalified stock options, performance she
performance restricted shares, restricted stoolf,rastricted stock units. Under the 2005 LTI Plan,aggregate total of 5,000,000 share
Common stock were registered. Issuances of Commoak $0 satisfy employee option exercises will bade from the Corporatios'treasur
stock. The Corporation does not expect to repurclay shares in 2007 to replenish treasury stocisémances made to satisfy stock of
exercises. No more than 200,000 shares of Comnuamk sir 100,000 shares of restricted stock may barded in any year to any c
participant in the 2005 LTI Plan.

Under the LTI Plans, the Corporation awarded perforce units of 8.5 million, 8.0 million, and 6.3llioh in 2006, 2005, and 20(
respectively, to certain key employees. The perforoe units are denominated in dollars and are rogerit upon the satisfaction
performance objectives keyed to achieving proféaimowth over a period of three fiscal years comeimenwith the fiscal year following su
awards. The anticipated cost of such awards isresqueover the thregear performance period, which amounted to $7.7anil $5.3 million
and $4.3 million in 2006, 2005, and 2004, respetyivThe actual cost of the performance units mary from the total value of the awa
depending upon the degree to which the key perfocmabjectives are met.

Under the LTI Plans, the Corporation grants gomdified stock options to key employees in therflowquarter of each year. Stock opti
granted under the LTI Plans expire ten years #fiedate of the grant and are generally exercisabfellows: up to ongiird of the grant aft
one year, up to two-thirds of the grant after tveans, and in full three years from the date of gran

Under the 2005 LTI Plan, the Corporation grantedgsmance shares, performance restricted sharstsicted stock, and restricted stock u
to certain of the Corporation’s key executives, eihare denominated in shares based on the fairenagiue of the Corporatios’'Commo
stock on the date of grant. The performance shaees granted to certain officers of the Corporatiothe fourth quarter of 2006 and 2005
are contingent upon the satisfaction of performaabgectives keyed to achieving profitable growtheiova period of three fiscal ye
commencing with the fiscal year following such agkaFhe performance restricted shares were graotegrtain key employees in the f
guarter of 2006 and were contingent upon the satisfn of performance objectives keyed to achiewiagain operating income statistic:
2006. For those objectives that were satisfied,pgormance restricted shares are restricted rfioadditional two years. The Corporal
granted restricted stock units to two key executiveSeptember 2006 and restricted stock to cekigynexecutives in November 2006, wh
under the terms of the agreements, will vest in62&xdd 2009, respectively.

In May 2003, the Corporation’s Board of Directorglastockholders approved an amendment to the 199%lan to authorize noamploye:
directors to participate in the plan. The amendnpeavided that each naemployee director could receive the equivalent 15,800 of th
Corporations Common stock per year. The Board of Directors@pmu and issued stock grants of 554 shares andt8@és in 2005 and 20
respectively, of the Corporation’s Common stocleach of the eight noemployee directors. The stock grants were valuéd 51000 based
the market price of the Corporation’s Common stogkhe grant date and were expensed at the tinsswdnce.

As of December 31, 2006, there are 3.8 million ri@mg allowable shares for issuance under the 2009°lan.
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Nor-Qualified Share Options

The fair value of the non-qualified share optionaswestimated at the date of grant using a Bfaheles option pricing model with t
assumptions noted in the following table. Expeateldtilities are based on historical volatility thie Corporatiors stock and other factors. 1
Corporation uses historical data to estimate thpeeted term of options granted. The rigke rate for periods within the contractual lifetloe
option is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curveffiact at the time of grant.

200¢ 200% 2004
Risk-free rate 4.5% 4.52% 3.8%
Expected volatility 22.1% 23.21% 31.3%
Expected dividend 0.65% 0.86% 0.64%
Expected term (in year 7 7 7
Weightec-average gra-date fair value of optior $ 12.06 $ 9.06 $ 10.7¢

A summary of employee stock option activity under 2005 and 1995 LTI Plans is as follows:

Weighte«-
Average Aggregate

Weighte«- Remaining Intrinsic

Shares Average Contractual Tern Value

(00C's) Exercise Prict in Years (00Cs)
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 1,91¢ $18.21
Granted 381 36.7¢
Exercised (315 12.8-
Forfeited (33 24.0¢

Outstanding at December 31, 2( 1,94¢ $22.6( 7.1 $28,22¢

Exercisable at December 31, 2( 1,24¢ $16.9- 5.8 $25,17:

The total intrinsic value of stock options exerdighuring 2006, 2005, and 2004 was $6.4 million2%8&illion, and $9.6 million, respective
The table above represents the Corporasi@stimate of options fully vested and/or expettedest as expected forfeitures are not mater
the Corporation, and therefore are not reflectatiéntable above.

As noted above, non-qualified stock option awaraseha graded vesting schedule. Compensation castagnized on a straighire basis ove
the requisite service period for each separatedyivg portion of each award as if each award wasubstance, multiple awards. During 2(
compensation cost associated with mpmdified stock options of $3.6 million was chargedexpense. The Corporation has applied a fork
assumption of 7% in the calculation of such experse of December 31, 2006, there was approximatdlys million of unrecognize
compensation cost related to nonvested stock aptishich is expected to be recognized over a wedyaverage period of 0.9 years.

Cash received from option exercises during 200652@nd 2004 was $4.1 million, $4.7 million, and1$illion, respectively. The total t
benefit generated from options granted prior toddelger 31, 2006, which were exercised during 200652and 2004 was $2.4 million, $
million and $3.5 million, respectively. During 200@x benefits received on exercised options whiehe subject to expenditure under Si
123(R) have been credited to deferred taxes umeéoamount of benefit recorded in the income statemeith the difference charged
additional paid in capital, while tax benefits rveel on exercised options that were not subjeeximenditure have been credited to additi
paid in capital. All of the 2005 and 2004 tax bétsefrere credited to additional paid in capital.
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Performance Shares, Performance Restricted ShRestricted Stock, and Restricted Stock L

Since 2005, the Corporation granted performanceestend performance restricted shares to certaptogees under the 2005 LTI Plan, wh
vesting is contingent upon meeting various depantaieind companyvide performance goals, including net income ter@efainst budget a
as a percentage of sales against a peer grouppandting income as a percentage of sales agaidgehuThe nonvested shares are subije
forfeiture if employment is terminated other thamedo death, disability, or retirement, and thersfiaare nontransferable while subjec
forfeiture. Restricted stock and restricted stooksuhave also been granted to key executives gl#@96. The nonvested restricted stock
restricted stock units are subject to forfeiturerfployment is terminated other than due to deatlisability, and the units are nontransfer.
while subject to forfeiture. A summary of the Corgtion’s nonvested performance share, performance restrgttare, restricted stock,
restricted stock unit activity for 2006 is as folls:

Weightec-Average

Shares, Weightec- Remaining Aggregate
Units Average Contractual Tern Intrinsic Value
(00C's) Fair Value in Years (00C's)
Nonvested at December 31, 2( 217 $27.9:
Granted 26¢€ 33.6¢
Vested - -
Forfeited (35 29.3¢
Nonvested at December 31, 2( 44¢ $31.21 3.7 $16,60:
Expected to vest at December 31, 2 29C $31.52 4.3 $10,75¢

The grantdate fair values of performance shares and perfocmaestricted shares are based on the market gfritee stock on the date
grant, and compensation cost is amortized to expens straight-line basis over the thyear requisite service period and assumes thatds
the performance shares will be forfeited. As fdtfie@ assumptions change, compensation cost willdpested on a cumulative basis in
period of the assumption change. In the fourth tguaof 2006, it was determined that 27,000 perfarcearestricted shares would eventu
vest, and, therefore, the Corporation expensed i®dli®dn associated for such change in forfeituséiraate for 2006. These shares will ren
under restriction for the next two years, and, ashsthe Corporation will have additional compeimaexpense associated with these gr
The grant date fair values of the restricted stac# restricted stock units are based on the maniet of the stock at the date of grant.
restricted stock and restricted stock units contaily a service condition, and thus compensatict soamortized to expense on a straigig-
basis over the requisite service period, which egnffom 3.0 years to 10.1 years. As of December28D6, there was $7.9 million
unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvegmedrmance shares, performance restricted sharsicted stock, and restricted st
units, which is expected to be recognized overreg®f 4.3 years.

Employee Stock Purchase P!

The Corporation’s 2003 Employee Stock Purchase @en“ESPP”) enables eligible employees to purettae Corporatiors Common stoc
at a price per share equal to 85% of the loweheffair market value of the Common stock at tharbegg or end of each offering period. E
offering period of the ESPP lasts six months, wité first offering period commencing on Januarn2@04. Participation in the offering
limited to 10% of an employeg’base salary (not to exceed amounts allowed uBdetion 423 of the Internal Revenue Code), me
terminated at any time by the employee, and autcaigt ends on termination of employment with ther@oration. A total of 2,000,000 sha
of Common stock have been reserved for issuancerthd ESPP. The Common stock to satisfy the gpockhases under the ESPP wil
newly issued shares of Common stock. During 2006,836 shares were purchased under the ESPP. Bsceimber 31, 2006, there were
million shares available for future offerings ar tCorporation has withheld $2.5 million from emyes, the equivalent of 93,000 she
Compensation cost is recognized on a straightBmss over the simonth vesting period during which employees perfoefated service
The Corporation recognized $0.1 million of tax b@nassociated with disqualifying dispositions digi2006, all of which was credited
additional paid in capital.
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The fair value of the employee stock purchase plations was estimated at the date of grant usiBtaek-Scholes option pricing model w
the weighted-average assumptions noted in theviollp table. Expected volatilities are based ondnisal volatility of the Corporatios’ stock
The Corporation uses historical data to estimageettpected term of options granted. The figle-rate for periods within the contractual lifk
the option is based on the U.S. Treasury yield eumeffect at the time of grant.

200¢ 200¢ 200¢
Risk-free interest rat 4.82% 2.8€6% 1.32%
Expected volatility 23.25% 30.9¢% 23.9¢%
Expected dividend yiel 0.42% 0.3:% 0.35%
Weightec-average option life (in year 0.t 0.t 0.t
Weighte-average gra-date fair value of optior $6.52 $6.68 $5.61

1996 Stock Plan for Non-Employee Directors and 28ftiek Plan for Non-Employee Directors

The 2005 Stock Plan for Non-Employee Directors (2&tock Plan”)approved by the stockholders in 2005, providedttiergrant of stoc
awards and, at the option of the nemployee directors, the deferred payment of regtlpulated compensation and meeting fees in etgnt
shares. Under the 2005 Stock Plan, the Corporatiomhemployee directors each receive an annual restratteek award, which is subject t
threeyear restriction period commencing on the datehefdrant. For 2006, the value of the award graimdtie first quarter was $50,0!
These restricted stock awards are subject to farteif the nonemployee director resigns or retires by reasorniobhher decision not to ste
for re-election prior to the lapsing of all restrictionsnless the restrictions are otherwise removed ley Gommittee on Directors a
Governance. The cost of the restricted stock awasiishe amortized over the three year restrictimgriod from the date of grant, or s
shorter restriction period as determined by theomeah of such restrictions. Newly elected non-empydirectors also receive a diree
restricted stock award, which during 2006 was vélae$25,000 and awarded in the second quartertdthEnumber of shares of Comn
stock available for grant under the 2005 Stock Pfery not exceed 100,000 shares. During 2006, thrpdtation awarded 15,320 share
restricted stock under the 2005 Stock Plan, of twBid 00 shares have been deferred by certain disect

The 1996 Stock Plan for Non-Employee Directors 88 $tock Plan”)approved by the stockholders in 1996, authorizedgtiant of restricte
stock awards and, at the option of the momployee directors, the deferred payment of regstipulated compensation and meeting fet
equivalent shares. Pursuant to the terms of thé 889ck Plan, noemployee directors received an initial restrictextls grant of 7,224 shai
in 1996, which became unrestricted in 2001. Addaity, on the fifth anniversary of the initial gtarthose noremployee directors wi
remained a noemployee director received an additional restrictextk grant equal to the product of increasing, 313 at an annual rate
2.96%, compounded monthly from the effective ddt¢he 1996 Stock Plan. In 2001, the amount perctirewas calculated to be $15,4
representing a total additional grant of 3,110rretetd shares. The cost of the restricted stockra@svies being amortized over the fiyeal
restriction period from the date of grant. Priorthe effective date of the 2005 Stock Plan, newécted nonemployee directors receiv
similar compensation under the terms of the 1996kKPlan upon their election to the Board.

Pursuant to election by n@mployee directors to receive shares in lieu ofneyt for earned and deferred compensation unde2Ghb an
1996 Stock Plans, the Corporation had providedafolaggregate additional 62,988 shares, at an avgnace of $20.38 as of December
2006. During 2006, the Corporation issued 7,51%eshisn compensation pursuant to such elections.
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13. ENVIRONMENTAL COSTS

The Corporation has continued the operation ofgiteeind water and soil remediation activities at WWeod-Ridge, New Jersey, site throt
2006. The cost of constructing and operating this was provided for in 1990 when the Corporatistablished a reserve to remediate
property. Costs for operating and maintaining #itie totaled $0.7 million in 2006, $0.8 million 2005, and $1.5 million in 2004, all of wh
have been charged against the previously establligserve. The Corporation increased the remediaéiserve by $0.3 million, $0.2 millic
and $0.3 million in 2006, 2005, and 2004, respetyivbased upon revised operating projections.r€kerve balance as of December 31, 2
was $6.0 million. Even though this property wasdsiol December 2001, the Corporation retained tispaesibility for this remediation
accordance with the sale agreement.

The Corporation has been named as a potentialyonsthle party (“PRP")as have many other corporations and municipalitiea,number ¢
environmental cleanp sites. The Corporation continues to make pragiasresolving these claims through settlement udisions an
payments from established reserves. Significaes siemaining open at the end of the year are: Gdldivucking landfill superfund sit
Fairfield, New Jersey; Sharkey landfill superfunté,sParsippany, New Jersey; Amenia landfill sAeenia, New York; and Chemsol, |
superfund site, Piscataway, New Jersey. The Caiiparaelieves that the outcome for any of theseaiaimg sites will not have a materie
adverse effect on the Corporation’s results of afi@ns or financial condition.

In the first quarter of 2005, the Corporation sdtsl Fairfield, New Jersey, property, which was ferty an operating facility for tt
Corporations Motion Control segment. Under the sale agreemést,Corporation has retained the responsibiliticaatinue the ongoir
environmental remediation on the property. At tlatedof the sale, remediation costs associated téFairfield site were anticipated to
incurred over three to five years with an estimatest of $1.5 million. Costs for operating and ntaiiming this site totaled $0.7 million in 2C
and $0.4 million in 2005. During 2006, the Corpamatincreased the remediation reserve by $0.7 anillbased upon revised opera
projections. As of December 31, 2006, the resealarite was $1.1 million.

In the fourth quarter of 2004, the Corporation @ased the remediation reserve related to the CHld@iweking landfill superfund site by $<
million. The increase related to the estimated gdwater remediation for this site, which could sparer 30 years. During 2006, -
Corporation increased the remediation reserve by B@llion based upon revised operating projectiditgough 2006, the majority of the cc
for this site have been for the soil remediation.

In 2003, the Corporation responded to a U.S. EPAuBst For Information concerning the Lower Pas$tiier site. The Corporatit
subsequently joined a cooperating parties grolgh&we costs relating to the site and in 2004 sigimealgreement with the other group mem
providing for an EPA study of the site. In 2006¢ tEorporation withdrew from the cooperating partigeup after determining that
operations did not contribute materially to the ditions of the Lower Passaic River site.

The Corporation maintains several Nuclear Regwa@ommission (“NRC")licenses necessary for the continued operatiomefaperatin
facility. In connection with these licenses, the®lRequires financial assurance from the Corporatiahe form of a parent company guara
representing estimated environmental decommisgjomind remediation costs associated with the comaleoperations covered by 1
licenses. In addition, the Corporation has oblaifor additional environmental remediation cagtshis facility, which are ongoing. As
December 31, 2006, the balance in this reserv&Qsrémillion. The Corporation obtained partial @owimental insurance coverage specific
for this facility. The policy provides coverage fosses due to on or off-site pollution conditiowhjch are pre-existing and unknown.

The Corporatiors aggregate environmental obligation at December2806 was $23.7 million compared to $25.3 millanDecember 3
2005. Approximately 75% of the Corporatisnénvironmental reserves as of December 31, 200@gent the current value of anticipz
remediation costs and are not discounted primally to the uncertainty of timing of expenditureee Temaining environmental reserves
discounted using a rate of 4% to reflect the timtu® of money since the amount and timing of casyments for the liability are reliak
determinable. All environmental reserves exclude @otential recovery from insurance carriers ordigarty legal actions. As of December
2006, the undiscounted cash flows associated Wighdiscounted reserves were $9.5 million and atieipated to be paid over the next
years.
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14. PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The Corporation maintains nine separate and dispeosion and other postretirement benefit planssisting of six domestic pension
other postretirement benefit plans and three sep&oeeign pension plans. The Corporation maintéiesfollowing domestic plans: a qualif
pension plan, a non-qualified pension plan, andsirptirement health-benefits plan (the “Curtissghtr Plans”).As a result of the acquisiti
of EMD in 2002, the Corporation obtained three wmdfied pension and postretirement benefit plans‘BMD Plans”), similar in nature to tho:
listed above. The unfunded status of the acquirglD BPlans was recorded as a liability at the dateafuisition. During 2003, the fur
associated with the qualified pension plans of lbéhCurtisswright Plans and EMD Plans were placed under aenastst fund, from whic
the Corporation directs the investment strateg\bfith plans.

The foreign plans consist of two defined benefitgien plans in the United Kingdom and one planam&ia as further described below.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 158nplayers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and OtherstRairemer
Plans” (“FAS 158").This statement requires companies to recognize dafdity or asset to report the funded statushdir defined bene
pension and other postretirement benefit planse(ftans”),with the offsetting adjustment recorded to AccurtedaOther Comprehensi
Income, net of tax. The financial statements ammb@panying disclosures reflect the initial recoigmitof the funded status as of Decembe
2006, and include additional disclosures requingthle statement. The following table is a summdrhe effects of the transition to FAS 158:

Incremental Effect of Applying FAS 158
on Individual Line Items in the Statement of Finangal Position
as of December 31, 2006

Before After

Application of Application of

Statement 15 Adjustments Statement 15
Prepaid pension cos $ 71,11 $ 21,147 $ 92,26:
Total asset 1,571,00! 21,147 1,592,151
Other current liabilitie: 19,60¢ 2,281 21,881
Accrued pension & other postretirement benefits 75,86: (4,85€) 71,00¢
Deferred income taxe 48,01¢ 9,03¢ 57,05t
Accumulated other comprehensive inca 41,12 14,68¢ 55,80¢
Total stockholders' equi 747,38t 14,68¢ 762,07

Domestic Plans

The Curtiss-Wright Plans

The Corporation maintains a naontributory defined benefit pension plan coversupstantially all employees other than those engsh
covered by the EMD Pension Plan described belove Chrtiss-Wright Retirement Plan (the “CW PensidanP formula for nonunior
employees is based on years of credited servicalantive highest consecutive yeac®mpensation during the last ten years of servicke
“cash balancebenefit. Union employees who have negotiated afiemaler the CW Pension Plan are entitled to aefiebased on years
service multiplied by a monthly pension rate. Enyples become participants under the CW Pension &ftan one year of service and
vested after five years of service. At DecemberZ8)6, the Corporation had prepaid pension cos®9@f3 million, including the impact
FAS 158. At December 31, 2005, the Corporation fragaid pension costs of $76.0 million. Due toftireded status, the Corporation does
expect to contribute funds to the CW Pension Ria2007.
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The Corporation also maintains a non-qualifiedaegton plan (the “CW Restoration Plargdvering those employees whose compensati
benefits exceed the IRS limitation for pension liégneBenefits under the CW Restoration Plan arefanded, and, as such, the Corpore
had an accrued pension liability of $1.9 million elsDecember 31, 2006 including the impact of FASB.1At December 31, 2005, 1
Corporation had an accrued liability of $0.7 millioThe Corporatiors contributions to the CW Restoration Plan areexpiected to be mater
in 2007.

The Corporation provides postretirement health fitsnt® certain employees (the “CW Retirement PJah{ 2002, the Corporation restructu
the postretirement medical benefits for certainvacemployees, effectively freezing the plan. ThHeigation associated with these ac
employees was transferred to the CW Pension Pla@.plan continues to be maintained for retired eyges. As of December 31, 2006,
Corporation had an accrued postretirement berefitlity of $0.8 million including the impact of F&158. At December 31, 2005, the acc
liability was $1.0 million. Benefits under the plare not funded. The Corporatisrcontributions to the CW Retirement Plan are npeeted t
be material in 2007.

The EMD Plans

The Corporation maintains the Curtiss-Wright Eleditechanical Corporation Pension Plan (the “EMD gt@m Plan”),a qualified contributor
defined benefit pension plan that covers all CsfiMright ElectroMechanical Corporation employees. The EMD Pensilam Rovers bot
union and norunion employees and is designed to satisfy the imements of relevant collective bargaining agreetsiefcmploye
contributions are withheld each pay period andeayeal to 1.5% of salary. The benefits under the ERdnsion Plan are based on yea
service and compensation. At December 31, 200€drporation had an accrued pension liability of $3aillion, including the impact of FA
158. At December 31, 2005, the accrued liability tee EMD Pension Plan was $30.5 million. The Coation expects to contribute $
million, the estimated minimum required amountthhe EMD Pension Plan in 2007.

Contributions are expected to decrease in 2007taluke anticipated merger of the CW and EMD Pensltans. The plan amendment !
executed in February 2007 with an effective dat@aetive to January 1, 2007. The merger has rexetin the level of plan benefits provii
to participants or the management of plan assete $he funds for both plans were historically ngethunder one master trust.

The Corporation maintains the Curtiss-Wright Eleditechanical Corporation Non-Qualified Plan (theME Supplemental Plan”), a non-
qualified, non-contributory, nofunded supplemental retirement plan for eligible EMey executives. The EMD Supplemental Plan pra
for periodic payments upon retirement that are thasetotal compensation (including amounts in egagsqualified plan limits) and years
service and are reduced by benefits earned frotainesther pension plans in which the executivedigipate. At December 31, 2006,
Corporation had an accrued pension liability of6®aillion, including the impact of FAS 158. At Denber 31, 2005, the accrued liability
the EMD Supplemental Plan was $2.5 million. Thegooations contributions to the EMD Supplemental Plan areempected to be material
2007.

The Corporation, through an administration agree¢mgth Westinghouse, maintains the WestinghouseegBuwent Services Group Welf
Benefits Plan (the “EMD Retirement Plan”), a regirbealth and life insurance plan for substantially of the Curtiss-Wright Electro-
Mechanical Corporation employees. The EMD Retirenidan provides basic health and welfare coveraga woneontributory basis. Benef
are based on years of service and are subjectrtairceaps. The Corporation had an accrued pastneéint benefit liability at December
2006 of $28.8 million, including the impact of FAS8. At December 31, 2005, the accrued liabilitytef EMD Retirement Plan was $3
million. Pursuant to the Asset Purchase Agreemttat, Corporation has a discounted receivable fromshWvigiton Group International
reimburse the Corporation for a portion of thesstmtirement benefit costs. At December 31, 2006 2005, the discounted receive
included in other assets was $4.5 million and $4#ilion, respectively. The Corporation expects mnizibute $2.0 million to the EM
Retirement Plan during 2007.
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Foreign Plans
Indal Technologies Hourly Plan (Canac

The Pension Plan for Hourly Employees of Indal Texbgies, Inc. (“Indal Plan"commenced on March 1, 2005 in connection witk
acquisition of Indal by the Corporation. This noontributory defined benefit plan provides montblnefits to eligible members equal 1
member§ credited service multiplied by a fixed dollar amb As of December 31, 2006, the Corporation hacaecrued pension liability
$0.2 million (including the impact of FAS 158), Whiat December 31, 2005 the Corporation had a mtegsset of $0.2 million. Tl
Corporation’s contributions to the Indal Plan aot expected to be material in 2007.

Metal Improvement Compar Salaried Staff Pension Scheme (U.K.)

The Corporation maintains the Salaried Staff Pensicheme (“MIC Plan”for the benefit of Metal Treatment employees in th&. This
contributory plan provides defined benefits to iblig members equal to orséxtieth of final pensionable salary for each ye&pensionabl
service. Members contribute at the rate of 6% efrthensionable salary and the Corporation fundsbtdance of the cost to provide bene
Members are eligible for early retirement with reed benefits. The plan provides for early retiretsreduced benefits, and is closed to
entrants. As of December 31, 2006, the Corporatiat an accrued pension liability of $4.7 millioncluding the impact of FAS 158.
December 31, 2005, the accrued liability was $0ilBan. The Corporatiors contributions to the MIC Plan are expected t@pproximatel
$1.5 million in 2007.

Penny & Giles Pension Plan (U.k

The Penny & Giles Pension Plan (“P&G Plaig)a contributory plan that provides for both defifbenefit and defined contribution bene
Defined benefit members are entitled to final satatated benefits equal to osedieth of final pensionable salary for each yefpensionabl
service. The P&G Plan provides for early retiremantreduced benefits, and is closed to new entrdmte following disclosures inclu
information for the Penny & Giles defined beneftson only, which represents the majority of tl&GPlan’s costs. As of December !
2006, the Corporation had an accrued pension ilialaf $1.4 million, including the impact of FAS &85At December 31, 2005, the accr
liability for the plan was $0.3 million. The Corg@tion’s contributions to the P&G Plan are expedtelde approximately $1.1 million in 2007.

In the following table, the pension benefits infation is a consolidated disclosure of all domeatid foreign plans described above.
postretirement benefits information includes thendstic CW and EMD postretirement benefit plansth@se are no foreign postretirem
benefit plans.
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(In thousands 2006 2005 2006 2005
Change in benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation at beginning of ye $ 305,59¢ $ 283,23 $ 30,68( $ 38,32(
Service cos 19,40¢ 16,25 53C 56¢
Interest cos 17,71« 17,54¢ 1,64¢ 1,81¢
Plan participants' contributiot 1,59¢ 1,56¢ 34C 18¢
Amendment: 2,08¢ 343 - -
Actuarial loss (gain (1098 9,46¢ (1,597 (8,330
Benefits paic (23,069 (20,669 (2,972 (1,889
Settlement: (1,300 - - -
Special termination benefi 723 - - -
Currency translation adjustmet 3,181 (2,139 - —
Benefit obligation at end of yeat 325,82¢ 305,59¢ 29,63 30,68(
Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of y 352,23¢ 314,43( - -
Actual return on plan asse 32,21 45,58¢ - -
Employer contributiot 9,63 12,78 1,632 1,69¢
Plan participants' contributic 1,59¢ 1,56¢ 34C 18¢
Benefits paic (23,069) (20,669 (1,972 (1,889
Settlement: (2,302 - - -

Currency translation adjustmet 2,371 (1,457 - -




Fair value of plan assets at end of ye: 373,67¢ 352,23 - —

Funded status 47,85( 46,64( (29,632 (30,680

Amounts recognized in the statement of financie
position consist of:

Noncurrent asse 92,26: 76,20: - -
Current liabilities (157) - (2,124 -
Noncurrent liabilities (43,499 (34,28Y) (27,509 (40,509
Net amount recognized in statement of financie

position: $ 48,61! $  41,91¢ $ (29,632 $ (40,509

Amounts recognized in accumulated other financia
comprehensive income consist o

Net actuarial loss (gair (13,43)) N/A (10,87 N/A
Prior service cost (credi 3,36¢ N/A - N/A
Net amount recognized in accumulated OC $ (10,06%) N/A $ (10,877 N/A

Amounts in AOCI expected to be recognize:
in net periodic cost in the coming year

Loss (gain) recognitio 421 N/A (522) N/A
Prior service cost recognitic 452 N/A - N/A
Accumulated benefit obligation $ 283,00! $ 270,59 N/A N/A

Information for pension plans with an accumulated
benefit obligation in excess of plan asse

Projected benefit obligatic 171,82 159,78 N/A N/A
Accumulated benefit obligatic 155,45° 143,22 N/A N/A
Fair value of plan asse 129,13: 114,34¢ N/A N/A

Weighted-average assumptions in determination ¢

benefit obligation:

Discount rate 5.91% 5.7(% 5.9% 5.7/%
Rate of compensation incree 4.0(% 3.54% N/A N/A

Health care cost trends:

Rate assumed for subsequent N/A N/A 11.5(% 13.00%
Ultimate rate reached in 2C N/A N/A 5.5(% 5.5(%
Measurement da September October 3 September & October 3
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The following table details the components of reriquic pension expense for all Pension Plans:

Components of net periodic benefit expens:

(In thousands) 2006 2005 2004

Service cos $ 19,40¢ $ 16,25 $  14,41¢
Interest cos 17,71« 17,57 15,75¢
Expected return on plan ass (26,58)) (25,63 (25,089
Amortization of prior service co: 452 151 112
Amortization of transition obligatio 4 4 4
Recognized net actuarial lo 51C 40€ 33
Cost of settlemer 832 - 257
Special termination benefi 723 - -
Net periodic benefit expen: $ 13,05¢ $ 8,74( $ 5,48:

Weightec-average assumptions in determination of net peri
benefit cost

Discount rate 5.7(% 5.98% 6.12%
Expected return on plan assets 8.45% 8.4€% 8.4%%
Rate of compensation increase 3.54% 3.51% 3.37%

The “Cost of settlement” and “Special terminatioenbfits” indicated above represent events that are accodatednder SFAS No. 8
"Employers' Accounting for Settlements and Curteits of Defined Benefit Pension Plans and for Teation Benefits" (“FAS 88")The
settlement charge is resulting from the retirentdra key executive and his subsequent electiordsive his pension benefit as a single |
sum payout. As a result of this single lump sumapay special settlement requirements under FAS @& tbeen triggered. The spe
termination benefits charge resulted from benelfitsred for a limited period of time to certain eiloyees in the Motion Control segment v
were subject to a reduction in workforce with theridration during 2006. Consistent with the requieats of FAS 88, this liability is to
recognized when the employees accept the offetr@dmount can be reasonably estimated.

The following table details the components of rerigulic expense for the CW and EMD Retirement Plans

(In thousands 2006 2005 2004

Service cos $ 53C $ 56 $ 78¢
Interest cos 1,64 1,81¢ 2,39¢
Recognized net actuarial ge (539 (397) (73
Net periodic benefit expen: $ 164. $ 198t § 3,117

Weighte-average assumptions in determination of net peribdnefit

cost:
Discount rate 5.7/% 5.9&% 6.24%%
Health care cost trends:
Current year rate 13.0(% 9.7(% 11.4(%
Ultimate rate reached in 2010, 2010, and 2007 easely 5.5(% 5.5(% 6.16%

The effect on the CW and EMD Retirement Plans t#achange in the health care cost trend is aswsllo

(In thousands 1% Increast 1% Decreas

Total service and interest cost compont $ 344 $ (27%)

Postretirement benefit obligatit $3,80¢ $(3,149)
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The following benefit payments, which reflect exigecfuture service, as appropriate, are expectéeé twaid from the plans:

EMD
Pensior Postretiremer Subsidy
(In thousands  Plans Plans Receipte  Total
2007 $ 19,18( $ 2,27t $(108 $ 21,34}
2008 19,50( 2,315 (113; 21,704
2009 19,89¢ 2,24¢ (118; 22,02¢
2010 20,06¢ 2,314 (125, 22,25¢
2011 20,63¢ 2,331 (131; 22,84¢
2012- 2016 114,86« 11,52; (759 125,62

Pension Plan Assets

The Corporation maintains the funds of the CW Remsilan and the EMD Pension Plan under one masigr The Corporatios’retiremer
plans are diversified across investment classesaarahg investment managers in order to achieveptimal balance between risk and ret
In accordance with this policy, the Corporation feasablished target allocations for each asset @dasl ranges of expected exposure.
Corporations retirement assets are invested within this afiogastructure in three major categories: domestjuity securities, internatior
equity securities, and debt securities. Below heeQorporation’s actual and established targetations:

As of December 31 Target Expectec
Asset clas: 200¢ 200¢ Exposure Range
Domestic equitie: 52% 54% 50% 40%- 60%
International equitie 20% 15% 15% 10%- 20%
Total equity 72% 69% 65% 55%- 75%
Fixed income 28% 31% 35% 25%- 45%
Cash 0% 0% 0% 0% - 10%

The Corporation may from time to time require thallocation of assets in order to bring the retgatrplans into conformity with these rang
The Corporation may also authorize alterationsesiations from these ranges where appropriatedbireaing the objectives of the retirem
plans. The Corporation’s investment policy doespeit its investment manager to invest plan fundbe Corporation’s stock.

The longterm investment objective of the domestic retiretm@ans is to achieve a total rate of return, rfdtees, which exceeds the actue
overall expected return on assets assumption &b 8&ed for funding purposes and which providesporapriate premium over inflation. T
intermediateterm objective of the domestic retirement planginge as three to five years, is to outperform eafcthe capital markets in whi
assets are invested, net of fees. During perio@xtoéme market volatility, preservation of captekes a higher precedence than outperfor
the capital markets.
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The overall expected return on assets assumptied insthe calculation of annual net periodic benefist is based on a combination of
historical performance of the pension fund and etgi®ns of future performance. The historical mesuare determined using the market-
related value of assets, includes the recognitforealized and unrealized gains and losses overeayéar period. Over the last ten years
marketrelated value of assets had an average annual ¢fil8.2%, whereas the actual returns averaged @ib%g the same period. Giv
the uncertainties of the current economic and gitoyad landscape, the Corporation considers 8.8%é a reasonable assumption of fu
long-term investment returns. While the Corporatiakes into account historical performance, itsuagsgtions also consider the forward-
looking long-term outlook for the capital markets.

Foreign plan assets represent 6.5% of consolidalad assets, with the majority of the assets supmpthe U.K. plans. The foreign ple
follow a similar asset allocation strategy, wittvaighted expected return on assets assumptiorb%4.7.

Other Pension and Postretirement Plans

The Corporation offers all of its domestic emplayebe opportunity to participate in a defined cimition plan. Costs incurred by 1
Corporation in the administration and record kegpif the defined contribution plan are paid forthg Corporation and are not considke
material.

In addition, the Corporation had foreign pensioatsander various defined contribution plans oB3$8illion, $2.3 million, and $1.5 million
2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively.

15. LEASES

The Corporation conducts a portion of its operatifnom leased facilities, which include manufactgrind service facilities, administrat
offices, and warehouses. In addition, the Corponattases automobiles, machinery, and office egeiprander operating leases. The le
expire at various dates and may include renewalseaalations. Rental expenses for all operatiagele amounted to $21.3 million in 2(
$21.9 million in 2005, and $18.5 million in 2004.

At December 31, 2006, the approximate future mimmrental commitments under operating leases thaé laitial or remaining non-
cancelable lease terms in excess of one year dod@sgs:

Rental
(In thousands Commitment
2007 $ 16,89t
2008 15,15:
2009 12,617
2010 9,947
2011 7,50:
Thereaftel 17,56¢
Total $ 79,68(

16. INDUSTRY SEGMENTS

The Corporation manages and evaluates its opesaltiased on the products and services it offerdtendifferent markets it serves. Baset
this approach, the Corporation has three reportsddenents: Flow Control, Motion Control, and Méelatatment. The Flow Control segm
primarily designs, manufactures, distributes, amdiises a broad range of highly engineered flomtrabrproducts for severe service milit
and commercial applications. The Motion Controlreegt primarily designs, develops, and manufactoreshanical systems, drive syste
and electronic controls and sensors mainly foratmspace and defense industries. Metal Treatmewidpes various metallurgical servic
principally shot peening, coatings, and heat tngatThe segment provides these services to a lsmextrum of customers in various indust
including aerospace, automotive, construction egeipt, oil and gas, petrochemical, and metal working
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The accounting policies of the operating segmerdstlze same as those described in the summangwifisant accounting policies. Inter
expense and income taxes are not reported on aatogesegment basis because they are not condidtethe performance evaluation by
Corporation’s chief operating decision-maker, itaman and CEO.

Sales to one customer of the Flow Control segmiemtuggh which the Corporation is a subcontractoth® U.S. Government were 9%
consolidated revenues in 2006, 10% in 2005, and &B82004. During 2006, 2005, and 2004, the Corponahad no commercial custor
representing more than 10% of consolidated revenue.

Consolidated Industry Segme Flow Motion Metal Segmer Corporat

Information:(In thousands) Contro Contro Treatmer Total and Othef?) Consolidatec
Year Ended December 31, 20!
Revenue from external custom: $ 548,12. $ 509,46. $ 224,57 $ 1,282,15! $ — $ 1,282,15!
Intersegment revenu 14 1,28: 814 2,11(C (2,110 —
Operating income (expens 60,54: 55,24: 42,38t 158,16¢ (17,54 140,62¢
Depreciation and amortizatic

expense 18,367 20,29¢ 12,00¢ 50,67( 121 50,791
Segment asse 495,00( 695,21¢ 222,74 1,412,96. 179,19: 1,592,151
Capital expenditure 14,015 12,33: 12,694 39,04« 1,15¢ 40,20:
Year Ended December 31, 20(
Revenue from external custom: $ 466,54t $ 465,45: $ 198,93: $ 1,130,92 $ — $ 1,130,92i
Intersegment revenu — 54¢ 54k 1,09: (2,099 WY
Operating income (expens 54,50¢ 50,48¢ 34,47( 139,46 (1,482) 137,98:
Depreciation and amortizatic

expense 17,307 19,57: 10,83¢ 47,71¢ 13€ 47,85!
Segment asse 440,55( 653,03 194,27¢ 1,287,86! 112,41¢ 1,400,28!
Capital expenditure 16,45¢ 12,96¢ 12,91¢ 42,34« 10C 42,44¢
Year Ended December 31, 20!
Revenue from external custom $ 388,13¢ $ 388,57t $ 178,32: $ 955,03¢ $ — $ 955,03¢
Intersegment revenu — 144 55k 69¢ (699) WY
Operating income (expens 44,45 44,89: 28,11 117,45! (7,119 110,34
Depreciation and amortizatic

expense 15,88¢ 14,21 10,38! 40,47¢ 263 40,74
Segment asse 415,50« 576,27} 194,70t 1,186,48! 91,95¢ 1,278,441
Capital expenditure 10,42( 10,17: 11,72¢ 32,31¢ 138 32,45:

@ Operating expense for Corporate and Other inclpéesion expense, environmental remediation andrasimative expenses, legal, and other expenses.

Reconciliations

For the years ended December (In thousands 2006 2005 2004

Revenues

Total segment revent $ 128215 $ 1,130,922 $ 955,03

Intersegment revent 2,11( 1,09: 69¢

Elimination of intersegment reven (2,110 (1,097 (69€)
Total consolidated revenues $ 1,282,15! $ 1,130,920 $ 955,03¢

Earnings before taxe:!

Total segment operating incor $ 158,16¢ $ 139,46: $ 117,45!
Corporate and administrati (17,54 (1,482 (7,114
Other income, ne (112 29¢ 44:
Interest expens (22,899 (19,989 (12,037
Total consolidated earnings before tax $ 117,62. $ 118,29¢ $ 98,75!
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Reconciliations

For the years ended December (In thousands 2006 2005 2004

Assets

Total assets for reportable segme $ 1,412,96. $ 1,287,86! $1,186,48!

Pension asse 92,02 76,00: 77,80:

Non-segment cas 75,06¢ 24,99t 54t

Other asset 12,10: 11,42: 13,60¢
Total consolidated assets $ 1,592,15i $ 1,400,28! $1,278,44

The following table presents geographical informatbf the Corporatios revenues and property, plant, and equipment baséue location ¢
the customer and the assets, respectively:

December 31(In thousands 2006 2005 2004
Long-Lived Long-Lived Long-Lived
Revenue: Assets Revenue: Assets Revenue: Assets

Geographic Informatior

United States of Americ $ 966,29¢ $ 189,33: $ 864,46 $ 182,27 $ 735,35¢ $ 181,70¢
United Kingdom 111,67¢ 60,42¢ 109,65¢ 49,79¢ 92,54: 52,56¢
Canads 48,99t 29,05¢ 38,59¢ 26,28¢ 20,67¢ 14,13¢
Other foreign countrie 155,18t 17,84( 118,20¢ 16,46: 106,46’ 16,83
Consolidated totz $ 1,282,15! $  296,65: $ 1,130,92 $ 274,82 $ 955,03¢ $ 265,24

17. CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

The Corporation, through its Flow Control segmérais several NRC licenses necessary for the cowtioperation of its commercial nucl
operations. In connection with these licenses,NREC required financial assurance from the Corporath the form of a parent comp
guarantee, representing estimated environmentahnd@déssioning and remediation costs associated twétcommercial operations coverec
the licenses. The guarantee for the decommissiaosts of the refurbishment facility, which is ested for 2017, is $3.1 million. See Note
for further information.

The Corporation enters into standby letters of itragreements with financial institutions and cuséos primarily relating to guarantees
repayment on certain Industrial Revenue Bondsréuperformance on certain contracts to provide ypectsland services, and to secure adv
payments the Corporation has received from ceitggrnational customers. At December 31, 2006, 2@0®B 2004, the Corporation t
contingent liabilities on outstanding letters oédit of $37.8 million, $32.2 million, and $19.4 kwh, respectively.

In January of 2007, a former executive was awagfgatoximately $9.0 million in punitive and competosg damages plus legal costs reli
to a gender bias lawsuit filed in 2003. The Corfiorahas recorded a $6.5 million reserve relatethto lawsuit and intends to appeal
verdict. The Corporation has determined that firigbable that the punitive damages verdict wiltéeersed on appeal, therefore no reserv
been recorded for that portion.

Consistent with other entities its size, the Cogtion is party to a number of legal actions andntéa none of which individually or in tl
aggregate, in the opinion of management, are egfdothave a material adverse effect on the Cotipora results of operations or finant
position.

18. GAIN ON THE SALE OF REAL ESTATE

On March 17, 2005, the Corporation completed the ahits Fairfield, New Jersey property, a fornogerating property, for $10.5 million. T
property encompasses approximately 39 acres andorrasrly an operating facility for the CorporatisiMotion Control segment now loca
in Shelby, North Carolina. As a result of the s#he, Corporation recognized a e gain of $2.8 million in the first quarter of @), which i
recorded in operating income in the Corporatiordmsédlidated Statements of Earnings.

Page 82




QUARTERLY RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (UNAUDITED)

(In thousands, except per share d¢ First Seconc Third Fourth
2006
Net sales $ 282,55 309,63! 311,80: 378,16:
Gross profil 92,06 105,55 106,01¢ 127,44°
Net earning: 12,27¢ 21,09: 20,35¢ 26,84
Earnings per shar
Basic earnings per share $ 0.2¢ 0.4¢ 0.4¢€ 0.61
Diluted earnings per share 0.2¢ 0.4¢ 0.4¢€ 0.6C
Dividends per shar 0.0€ 0.0€ 0.0€ 0.0€
2005
Net sales $ 258,48’ 283,19: 271,35! 317,89
Gross profil 85,76¢ 100,29¢ 93,51¢ 110,92¢
Net earning: 14,52 17,93¢ 17,51¢ 25,30¢
Earnings per shar
Basic earnings per share $ 0.34 0.41 0.4C 0.5¢
Diluted earnings per share 0.3 0.41 0.4C 0.5¢
Dividends per shar 0.0t 0.0t 0.0t 0.0¢

See notes to the consolidated financial statenfenesdditional financial information.
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Report of the Corporation

The consolidated financial statements appearinggeém 8 of this Form 16 have been prepared by the Corporation in configrmith
accounting principles generally accepted in thetéthiStates of America. The financial statementesgarily include some amounts that
based on the best estimates and judgments of ttppdion. Other financial information in the AnthiReport on Form 16 is consistent wit
that in the financial statements.

The Corporation maintains accounting systems, phaes, and internal accounting controls designegréwide reasonable assurance
assets are safeguarded and that transactions ecatea in accordance with the appropriate corpaatkorization and are properly recort
The accounting systems and internal accountingreisnare augmented by written policies and procestuorganizational structure provid
for a division of responsibilities; selection arrdining of qualified personnel; and an internal iaylogram. The design, monitoring, ¢
revision of internal accounting control systemsoiwe, among other things, managemerjtidgment with respect to the relative cost
expected benefits of specific control measures. &dament of the Corporation has completed an asseswh the Corporatios’ interna
controls over financial reporting and has includethnagement’s Annual Report on Internal Control OF@ancial Reportingin Iltem 9A o
this Form 10-K.

Deloitte & Touche LLP, independent auditors, perfed an audit of the Corporatienfinancial statements that also included formin
opinion on managememtassessment of internal controls over financigbming as well as the effectiveness of such cdsmfar the year end:
December 31, 2006. An audit includes examiningadast basis, evidence supporting the amounts @otbsures in the financial stateme
An audit also includes assessing the accountimgiples used and significant estimates made by gemant, as well as evaluating the o
financial statement presentation. The objectivethair audit is the expression of an opinion on fhegness of the presentation of
Corporations financial statements in conformity with accougtprinciples generally accepted in the United StateAmerica, in all materi
respects, on managementissessment of the effectiveness of internal alsnover financial reporting, and on the effectiess of intern:
controls over financial reporting as of DecemberZ106.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, carepd entirely of directors who are independenthaf €orporation, appoints 1
independent auditors for ratification by stockhotdand, among other things, considers the scofieeahdependent auditorekamination, th
audit results, and the adequacy of internal ac@ogirontrols of the Corporation. The independemtitaus and the internal auditor have di
access to the Audit Committee, and they meet with committee from time to time, with and without magement present, to disc
accounting, auditing, non-audit consulting servidgeternal control, and financial reporting matters

Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Curtiss-Wright Corporation
Roseland, New Jersey

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balafeets of Curtiss-Wright Corporation and subsiel (the “Company”as o
December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the related cdasetl statements of earnings, stockholdeggsiity, and cash flows for each of the ti
years in the period ended December 31, 2006. Cditsaalso included the financial statement schetisted in the Index at Item 15. Thi
financial statements and financial statement sdeealte the responsibility of the Compasyhanagement. Our responsibility is to expre:
opinion on these financial statements and finarste@tement schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBlaUnited States). Those stand.
require that we plan and perform the audit to obta@asonable assurance about whether the finastaééments are free of mate
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on tiliasis, evidence supporting the amounts and diss in the financial statements. An &
also includes assessing the accounting princigded and significant estimates made by managementethas evaluating the overall finan
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
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In our opinion, such consolidated financial statetegresent fairly, in all material respects, timarficial position of the Company at Decen
31, 2006 and 2005, and the results of their opmratand their cash flows for each of the threesygathe period ended December 31, 200
conformity with accounting principles generally apted in the United States of America. Also, in opinion, such financial statem
schedule, when considered in relation to the bemisolidated financial statements taken as a wipoésent fairly, in all material respects,
information set forth therein.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated findnsiatements, effective January 1, 2006 the Compedgpted Statement of Finani
Accounting Standard (SFAS) No. 123(R) ShBesed Payment. Also as discussed in Note 1 to ¢insodidated financial statements,
Company adopted SFAS No. 158, Employers’ AccounforgDefined Benefit Pension and Other Postretingimilans -an Amendment «
FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106 and 132(R) as oéDéer 31, 2006.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasdz the Public Company Accounting Oversight Blo@ynited States), the effectivenes
the Company's internal control over financial rejpgr as of December 31, 2006, based on the critestablished in Internal Contrel
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee onSpong Organizations of the Treadway Commissioth @mr report dated February
2007 expressed an unqualified opinion on managesessessment of the effectiveness of the Compamtgsial control over financi
reporting and an unqualified opinion on the effestiess of the Company's internal control over fifereporting.

s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Parsippany, New Jersey
February 26, 2007

Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindgrirm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Curtiss-Wright Corporation
Roseland, New Jersey

We have audited management's assessment, inclodbe accompanying Managemenfinnual Report On Internal Control Over Finar
Reporting, that Curtisg¥right Corporation and subsidiaries (the "Companmygintained effective internal control over finaaddieporting as «
December 31, 2006, based on the criteria estadlighdnternal Control+htegrated Framework issued by the Committee ofnSpong
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. The Camgamanagement is responsible for maintainingcéffe internal control over financ
reporting and for its assessment of the effectisern# internal control over financial reporting. rQasponsibility is to express an opinion
management's assessment and an opinion on théeffexss of the Company's internal control ovearitial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stededof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti8g&nited States). Those stand:
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtaBsonable assurance about whether effectiven@iteontrol over financial reporting w
maintained in all material respects. Our audit udeld obtaining an understanding of internal contnar financial reporting, evaluati
management's assessment, testing and evaluatingesign and operating effectiveness of internaltrobnand performing such ott
procedures as we considered necessary in the ctannes. We believe that our audit provides a redse basis for our opinions.

A company's internal control over financial repogtis a process designed by, or under the supenvi, the company's principal execu
and principal financial officers, or persons pemfiorg similar functions, and effected by the comparoard of directors, management,
other personnel to provide reasonable assuraneedieg the reliability of financial reporting antet preparation of financial statements
external purposes in accordance with generally medeaccounting principles. A company's internaitod over financial reporting includ
those policies and procedures that (1) pertaihearaintenance of records that, in reasonablel dataurately and fairly reflect the transacti
and dispositions of the assets of the companypr@ide reasonable assurance that transactiongeeseded as necessary to permit prepar
of financial statements in accordance with gengatlcepted accounting principles, and that receiptsexpenditures of the company are k
made only in accordance with authorizations of ngan@ent and directors of the company; and (3) peviehsonable assurance regar
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized asijjon, use, or disposition of the company's as¢lesit could have a material effect on
financial statements.
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Because of the inherent limitations of internal tcohover financial reporting, including the posdétg of collusion or improper managemi
override of controls, material misstatements duertor or fraud may not be prevented or detected ¢timely basis. Also, projections of ¢
evaluation of the effectiveness of the internaltominover financial reporting to future periods asebject to the risk that the controls r
become inadequate because of changes in conditibtigt the degree of compliance with the policeprocedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management's assessment that thep@uy maintained effective internal control overaficial reporting as of December
2006, is fairly stated, in all material respectasdd on the criteria established in Internal Cdénttategrated Framework issued by
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tread@ommission. Also in our opinion, the Company mteined, in all material respec
effective internal control over financial reportiag of December 31, 2006, based on the critergbksttied in Internal ControHntegrate:
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoringa@mations of the Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@dnited States), the consolida
financial statements and financial statement sdeeds of and for the year ended December 31, 20@6eoCompany and our report de
February 26, 2007 expressed an unqualified opioiothose financial statements and financial statérsehedule and included an explana
paragraph regarding the Company’s adoption of 8tate of Financial Accounting Standard (SFAS) No3(R) ShareBased Payment
January 1, 2006 and SFAS No. 158, Employers’ Actingrfor Defined Benefit Pension and Other Pogteatient Plans an Amendment «
FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106 and 132(R) as oéDéer 31, 2006.

s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Parsippany, New Jersey
February 26, 2007
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountéson Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9A. Controls And Procedures.

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of December 31, 2006, the Corporation’s managemecluding the Corporatios’ Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial O#fit
conducted an evaluation of the Corporation’s dsate controls and procedures, as such term isatkfiinRules 13a-15(e) and 1%8{e) unde
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended“fRRchange Act”). Based on such evaluation, thep@ations Chief Executive Offict
and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Qugtion’s disclosure controls and procedures are effedtivall material respects, to ens
that information required to be disclosed in thports the Corporation files and submits under tlxehBnge Act is recorded, proces:
summarized, and reported as and when required.

Managemeris Annual Report On Internal Control Over Finan&eaborting

The Corporatiors management is responsible for establishing ardtaiaing adequate internal control over finanegborting, as defined
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securliieshange Act of 1934, as amended.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohwver financial reporting may not prevent or détmisstatements. Also, projections of
future effectiveness of controls currently deem#fdcive are subject to the risk that controls nigome inadequate because of chanc
conditions or deterioration in the degree of coamudie with the policies or procedures.

The Corporation’s management assessed the effeetigeof the Corporatios’internal control over financial reporting as oéd@mber 3:
2006. In making this assessment, the Corporatioranagement used the criteria established by dhen@ittee of Sponsoring Organization:
the Treadway Commission in Internal Control-IntegdaFramework.

Management believes that, as of December 31, 20@6Corporatiors internal control over financial reporting is effiee based on ti
established criteria.

The Corporatiors assessment of the effectiveness of internal alsntrver financial reporting as of December 31,860@s been audited
Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independent registereblipuiaccounting firm, and their report thereonnisluded in Item 8 of this Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportin

There were no changes in the Corporasoimternal control over financial reporting durittge most recently completed fiscal quarter
materially affected, or are reasonably likely tatenally affect, our internal control over finantiaporting.

Iltem 9B. Other Information.
None.
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PART IlI

The information required by Items 10, 11, 12, 18 &4 of Part |1l of this report, to the extent rsatt forth herein, is incorporated hereir
reference from the registrant's definitive proxgtement relating to the annual meeting of stocldrsido be held on May 4, 2007, wf
definitive proxy statement shall be filed with t8ecurities and Exchange Commission within 120 ddies the end of the fiscal year to wt
this report relates. Information required by Ite@ilth) of Regulation S-K is included in Part | ofstireport under the captiorEXecutive
Officers” and information required by Item 201(d) Regulation S-K is included in Part Il of this m¥p under the captionSecuritie
Authorized For Issuance Under Equity Compensatiang?.

PART IV

Iltem 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedule.

@)

(b)

Financial Statements and Footnc

The following are documents filed as part of tlapart in Part Il, Item €
Consolidated Statement of Earnir

Consolidated Balance She

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flc

Consolidated Statement of Sharehol’ Equity

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statems

Financial Statement Schedt
Schedule —Valuation and Qualifying Accoun

All other financial statement schedules have bemritted because they are either
required, not applicable or the required informati® shown in the Consolidated Finant
Statements or Notes there

Exhibits

2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger and Recapitalizatiated as of February 1, 2005, by
between the Registrant and CW Merger Sub, Inco(jmarated by reference to Exhi
2.1 to Form -K filed February 3, 2005

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatinoofporated by reference to Forl-
A/A filed May 24, 2005)

3.2 Amended and Restated -Laws (incorporated by reference to For-A/A filed May 24,
2005).

3.3 Form of stock certificate for Common Stock (incaigeed by reference to Forn-A/A
filed May 24,2005)

4.1 Agreement to furnish to the Commission upon reqaesipy of any lor-term debt
instrument where the amount of the securities aithd thereunder does not exceed
of the total assets of the Registrant and its slidosés on a consolidated ba
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 to Forn-K for the year ended December !
1985).

4.2 Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreemermddaly 23, 2004, betwe:
Registrant, the Lenders parties thereto from tionnte, the Issuing Banks referred
therein and The Bank of America, N.A. (incorporalgdeference to Exhibit 4.1 to For
1C-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 20
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4.3

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.1

10.11

10.12

10.13

Second Amended and Restated Rights Agreement, datefiMay 24, 2005, between 1
Registrant and American Stock Transfer & Trust Camyp as Rights Agel
(incorporated by reference to Registration Stateéroar-orm -A/A filed May 24, 2005)

Modified Incentive Compensation Plan, as amendedeNer 9, 1989 (incorporated
reference to Exhibit 10(a) to Form-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 19¢

CurtissWright Corporation 2005 Omnibus Lo-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated
reference to Appendix B to Proxy Statement filediAp, 2005).*

Form of Long Term Incentive Award Agreement, daladuary 1, 2006, between 1
Registrant and the executive officers of the Regigt( incorporated by reference
Exhibit 10.3 to Form 1-K for the year ended December 31, 200!

Revised Standard Employment Severance AgreemeimiGeittain Management of t|
Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibitd&orm 1-Q for the quarter ende
June 30, 2001).

Retirement Benefits Restoration Plan as amended 25r1997 (incorporated t
reference to Exhibit 10 to Form -Q for quarter ended June 30, 199’

Restated and Amended Cur-Wright Corporation Retirement Plan and Instrumdr
Amendment No. 1, as amended through February Z&, @Acorporated by reference
Exhibit (10)(v) to Form 1-K for the year ended December 31, 2001), and Imstni of
Amendment No. 2 (incorporated by reference to Exiid to Form 1-Q for the quarte
ended September 30, 2004

Restated and Amended Cur-Wright Corporation Savings and Investment Planed
February 28, 2002 (incorporated by reference talkxL0)(v) to Form 1-K for the
year ended December 31, 2001

Curtiss-Wright Electr-Mechanical Corporation Retirement Plan, dated Gat@9, 200z
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit (10)(vii)Rorm 1(-K for the year ended Decemk
31, 2002).*

Curtiss-Wright Electri-Mechanical Corporation Savings Plan, dated Janlig?p04
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit (10)(xviig) Form 1(-K for the year ende
December 31, 2003)

Instruments of Amendment Nos. 2 through 5 to thei€s-Wright Corporatior
Retirement Plan (incorporated by reference to BkAib.3 to Form 1-Q for the quarte
ended June 30, 2005]

Instruments of Amendment Nos. 1 and 2 to the G-Wright Electrc-Mechanical
Corporation Retirement Plan (incorporated by refeeeto Exhibit 10.4 to Form -Q for
the quarter ended June 30, 200!

Instrument of Amendment Nos. 1 and 2 to the Ct-Wright Corporation Savings ar
Investment Plan (incorporated by reference to BExhi.5 to Form 1-Q for the quarte
ended June 30, 2005]

Instrument of Amendment No. 1 to the Cu-Wright Electri-Mechanical Corporatio
Savings Plan (incorporated by reference to ExHiBié to Form 1-Q for the quarte

ended June 30, 2005]
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10.14  Curtis=Wright Corporation 2005 Stock Plan for M-Employee Directors (incorporat
by reference to Appendix C to Proxy Statement fiquil 5, 2005).*

10.15 Amended and Revised Cur-Wright Corporation Executive Deferred Compensakdemn,
as amended November 2006 (filed herewit

10.16  Change In Control Severance Protection Agreemetéddiuly 9, 2001, between 1
Registrant and Chief Executive Officer of the Regist (incorporated by reference
Exhibit 10.1 to Form 1-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 20(

10.17  Standard Change In Control Severance Protectioeekgent, dated July 9, 20(
between the Registrant and Key Executives of trgidRant (incorporated by referen
to Form 1(-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 20(

10.18  Trust Agreement, dated January 20, 1998, betweeRd#gistrant and PNC Bar
National Association (incorporated by referenc&xdibit 10(a) to Form 1-Q for the
quarter ended March 31, 1998

10.19 Consulting Agreement, dated March 1, 2006, betvikerRegistrant and George
Yohrling (incorporated by reference to Exhibit D0Rorm 1(-K for the year ende
December 31, 2005)

10.2 Consulting Agreement, dated June 18, 2002, betwreeRegistrant and Gerald Nachn
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to FAi€-Q for the quarter ended June
2002).*

10.21  Curtis-Wright Corporation 2003 Employee Stock Purchase Rtecorporated b
reference to Appendix VII to Proxy Statement fiddrch 28, 2003).

10.22  Note Purchase Agreement between the Registrantentain Institutional Investor
dated September 25, 2003 (incorporated by referenEghibit 10.1 to Form-K filed
October 3, 2003

10.23 Restrictive Legends on Notes subject to Purchaseekgent between the Registrant
certain Institutional Investors, dated September2@B3 (incorporated by reference
Exhibit 10.2 to Form -K filed October 3, 2003

10.24  Note Purchase Agreement between the Registrantertain Institutional Investor
dated December 1, 2005 (incorporated by refereméhibit 10.1 to Form-K filed
December 5, 2005

10.25 Restrictive Legends on Notes subject to Purchaseekgent between the Registrant .
certain Institutional Investors, dated Decembe2QD5 (incorporated by reference
Exhibit 10.2 to Form -K filed December 5, 2005

10.26 2006 Modified Incentive Compensation Plan (incogted by reference to Appendix B
Compan’s 2006 Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule lits& fMarch 29, 2006).

10.27 Instruments of Amendment Nos. 6 and 7 to the G3-Wright Corporation Retireme!
Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 tonkd(-K for the year ended Decemt
31, 2005). *
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10.29

10.3

10.31

10.32

10.33

10.34

10.35

10.36

10.37

10.38

18

21

23

311

31.2

32

Corporation Retirement Plan (incorporated by refeeeto Exhibit 10 to Form =K for
the year ended December 31, 200t

Instrument of Amendment Nos. 2 and 3 to the Ci-Wright Corporation Savings ar
Investment Plan (incorporated by reference to Bkhibto Form 1-K for the year ende
December 31, 2005).

Instrument of Amendment Nos. 2 and 3 to the Ci-Wright Electr-Mechanica
Corporation Savings Plan (incorporated by refergadexhibit 10 to Form 1-K for the
year ended December 31, 2005

Restricted Stock Unit Agreement, dated Octobe0862 by and between the Registr

and David Linton (incorporated by reference to Bitl0 to Form -K filed October 11
2006). *

Restricted Stock Unit Agreement, dated Octobe0962 by and between the Registr

and David Adams (incorporated by reference to BxkAib to Form K filed October 16
2006). *

Instrument of Amendment No. 8 to the Cul-Wright Corporation Retirement Pla
as amended and restated effective January 1, 20 Herewith).*

Instrument of Amendment No. 9 to the Cu-Wright Corporation Retirement Pla
as amended and restated effective January 1, 20t Herewith).*

Instrument of Amendment No. 10 to the Cur-Wright Corporation Retirement Pla
as amended and restated effective January 1, 20 Herewith).*

Instrument of Amendment No. 11 to the Cur-Wright Corporation Retirement Pla
as amended and restated effective January 1, 201 Herewith).*

Instrument of Amendment No. 7 to the Cul-Wright Electr-Mechanical Divisior
Pension Plan (filed herewith)

Instrument of Amendment No. 8 to the Cu-Wright Electr--Mechanical Divisior
Pension Plan (filed herewith)

Deloitte & Touche LLP letter dated February 26, 20€: Change in Accountir
Principle (filed herewith)

Subsidiaries of the Registrant (filed herewi
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accourking (filed herewith)

Certification of Martin R. Benante, Chairman and@;EFPursuant to Rule 1~ 14(a)
(filed herewith)

Certification of Glenn E. Tynan, Chief Financialfoér, Pursuant to Rule 1~ 14(a)
(filed herewith).

Certification of Martin R. Benante, Chairman and@&nd Glenn E. Tynan, Chi
Financial Officer, Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. SectiobBA iled herewith)

*Indicates contract or compensatory plan or arramee
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Description

CURTISS-WRIGHT CORPORATION and SUBSIDIARIES
SCHEDULE Il — VALUATION and QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, abdl 20

Deducted from assets to which they ap

Yeal-ended December 31, 20
Reserves for inventory obsolescel
Reserves for doubtful accounts ¢
notes

Total

Year-ended December 31, 20
Reserves for inventory obsolescel
Reserves for doubtful accounts ¢
notes

Total

Yearended December 31, 20
Reserves for inventory obsolescel
Reserves for doubtful accounts ¢
notes

Total

Notes:

(In thousands)

Additions
Balance a Charged tc Charged tc
Beginning Costs anc Other Accountt
of Period Expense: (Describe)
$ 25377 $ 5651 $ 33¢ (A
5,45: 1,26¢ 17¢ A
$ 3083 % 6,92¢ $ 517
$ 26,27¢ % 3,70C % 772 A
4,012 1,161 1,01¢ *)
$ 30,28 % 4861 $ 1,791
$ 2227t $ 421  $ 6,53¢ A
3,44¢ 80z 36¢ A
$ 25720 $ 501<  $ 6,907

Deductions
(Describe)
$ 5,22(
1,51z
$ 6,732
$ 5,371
73¢
$ 6,11(
$ 6,75¢
607
$ 7,36(

(A) Primarily amounts acquired from business combimatiand currency translation adjustme
(B) Write-off and sale of obsolete invento
(C) Write-off of bad debt and collections on previously resdraccounts
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©

Balance a
End of
Period
$ 26,15
5,38¢
$ 25,377
5,45%
$ 30,83(
$ 26,27¢
4,012
$ 30,28



SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 18{dhe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regigthas duly caused this report tc
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, therednlp authorized.

CURTISS-WRIGHT CORPORATION
(Registrant’

Date: February 23, 200 By: /s/ Martin R. Benante
Martin R. Benantt
Chairman and CE!

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on behalf of
Registrant and in the capacities and on the datbsated

Date: February 23, 200 By: /s/ Glenn E. Tyna
Glenn E. Tynar
Chief Financial Office

Date: February 23, 200 By: /s/ Kevin McClurg
Kevin McClurg
Controller

Date: February 23, 200 By: /s/ Martin R. Benante
Martin R. Benantt
Director

Date: February 23, 200 By: /s/ James B. Busey |
James B. Busey I
Director

Date: February 23, 200 By: /s/ S. Marce Fulle
S. Marce Fulle
Director

Date: February 23, 200 By: /s/ Carl G. Miller
Carl G. Miller
Director

Date: February 23, 200 By: /s/ William B. Mitchell
William B. Mitchell
Director

Date: February 23, 200 By: /s/ John R. Myer
John R. Myer:
Director

Date: February 23, 200 By: /s/ William W. Sihler
William W. Sihler
Director

Date: February 23, 200 By: /s/ Albert E. Smitt
Albert E. Smith
Director
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CURTISS-WRIGHT CORPORATION

EXECUTIVE DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN

Originally Effective November 18, 1997
Amended and Restated Effective

with respect to
Compensation Earned after December 31, 2006

(As Amended Through November 18, 2006)

EX-10.1¢
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FOREWORD

This CurtissWright Corporation Executive Deferred Compensatitian (herein, "the Plan") was authorized by therBaaf Directors c
Curtiss-Wright Corporation (herein, "the Company'be effective as of November 18, 1997 and was#fter amended.

The purpose of the Plan is to provide to certaipleyees of the Company the opportunity to defepsdign of their salary, annual bonus
payments under the Company's long term incentiggrpm, in accordance with the terms of the Plameasin set forth.

The Plan is not intended to be qualified under 88&(a) of the Internal Revenue Code (“the Codell is intended to constitute an unfur
deferred compensation plan for a select group afagement or highly compensated employees, witl@nrthaning of Secs 201(2), 301(3),
401(a)(1) of the Employee Retirement Income Seguvit of 1974, as amended.

All payments made in accordance with the term$iefRlan shall be made from the general assetedfdimpany, provided, however, that
Company may establish and fund a trust in ordaidat in providing payments due under the termthefPlan.

The Plan as herein restated shall apply to elestiith respect to compensation earned after DeceBhe2004 and shall be deemed to
new plan for purposes of Sec. 409A of the Code%er 885 of the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004.
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ARTICLE 1
DEFINITIONS
1.01 Board shall mean the Board of Directors of the Company.

1.02 Beneficiary shall mean the person or entity designated byréicipant to receive the proceeds of his Deferratdunt in the event
his death prior to the complete distribution théreo

1.03 Bonus shall mean the amount that would become payablantEligible Employee with respect to a calendaaryender
Participating Employes annual bonus arrangement applicable to suchbigi§imployee, on the basis of performance and stiadr factors ¢
might be taken into account under such arrangerpeot, to any reduction of such amount on accotist Deferral Election.

1.04 Code shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986mesded from time to time.
1.05 Committee shall mean the individuals designated by the Chiefcutive Officer of the Company to administer Eian.
1.06 Company shall mean Curtiss-Wright Corporation or any sssoe, by merger, purchase, or otherwise, with i@gpdts employees.

1.07 Deferral Account shall mean the account maintained on behalf caridpant under Section 3.02, to which shall bedided th
Participant's Deferral Amounts and all earningslattable to such Deferral Amounts.

1.08 Deferral Amount shall mean, with respect to each Participanttdied amount of Salary, Bonus, and Long Term Ineenfwarc
that is subject to his Deferral Election for a P¥ear.

1.09 Deferral Election shall mean the irrevocable election made by aidiaant to defer a portion of his Salary, BonusLong Tern
Incentive Award for a Plan year, in accordance \@#ttion 3.01.

1.10 Eligible Employee shall mean an employee of a Participating Employbp satisfies the requirements of Section 2.0:
participation in the Plan, provided, however, tianho event shall a noresident alien employee of a Participating Empldyeran eligibl
Employee.

1.11 Effective Date shall mean November 18, 1997, provided howevat,ttre first Deferral Elections permitted under Eian related
Salary, Bonus, or Long Term Incentive Awards foB89and provided further, however, that the effectiate of this Restated Plan shal
December 1, 2004 and the first Deferral Electioastted under this Restated Plan shall relateaar$, Bonus, or Long Term Incent
Awards for 2005.
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1.12 ERISA shall mean the Employee Retirement Income SecAudtyf 1974, as amended from time to time.

1.13 Long Term Incentive Award shall mean the amount that would become payabda tEligible Employee with respect to any av
period, under a Participating Employeiong term incentive plan, on the basis of pertmioe and such other factors as may be take:
account under the long term incentive plan for goetiod, determined without regard to any amouat if payable in the form of stock in
Company or options to buy stock in the Companyrgn any reduction of such amount on account@éterral Election.

1.14 Participant shall mean an Eligible Employee who has made omease Deferral Elections in accordance with Sec8d1 and ¢
whose behalf a Deferral Account has been estallishe

1.15. Participating Employer shall mean the Company and any corporation of wtiiehCompany owns at least a majority of the ct
stock and which, with the approval of the Compadgpts the Plan with respect to its own employees.

1.16 Plan shall mean this Curtisé/right Corporation Executive Deferred Compensatiten, as in effect from time to time. For purpe
of Sec. 409A of the Code and Sec. 885 of the Amariiobs Creation Act of 2004, this Restated Plali b deemed to be a new Plan.

1.17 Plan Year shall mean the calendar year.

1.18 Salary shall mean the salary and any sales commissigabp&to an Eligible Employee by a Participatingmyer for a calend.
year, determined without regard to any reductiarebf in accordance with Sec. 125 or Sec. 401(kh®fCode, prior to any reduction of s
amount on account of a Deferral Election. The t&atary shall not include any amount paid as ametabr as payment for services a
independent contractor.
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ARTICLE 2
ELIGIBILITY AND PARTICIPATION
2.01 Eligibility.

An employee of a Participating Employer shall beEdigible Employee and shall be eligible to pagate in the Plan for a Plan Year if the ¢
of his Salary, Bonus, and other compensation takEnaccount under Sec. 415(c)(3) of the Code Hfier pfreceding Plan Year exceeds
amount specified in Sec. 414(q)(1)(B)(i) of the €oBor purposes of this section, any compensatiih o an employee by an entity that
become a Participating Employer or has been addjuise a Participating Employer shall be taken intwoant in the same manner
compensation paid by a Participating Employer.

2.02 Participation.

(a) An Eligible Employee shall become a Participanthie Plan upon his completion of a Deferral Electiomccordance with Secti
3.01. Each Deferral Election shall remain in effieetthe Plan Year to which it relates and shalisseto be effective at the end of such
Year, provided, however, that the portion of DedeElection that applies to a Long Term Incentiwgakd shall remain in effect throughout
period to which such Long Term Incentive Award teta

(b) A Participant who has made a Deferral Electiondd?lan Year shall be eligible to make a Deferralckbn for a subsequent P
Year if and only if he is then an Eligible Employee

(c) An Eligible Employee who has made a Deferral E@tshall continue to be a Participant in the Platil the entire balance of t
Deferral Account has been distributed to him.

2.03 Suspension of Deferral Elections.

€) Notwithstanding the provisions of Sections 2.02({@gl 3.01, a Participant may, in the event of anaseeable emergency, reque
suspension of his Deferral Election under the Plare request shall be made in the time and marpesifeed by the Committee and shall
effective as specified by the Committee.

(b) In the event that a Participant's Deferral Eleci®suspended during a Plan Year, on account afnéoreseeable emergency, s
suspension shall remain in effect for the remairafesuch Plan Year, provided, however, that, inewent shall the amount payable to
Participant as a result of the suspension of hielted Election exceed the amount necessary tefgatiich emergency.
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(c) For purposes of this Section, threnteunforeseeable emergency" shall have the meaiagified in Section 4.05(b).
2.04 Designation of Beneficiary.
(a) Each Eligible Employee shall designate a Benefyciano shall be entitled to receive the amountnif,gpayable under the Plan in
event of his death. The designation shall be madéié manner specified by the Committee. In thenetleat an Eligible Employee fails
designate a Beneficiary, or in the event that nsigieated Beneficiary survives an Eligible Employbis, estate shall be deemed to be
Beneficiary.
(b) A Participant may, from time to time, revoke or eba his designation of Beneficiary, without the semt of any prior Beneficial
by filing a new designation with the Committee. Tst such designation received by the Committed! le controlling, provided, howev
that no designation, or change or revocation tHesball be effective unless received by the Corteaiprior to the Participant's death.
ARTICLE 3
DEFERRALS AND DEFERRAL ACCOUNTS
3.01 Deferral Elections.
(a) Prior to the first day of each Plan Year, eachiBliggEmployee shall be permitted to make an irralbe Deferral Election. Su
Deferral Election shall be in writing, on forms pided by the Committee, or by such electronic memnshe Committee may authorize,
shall be filed at the time specified by the Comesitt
(b) An Eligible Employee's Deferral Election shall sifgethe percentage of Salary or Bonus otherwiseapég/to him in or with respe
to such Plan Year and the percentage of the Lomgy Tecentive Award otherwise payable to him witkpect to an award period commen
in such Plan Year that he wishes to defer, provitiedever, that:

(i) the percentage of his Salary that an Eligibleptoyee may elect to defer shall not exceed 25%;
(ii) the percentage of his Bonus that an Eligibleffoyee may elect to defer shall not exceed 50%; an

(iii) the percentage of his Long Term Incentive Adi¢hat an Eligible Employee may elect to defellgiat exceed 50%.




Page

(c) The Deferral Election shall specify that the Compawill reduce the amounts of Salary, Bonus, or Laregm Incentive Awar
otherwise payable to the Eligible Employee by teecpntage specified in such Deferral Election drad the Deferral Amounts shall insteac
credited to his Deferral Account under the Plan.

(d) The Deferral Amounts specified iRarticipant’'s Deferral Election shall be payableeassided in Article 4.
3.02 Deferral Accounts.
(a) The Company shall establish on itsksca Deferral Account for each Participant.

(b) A Participant's Deferral Account shall be creditgth a Deferral Amount equal to the percentageisf3alary, Bonus, or Long Te
Incentive Award, as applicable, specified in hifddeal Election. Such Deferral Amounts shall bedied as of the first day of the calen
guarter that includes the date on which the spetifiercentages of Salary, Bonus, or Long Term kineeward would have been paid to
Participant in the absence of a Deferral Electoyided, however, that for purposes of Sectio33tle portion of a ParticipastBonus that
subject to a Deferral Election shall be crediteafathe first day of the Plan Year following theaRlYear to which such Bonus relates anc
portion of a Participant’ Long Term Incentive Award that is subject to ddbml Election shall be credited as of the firay df the Plan Ye:
following the latest calendar year to which sucimg@erm Incentive Award relates.

3.03 Crediting of Earnings to Deferral Accounts.

€) Each Participant's Deferral Account shall be ceztlivith an annual rate of earnings equal to the sl the average annual rate
interest payable on United States Treasury Bon@)agfears maturity, as of the last month of the@ding calendar year, as determined b'
Federal Reserve Board, plus (ii) 2%. Earnings dimltredited to Deferral Accounts on a quarterlsivand shall be based on the balance «
Deferral Account as of the first day of the calenglaarter.

(b) The Committee may, in its discretion, modify théeraf earnings to be credited to Deferral AccouAisy such modification sh:
apply only to Deferral Amounts attributable to Defé Elections for Plan Years beginning subsequerthe date on which the Commit
provides notice to the Eligible Employees of suatdification.

3.04 Records and Statements of Deferral Accounts.

The Committee shall maintain, or cause to be migieth records showing the balances of each Paatitgp Deferral Account. At least onc
year, a Participant shall be furnished with a statet setting forth the balance of his Deferral Aguo
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ARTICLE 4
PAYMENT OF DEFERRAL ACCOUNTS
4.01 Options for Time and Form of Payment of Deferal Account.

(@) Subject to the provisions of subsection é&)Participant may irrevocably specify in any Dedke Election under the Plan that
Deferral Amount resulting from such Deferral Eleati plus any earnings attributable thereto, in edaace with Section 3.03, shall be pai
him in a single sum in the first quarter of eitliee third calendar year or the fifth calendar yfedowing the Plan Year to which such Defe
Election relates.

(b) Subiject to the provisions of subsection a Participant may irrevocably specify in a &edl Election under the Plan that the Deft
Amount resulting from such Deferral Election shadl paid to him upon his retirement or terminatiéreimployment from the Company, at
after his attainment of age 55, in accordance thighprovisions of Section 4.02.

(c) In the event that (i) a Participant whas made an election in accordance with subsetipterminates from the employ of

Company, or dies, before payment is made pursinmenéto, or (i) a Participant who has made an ieledh accordance with subsection
terminates from the employ of the Company prictht® attainment of age 55, then, notwithstandingeh@s of his election made in accorde
with subsection (a) or subsection (b), paymenti®¥eferral Account shall be made in accordance B#ction 4.03, or 4.04, as applicable.

(d) A Participant who has made a Deferrlgcon with respect to a Plan Year beginning affecember 31, 2004, that include
specification in accordance with subsection (ahefyear in which the Deferral Amount resultingnfreuch Deferral Election shall be paid r
make a subsequent election to extend the periclici deferral by 5 years. An election in accordanmite this subsection shall be effeci
only if made prior to the first day of the calengaar preceding the calendar year in which paymest scheduled to be made pursuant t
specification in accordance with subsection (aj);piarposes of subsection (c) and for purposes cfi@es 4.02 and 4.03, such election sha
deemed to be an election in accordance with subse@).




Page
4.02 Payment at Retirement.

€) A Participant who makes a Deferral Election pursuanSection 4.01(b) that the Deferral Amount réegl from such Deferr.
Election shall be paid to him upon retirement amieation from the employ of the Company at or mfies attainment of age 55, may furt
irrevocably elect that such amount shall be paidino in annual installments over a specified penb&, 10, or 15 years, or will be paid to |
in a single sum, in the first quarter of the cakemgear following the year in which he retires emtinates, provided, however, that the
election made by a Participant under this subsedfall apply to all later elections made by thetiBipant under Section 4.01(b) and to
Deferral Amount resulting from any Deferral Electionade prior to January 1, 2004 in which the Padiat did not make an election
accordance with Section 4.01(a).

(b) A Participant who has specified the installmentrfasf payment described in subsection (a) and whicesefrom the employ of ti
Company at or after his attainment of age 55 gkakive in the first quarter of each calendar ybaginning with the year following the yea
which he retired, an amount determined by dividimg balance of his Deferral Account as of the d&st of the calendar year preceding the
of payment, by the number of years remaining initis¢allment payment period, provided, howevert tha amount of the initial installme
shall be determined after subtracting from the BaféAccount any portion thereof which is not subj® an installment payment election ur
subsection (a) and provided further, however, tiogpayment shall be made earlier than the time ipidrby Section 4.06.

(c) In the event of the death of a Participant whaiseceipt of installment payments in accordancé witbsection (b), the remain
balance of his Deferral Account shall be paid ®Béneficiary in a single sum.

(d) The Deferral Account of a Participant who has @ddhe installment form of payment shall continoidé¢ credited with earnings,
accordance with Section 3.03 during such instaltmpagment period.

4.03 Payment upon Termination of Employment.

(a) In the event that a Participant terminates ftbm employ of the Company prior to attaining agetlte balance of his Deferral Acco
would be payable to him in accordance with his @r élection under Section 4.01(a) or 4.01(b), thkatice of his Deferral Account shall
paid to him in a single sum in the calendar quaid#owing the quarter in which occurred his teration of employment, except as may
otherwise required in accordance with Section 4.06.

(b) In the event that a Participant terminates fitbm employ of the Company at or after attaining &§ the balance of his Deferral Accc
would be payable to him in accordance with his@rdiection under Section 4.01(a), the balanceésobleferral Account shall be paid to hirr
a
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single sum in the first quarter of the calendarryfetlowing the year in which he or she retiresterminates, except as may be other
required in accordance with Section 4.06.

4.04 Payment upon Death.

In the event of the death of a Participant priohitoreceipt of the payment of his Deferral Accouhé balance of his Deferral Account shal
paid to his Beneficiary in a single sum in the odir quarter following the quarter in which his tteaccurred.

4.05 Payment upon Incurrence of Unforeseeable Emesgcy.

(@) If, upon the application of a Participant, the Coittee determines that he has incurred a unforeteeabergency, the Commiti
may direct the payment of all or a portion of theance of his Deferral Account. The amount paidlsha exceed the amount reason:
necessary to meet the unforeseeable emergencyapioants necessary to pay taxes reasonably anédis a result of the payment, ¢
taking into account the extent to which such haplghor may be relieved through reimbursementangensation by insurance or othern
by liquidation of the Participant's assets, todReent that such liquidation itself would not caassevere financial hardship, or by cessatic
deferrals in accordance with Section 2.03(a).

(b) For purposes of this Section, the term "unforesleeainergency” shall mean a severe financial hapdssulting from the unexpec
illness or accident of the Participant or a dependeithin the meaning of Sec. 152(a) of the Cddss of the Participant's property dut
casualty, or other similar extraordinary circumstarising as a result of events beyond the doofttbe participant.

4.06 Special Rule for Key Employees.

Notwithstanding any provision hereof, in no evemlsany portion of the Deferral Account of a Pepgant who is ¢‘key employee’within the
meaning of Sec. 416(i) of the Code for the yeawlich occurs his termination of employment or theriediately preceding year be paid ¢
to six months after the date of his terminatiormiployment.

ARTICLE 5

GENERAL PROVISIONS

5.01 Funding .

(a) All amounts payable in accordance with the Plarl slwmstitute general, unsecured obligations of @mmpany. Such amounts,

well as any administrative expenses related tdtha, shall be paid out of the general assetseo€mpany, except to the extent that they
be paid from a trust fund described in subsectiyn (
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(b) The Company shall have no obligation to invest gmytion of its assets in any type of investmentimrestment func
notwithstanding any reference to specific rate<fediting earnings on Deferral Account in accomawith Section 3.03.

(c) The Company may, in its sole discretion, estabdigrantor trust to facilitate payment to Particiigsannder the Plan. Any asset:
any such trust shall be held separate and apamnt dtber assets of the Company and shall be usddsésaly for the purposes set forth in
applicable trust agreement, subject to the follgndonditions:

(i) The creation or any such trust or the contiitubf assets thereto shall not cause the Plae tther than "unfunded” for purpo
of Secs. 201(2), 301(3), and 401(a)(1) of ERISA.

(i) The company shall be treated as the "gramdny such trust for purposes of Sec. 677 of thdeC

(iii) The trust agreement shall specify that theeds of any such trust may be used to satisfy slamthe Company's gene
creditors.

5.02 No Contract of Employment.

The establishment of the Plan, and any electiondentiy Eligible Employees hereunder, shall not bestoed as conferring any legal ric
upon any person for continuation of employment, stwall the establishment of the Plan interfere \ligh rights of the Company to dische
any employee and to treat him without regard toetffiect which such treatment might have upon hira &articipant in the Plan.

5.03 Tax Withholding.

(a) The Company shall have the right to deduct feaoh payment made under the Plan any amount eelgtoibe withheld for taxes.

(b) Notwithstanding any provision hereof, the Companay, to extent permitted or required by the Cddke into account any amount the
the subject of a Participant’s Deferral Electiordetermining the amount to be withheld from thetiPgant’s compensation for taxes.

5.04 Facility of Payment.

In the event that the Committee shall find thataatiBipant is unable to care for his affairs beeaaKillness or accident, the Committee |
direct that any payment due him, unless claim diele been made therefor by a duly appointed legmksentative, be paid to his spou
child, a parent, or other blood relative, or toeason with whom he resides, and any such paymatittslha complete discharge of the liabili
of the Plan.
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5.05 Nonalienation.
No amount due under the Plan shall be subject ynnaanner to anticipation, alienation, sale, transéssignment, pledge, encumbranct
charge, and any attempt to do so shall be void,shafl any such amount be in any manner liableofosubject to garnishment, attachm
execution or levy, or liable to or subject to thebt, contracts, liabilities, engagements or toftany Participant, except to the extent reqt
by applicable law.
5.06 Rules of Construction.

€) The Plan shall be governed and construed in acnoedwith the laws of the State of New Jersey, withegard to its rules
conflicts of laws.

(b) The masculine pronoun shall include the feminind #re singular number shall include the plural,eptcto the extent that t
context otherwise requires.

ARTICLE 6

ADMINISTRATION

6.01 Appointment of Committee.

The Chief Executive Officer of the Company shalpaint the Committee that shall be responsible tieradministration of the Plan. The Cl
Executive Officer, in his sole discretion, may remcany member of the Committee and may appointva member or members to -
Committee.

6.02 Authority and Duties of Committee.

In addition to the specific authority granted talahe specific duties imposed upon the Committeeureler, the Committee shall have
exclusive authority to establish rules for the apien of the Plan, which rules shall be in writingd shall have the exclusive authorit
interpret the Plan. The decision of the Committeey disputed question shall be final.

6.03 Claims Procedure.

The Committee shall establish a procedure for @dawrbenefits under the Plan, which procedure simatiply with the requirements of Sec.
of ERISA.
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ARTICLE 7
AMENDMENT OR TERMINATION
7.01 Authority of the Board.
The Board reserves the right to modify or amendwhole or in part, or to terminate the Plan at éinye. However, no modification
termination of the Plan shall adversely affect ttiglat of any Participant to receive the amountsiitegl to his Deferral Account in accorda
with the terms of the Plan as in effect prior te thate of modification, amendment, or termination.

7.02 Authority of the Committee.

The Board hereby delegates authority to the Coremito modify or amend, in whole or in part, thenPfEovided such amendment
amendments are required by changes in the lawvar i@ material financial impact on the Corporation.




EX-10.33

CURTISS-WRIGHT CORPORATION
RETIREMENT PLAN
As Amended and Restated effective January 1, 2001

EIGHTH INSTRUMENT OF AMENDMENT

Recitals:

Curtiss-Wright Corporation ("the Company") has heretofore adopted the Curtiss-Wright Corporation Retirement Plan (“the
Plan").

The Company caused the Plan to be amended and restated in its entirety, effective as of January 1, 2001, and has since
caused the Plan to be further amended.

Subsequent to the most recent amendment of the Plan, it has become necessary to further amend the Plan to revise the
Plan’s disability benefit and transfer provisions and to clarify certain other provisions of the Plan.

Sections 12.01 and 12.02 of the Plan permit the Company to amend the Plan, by written instrument, at any time and from
time to time, by action of the Board of Directors.

Amendment to the Plan:

NOW, THEREFORE, be it

RESOLVED, that for the reasons set forth in the Recitals to this Instrument of Amendment, the Plan is hereby amended in the
following respects, to be effective as of July 1, 2006:

1.

Section 1.04 is amended by deleting the words “Section 6.05 or 9.02(c)” in the last sentence thereof and replacing them
with the words “Section 9.02(c)".

Section 1.13 is amended by deleting the penultimate paragraph thereof and by adding a new paragraph (d) to read as
follows:

“(d) For a continuous period up to two years while an Employee is in receipt of Disability Payments as provided in
Section 2.03(b) .”

Article 1 is amended by deleting Sections 1.14 and 1.15, by renumbering Sections 1.16 through 1.51 as Sections 1.15
through 1.50, respectively, and by adding a new Section 1.14 to read as follows:

“1.14 “Disability Payments " means payments received under the Company’s long-term or short-term disability plans,
payments received under the workers’ compensation law (excluding statutory payments for loss of any physical or bodily
member such as a leg, arm or finger), or solely with respect to an Employee who is not covered by the Company’s long-
term disability plan,

payments of a Social Security disability pension received on account of a disability incurred while an Employee.”
Section 1.24, as renumbered, is amended by revising the last sentence thereof to read as follows:

“In the case of any person who is a Leased Employee before or after a period of service as an Employee, the period during
which he has performed services as a Leased Employee for the Employer or Affiliated Employer shall be counted solely for
purposes of determining eligibility to participate in the Plan and vesting in the Plan to the extent such service would be
recognized for other Employees; however, the Leased Employee shall not, by reason of that status, become a Participant
in the Plan or accrue any benefit under the plan for the period during which he was a Leased Employee.”



10.

11.

12.

Section 1.25, as renumbered, is amended by adding the following words at the end thereof “,but shall specifically exclude
any period during which the Employee is in receipt of Disability Payments”.

Section 1.40, as renumbered, is amended by deleting the last sentence thereof.

Article 2 is amended by deleting Section 2.03 therefrom and by renumbering Section 2.04 as Section 2.03.

Section 2.03, as renumbered, is amended to read as follows:

“2.03 Treatment of Periods of Military Service, Disa  bility and other Leaves of Absence

@

(b)

©

Notwithstanding any provision hereof, a Participant’s Service, as taken into account under the Plan for purposes
of vesting and for purposes of determining eligibility for and the amount of his retirement benefits hereunder, in
accordance with Article 4, Article 6 and Article 9, shall include, to the extent required by law, any period of
absence from service with the Employer due to a period of service in the uniformed services of the United States
which occurs after the date the Participant meets the eligibility requirements for membership in the Plan. If he shall
have returned to the service of the Employer after having applied to return while his reemployment rights were
protected by law, the Participant shall be deemed to have earned Compensation during the period of absence at
the rate he would have received had he remained employed as an Employee for that period or, if such rate is not
reasonably certain, on the basis of the Participant’s rate of compensation during the 12-month period immediately
preceding such period of absence (or if shorter, the period of employment immediately preceding such period).

In the event a Participant incurs a disability while an Employee and becomes entitled to Disability Payments on
account of such disability, the Participant shall continue to accrue benefits under the provisions of Articles 4 and 6
and shall continue to be credited with Vesting Years of

Service for the period he is in receipt of the Disability Payments, up to a maximum continuous period of twenty-
four months (including any applicable waiting period for such Disability Payments provided that after the
expiration of such waiting period the Participant becomes entitled to Disability Payments). For purposes of
computing the benefit accrued by a Participant under this paragraph (b), a Participant shall be deemed to have
earned Compensation during the period he is accruing a benefit under this paragraph (b) at the rate of
Compensation he was receiving immediately prior to the date he ceased active employment on account of the
disability. A Participant who is entitled to Disability Payments and who is credited with at least five Vesting Years
of Service may elect at any time by written advance application to the Committee to cease further accruals under
the provisions of this paragraph (b) and in lieu thereof to commence receipt of payments under the applicable
provisions of the Plan.

Notwithstanding any provisions of the Plan to the contrary, an Employee’s period of Leave of Absence not
otherwise included under paragraph (a) or (b) above, shall be included for purposes of determining vesting and
for purposes of determining the amount of his retirement benefits hereunder in accordance with Articles 5, 6, and
9, provided that the Employee returns to the employ of the Employer at or before the expiration of the Leave of
Absence. If the Employee receives credit for service under the preceding sentence, the Employee shall be
deemed to have earned Compensation during the Leave of Absence at the rate of pay he was receiving
immediately prior to his Leave of Absence.”

Section 4.05(a) is amended by revising clause (i) to read as follows:

“()

retirement on his Normal Retirement Date or Early Retirement Date, as the case may be,”

Section 4.06(b) is amended by adding the following sentence at the end thereof:

“In the event the Beneficiary is the Participant’s estate, the death benefit shall automatically be paid to the estate in one
lump sum.”

Article 6 is amended by deleting Sections 6.05 and 6.08, by renumbering Sections 6.06 and 6.07 as Sections 6.05 and
6.06, respectively, and by renumbering Sections 6.09 through 6.14 as Sections 6.07 through 6.12, respectively.

Article 6 is amended by adding a new Section 6.13 to read as follows:



“6.13 Reemployment Following Commencement of Annuity Payments

Notwithstanding any provisions of the Plan to the contrary, in the event a Participant who is in receipt of annuity payments
is reemployed by the Company or an Affiliated Employer, payment of such benefit payments shall continue.



13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

Upon the Participant’'s subsequent termination of employment with the Company and all Affiliated Employers, the
Participant shall be entitled to an additional benefit based on the formula then in effect and his Years of Credited Service
and Compensation earned after his date of reemployment and such additional benefit shall be subject to and payable in
accordance with the provisions of Article 7.

In the event a Participant dies while in active service, the additional benefit shall be payable in accordance with Section
4.06 or Article 8 or 9, as applicable.”

Section 7.02(a) is amended by adding a new paragraph (iii) to read as follows:

“(iii) The Participant elects an annuity form under subsection (b)(ii) below with his spouse as Beneficiary.”
Section 7.02(b) is amended by adding the following sentence after the last sentence thereof:

“However, both benefits together, as provided under Articles 4 and 6, must commence simultaneously.”
Section 7.10(a) is amended by adding the following sentence at the end thereof:

“For purposes of this paragraph (a), Actuarial Equivalent shall be determined in the same manner as provided in Section
6.07(b).”

Section 8.01(a) is amended by deleting the words “or if a Participant in receipt of payments under Section 6.05 dies prior
to his Normal Retirement Date” from the first sentence thereof and by deleting the last sentence thereof.

Section 8.01 is amended by adding a new paragraph (d) to read as follows:

“(d) In the event a Participant entitled to a death benefit under paragraph (a) dies in active employment with his
estate as his Beneficiary, the death benefit shall be calculated assuming the beneficiary is the same age as the
Participant and, in lieu of the annuity form of payment, the death benefit shall be paid in one lump sum under
Section 8.03.”

The Plan is amended by adding a new Article 16 to read as follows:



“ ARTICLE 16: TRANSFERS

If an Employee during his period of employment with the Company and all Affiliated Employers is transferred to or from a position
eligible to accrue benefits under the provisions of Article 4, 6 or 9 to a position that is ineligible for benefits under the applicable
Article, the following provisions shall apply:

@

(b)

(©)

(d)

Vesting Service. An Employee’s Vesting Years of Service shall be determined on the basis of his period of employment
with the Company and all Affiliated Employers (unless otherwise specified in Schedule J).

Credited Service for Purposes of Determining Eligibility for Benefits . For purposes of determining an Employee’s eligibility
for benefits under the Plan (but not the amount of any benefit unless otherwise specified in paragraph (d) below), an
Employee’s years of Credited Service shall be determined on the basis of his period of employment with the Company and
all Affiliated Employers.

Eligibility for Benefits. Upon an Employee’s termination of employment with the Company and all Affiliated Employers, an
Employee shall be entitled to a Normal, Early, Disability or Vested Retirement Benefit under the applicable provisions of
the Plan if, at the time of his termination of employment, he has satisfied the age, service, and any other requirements of
the Plan for such benefit.

Rules for Determining the Amount of Benefit .

0] If an Employee who is accruing benefits under the provisions of Article 6 is transferred to a position with the
Company or to an Affiliated Employer and on account of such transfer the Employee would be ineligible to accrue
further benefits under the provisions of Article 6, the following provisions shall apply:

(A) Credited Service for Benefit Accrual Purposes . All service with the Company or an Affiliated Employer in
such transferred position shall be included in determining the Employee’s years of Credited Service for
purposes of determining the amount of the Employee’s benefit under Article 6 except that any service
rendered while the Employee is eligible to accrue benefits under Article 9 or is eligible to participate in
another qualified defined benefit pension plan shall be excluded.

(B) Average Compensation . Compensation (as defined in Section 1.11) paid by the Company or an
Affiliated Employer to the Employee while employed in such transferred position shall be included in
determining an Employee’s Average Compensation.

(ii) If an Employee who is accruing benefits under the provisions of Article 4 is transferred to a position with the
Company or to an Affiliated Employer and on account of such transfer the Employee would be ineligible to

accrue further benefits under the provisions of Article 4, benefits shall continue to accrue under the provisions of Article 4
after the date of transfer except that if the Employee is transferred to a position in which he is eligible to participate in a
qualified defined contribution plan which provides for employer contributions (other than salary deferrals under Section
401(k) of the Code) the Employee shall cease to accrue benefits under Section 4.02 based on Compensation paid to the
Employee by the Company or an Affiliated Employer while in the transferred position.

(iii) If an Employee who is accruing benefits under the provisions of Article 9 is transferred to a position with the
Company or to an Affiliated Employer in which he is ineligible to accrue further benefits under the provisions of
Article 9, the Employee’s service rendered while in such ineligible position shall not be included in his Credited
Service for purposes of determining the amount of his benefit under Article 9. Accordingly, If a participant
transfers to a position where he is no longer eligible to participate in Article 9, he will not earn Credited Service
under Article 9 while in that ineligible position.

(iv) If an Employee is transferred from a position that is ineligible to accrue benefits under the provisions of Article 4,
6 or 9 to a position that is eligible to accrue benefits under one of those Articles, the following provisions shall

apply:

(A)

Compensation paid to such Employee prior to the date of transfer shall be disregarded in determining
the amount of the Employee’s benefit under Article 4 or 6, as applicable, unless the Employee is
transferred from a position eligible to accrue benefits under Article 9 in which case Compensation paid
to the Employee while covered by Article 9 shall be recognized in determining the Employee’s Average



(e)

19.

Compensation under Article 6, if applicable.

(B) For purposes of determining the amount of an Employee’s benefit under Article 4, 6 or 9, service
rendered prior to the date the Employee became employed in a position eligible to accrue benefits
under Article 4, 6 or 9 shall be disregarded in determining the Employee’s Credited Service under the
applicable Article.

Transfers Involving a Non-U.S Affiliated Employer . Notwithstanding the preceding provisions of this Article 16, any period

of employment with a non-U.S. Affiliated Employer shall be recognized solely for the purpose of determining an
Employee’s Vesting Years of Service under subparagraph (i) above [and for purposes of determining an Employee’s
eligibility for benefits under subparagraph (ii)]. Such period of employment shall be excluded in determining the amount of
a Participant’s benefit under paragraph (d) and any Compensation paid during such period of employment shall likewise
be excluded.”

Schedule J, Item 22 is amended, effective as of September 1, 2005, to read as follows:



“22.

@)

(b)

(©)

Collins, Long Island (formerly referred to as Novat  ronics, Inc.)

Notwithstanding any provision hereof to the contrary, no Employee who is employed at operations or facilities
acquired by the Employer in its acquisition of Novatronics, Inc. shall be eligible to become a Participant in this
Plan prior to September 1, 2005.

Effective as of September 1, 2005, an Employee at the operations and facilities acquired by the Employer in its
acquisition of Novatronics, Inc. shall be eligible to become a Participant in accordance with Section 2.01(b), but
shall not accrue any benefits under the Plan, except for benefits determined in accordance with Article 4.02. In
computing the benefits accrued under Article 4.02, only Compensation earned on and after September 1, 2005
shall be counted.

For purposes of determining an Employee’s Vesting Years of Service, the Employee’s period of prior service
with Novatronics, Inc. rendered prior to the date of acquisition shall be included. In computing such prior
service, an Employee who is credited with at least one Hour of Service prior to July 1 of a calendar year shall
receive one full Vesting Year of Service for that calendar year; otherwise no credit shall be credited for that
calendar year.”

Except to the extent amended by this Instrument of Amendment, the Plan shall remain in full force and effect.
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EX-10.34

CURTISS-WRIGHT CORPORATION
RETIREMENT PLAN
As Amended and Restated effective January 1, 2001

NINTH INSTRUMENT OF AMENDMENT

Recitals:

1. Curtiss-Wright Corporation ("the Company") has heretofore adopted the Curtiss- Wright Corporation Retirement Plan ("the
Plan").

2.  The Company caused the Plan to be amended from time to time since that date.

3. Subsequent to the most recent amendment of the Plan, it has become necessary to further amend the Plan to provide an
enhanced benefit to certain participants affected by a reduction in force.

4. Sections 12.01 and 12.02 of the Plan permit the Committee to amend the Plan, by written instrument, at any time and from
time to time.

Amendments to the Plan:

For the reasons set forth in the Recitals to this Instrument of Amendment, the Plan is hereby amended in the following respects, to
be effective as specified herein:

1. Schedule K1 is amended, effective April 25, 2006, by adding, at the end thereof, the following new Item 8:

8. Controls Embedded Computing San Diego and Santa Cla  rita CA, Dayton, OH, Leesburg, VA, and Littleton
MA Business Units: April 25, 2006 through June 10, 2006

For each Participant whose employment with the Employer is terminated between April 25, 2006 and June 10, 2006, in
connection with or as a result of the Company’s reduction in force program at the Controls Embedded Computing, San
Diego and Santa Clarita CA, Dayton, OH, Leesburg, VA and Littleton MA business units a supplemental credit shall be
added to his or her Escalating Annuity Benefit. The amount of such supplemental credit shall be determined as follows: an
amount equal to the product of (i) 4/75, (i) his number of years of Service, and (iii) his weekly base rate of pay, provided,
however, that the number of years of Service taken into account for this purpose shall not be less than 2 years and shall
not be greater than 24 years for a Participant who is a salaried or exempt employee and shall not be greater than 6 years
for a Participant who is a nonexempt employee.



2. Schedule K2 is amended, effective as of April 25, 2006, by adding at the end thereof the following new Item 8:

8. Controls Embedded Computing San Diego and Santa Cla rita CA and Dayton, OH, Leesburg, VA, and
Littleton MA Business Units: April 25, 2006 through June 10, 2006

Notwithstanding any provision hereof to the contrary, a Participant whose employment with the Employer is terminated
between April 25, 2006 and June 10, 2006, in connection with or as a result of the Company's reduction in force program at
the Controls Embedded Computing, San Diego and Santa Clarita CA, Dayton, OH, Leesburg, VA, and Littleton MA
business units shall be 100% vested in any Normal Retirement Benefit and any Escalating Annuity Benefit to which he or
she may be eligible and entitled.

Except to the extent amended by this Instrument of Amendment, the Plan shall remain in full force and effect.

2



Recitals:

1.

EX-10.35

CURTISS-WRIGHT CORPORATION
RETIREMENT PLAN
As Amended and Restated effective January 1, 2001

TENTH INSTRUMENT OF AMENDMENT

Curtiss-Wright Corporation (“the Company”) has heretofore adopted the Curtiss-Wright Corporation
Retirement Plan (“the Plan”).

The Company caused the Plan to be amended and restated in its entirety, effective as of January 1,
2001, and has since caused the Plan to be further amended.

Subsequent to the most recent amendment of the Plan, it has become necessary to further amend
the Plan to bring the Plan into compliance with certain provisions of the Economic Growth and Tax
Relief Reconciliation Act of 2001 ("EGTRRA”) and Revenue Ruling 2001-62.

Sections 12.01 and 12.02 of the Plan permit the Company to amend the Plan, by written instrument,
at any time and from time to time.

Amendment to the Plan:

For the reason set forth in the Recitals to this Instrument of Amendment, the Plan is hereby amended in the following respects:

1.

Section 1.23 is amended, effective as of December 31, 2002, by adding the following sentence at the
end thereof:

However, when determining the amount of a benefit with an Annuity Starting Date on or after
December 31, 2002, the IRS Mortality Table means the mortality table prescribed by Revenue Ruling
2001-62.

Section 7.08 is amended, effective as of January 1, 2002, to read as follows:

7.08 Rollovers

@) Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the contrary that would otherwise limit a

distributee’s election under this Section, a distributee may elect, at the time and in the
manner prescribed by the Plan

Administrator, to have any portion of an eligible rollover distribution paid directly to an
eligible retirement plan specified by the distributee in a direct rollover.

(b) The following definitions apply to the terms used in this Section:

0) An *“eligible rollover distribution” is any distribution of all or any portion of the
balance to the credit of the distributee, except that an eligible rollover distribution does not
include: any distribution that is one of a series of substantially equal periodic payments (not
less frequently than annually) made for the life (or life expectancy) of the distributee or the
joint lives (or joint life expectancies) of the distributee and the distributee’s designated
beneficiary, or for a specified period of ten years or more; any distribution to the extent such
distribution is required under Section 401(a)(9) of the Code; and any distribution where all



otherwise eligible distributions are expected to total less than $200;

(i) An “eligible retirement plan” is an individual retirement account described in Section
408(a) of the Code, an individual retirement annuity described in Section 408(b) of the
Code, an annuity plan described in Section 403(a) of the Code, a qualified trust described in
Section 401(a) of the Code, an annuity contract described in Section 403(b) of the Code, or
an eligible plan under Section 457(b) of the Code which is maintained by a state, political
subdivision of a state, or any agency or instrumentality of a state or political subdivision of a
state and which agrees to separately account for amounts transferred into such plan from
this Plan;

(iii) A “distributee” includes an Employee or former Employee. In addition, the
Employee’s or former Employee’s surviving spouse and the Employee’s or former
Employee’s spouse or former spouse who is the alternate payee under a qualified domestic
relations order, as defined in Section 414(p) of the Code, are distributees with regard to the
interest of the spouse or former spouse; and

(iv) A “direct rollover” is a payment by the Plan to the eligible retirement plan specified
by the distributee.

In the event that the provisions of this Section or any part thereof cease to be required by
law as a result of subsequent legislation or otherwise, this Section or any applicable part
thereof shall be ineffective without the necessity of further amendments to the Plan.

Section 14.02(b)(i)(A) is amended, effective as of January 1, 2002, by deleting the parenthetical
phrase “(including any part of any retirement benefits distributed in the five (5) year period ending on
the determination date(s))” from the first

sentence thereof and by adding the following sentence after the first sentence of subparagraph (A)
and at the end of sub-paragraph (B):

In determining the present values of retirement benefits under the Plan for an employee as
of the applicable determination date, the numerator and denominator shall be increased by
the distributions made with respect to the employee under the Plan and any plan
aggregated with the Plan under Section 416(g)(2) of the Code during the one-year period
(five-year period in the case of a distribution made for a reason other than separation from
service, death, or disability) ending on the applicable determination date and any
distributions made with respect to the employee under a terminated plan which, had it not
been terminated, would have been in the required aggregation group;

Section 14.02(b)(i)(C) is amended, effective as of January 1, 2002, by revising clause (2) to read as
follows:

(2) who has not performed services for any Employer maintaining the Plan at any time during
the one-year period ending on the applicable determination date will be disregarded.

Section 14.02(b)(v) is amended, effective as of January 1, 2002, to read as follows:

Key Employee:

Any employee or former employee (including any deceased employee) who at any time during the
Plan Year that includes the applicable determination date was an officer of an Employer or an

Affiliated Employer having compensation greater than $130,000 (as adjusted under Section 416(i)(1)
of the Code for Plan Years beginning after December 31, 2002), a 5-percent owner (as defined in



Section 416(i)(1)(B)(i) of the Code) of an Employer or an Affiliated Employer, or a 1-percent owner
(as defined in Section 416(i)(1)(B)(ii) of the Code) of an Employer or an Affiliated Employer) having
compensation greater than $150,000 (the determination of who is a key employee shall be made in
accordance with Section 416(i) of the Code and the applicable regulations and other guidance of
general applicability issued thereunder) where applicable on the basis of the Employee’s
remuneration which, with respect to any Employee, shall mean the wages salaries, and other
amounts paid in respect of such Employee by the Employer or an Affiliated Employer for personal
services actually rendered, determined before any pre-tax contributions under “qualified cash or
deferred arrangement,” as defined under Section 401(k) of the Code and its applicable regulations, or
under a “cafeteria plan” as defined under Section 125 of the Code and its applicable regulations, or
under a “qualified transportation fringe,” as defined in Section 132(f) of the Code and its applicable
regulations, and shall include, but not by way of limitation, bonuses, overtime payments, and




commissions; and shall exclude deferred compensation, stock options, and other distributions which
receive special tax benefits under the Code.

Section 14.03(a) is amended, effective as of January 1, 2002, by deleting paragraph (c), by
renumbering paragraphs (d) and (e) as paragraphs (c) and (d), respectively, by deleting the first
sentence of paragraph (a) and by adding the following sentences in its place:

Notwithstanding any other provision in the Plan to the contrary, except as otherwise provided in
Subsections (c), (d) and (e) of this Section 14.03, a Participant who is a Non-Key Employee and has
completed one thousand (1,000) Hours of Service will accrue a benefit (to be provided solely by the
Company contributions and expressed as a Life Annuity commencing at Normal Retirement Age) of
not less than two (2%) percent of his or her highest average Compensation for the five (5)
consecutive years for which the Participant had the highest Compensation multiplied by the number
of Years of Vesting Service, not in excess of ten (10), during the Plan Years for which the Plan is top-
heavy. For purposes of the preceding sentence, Years of Vesting Service shall be disregarded to the
extent that such Years of Vesting Service occur during a Plan Year when the Plan benefits (within the
meaning of section 410(b) of the Code) no Key Employee or former Key Employee.

Except to the extent amended by this Instrument of Amendment, the Plan shall remain in full force
and effect.




EX-10.36

CURTISS-WRIGHT CORPORATION
RETIREMENT PLAN
As Amended and Restated effective January 1, 2001

ELEVENTH INSTRUMENT OF AMENDMENT

Recitals:

1.  Curtiss-Wright Corporation ("the Company") has heretofore adopted the Curtiss-Wright Corporation Retirement Plan (“the
Plan").

2.  The Company caused the Plan to be amended and restated in its entirety, effective as of January 1, 2001, and has since
caused the Plan to be further amended.

3. Subsequent to the most recent amendment of the Plan, it has become necessary to further amend the Plan for the merger of
the Curtiss Wright Electro-Mechanical Division Pension Plan (the “EMD Plan”) into this Plan (the “Plan”).

4. Sections 12.01 and 12.02 of the Plan permit the Company to amend the Plan, by written instrument, at any time and from time
to time.

Amendment to the Plan:

For the reason set forth in the Recitals to this Instrument of Amendment, the Plan is hereby amended in the following respects:

1. The EMD Plan shall be, and hereby is, merged into the Plan, effective January 1, 2007, with the surviving plan being the
Plan.
2. Effective January 1, 2007, the liability for benefits of as well as the assets of the EMD Plan shall become the obligation

and assets of the Plan and the participants (and beneficiaries thereof) of the EMD Plan shall look to the assets of the

Plan for payment of their benefits and as of that date the liability of the EMD Plan for such benefits shall cease.




The trustee of the master trust of the Plan shall be, and hereby is, authorized to accept a transfer of the assets of the

EMD Plan from the trustee of the said Plan, such transfer to occur as soon as practicable on or after January 1, 2007.

As of January 1, 2007, the trustee of the master trust of the Plan shall hold the commingled assets of the EMD Plan as

part of the trust of the Plan for the exclusive benefit of all participants and beneficiaries of the Plan.

The Plan shall be amended in principle effective January 1, 2007 as follows, except as provided in paragraphs 2 and 3

below:

€) Benefit formulas will be preserved, based upon the provisions of the EMD Plan immediately prior to their
merger into the Plan, with respect to those terminated members whose benefits must be preserved in
accordance with applicable law.

(b) Benefit formulas will be preserved, based on the provisions of the EMD Plan immediately prior to the merger
into the Plan, with respect to current participants, alternate payees, newly hired employees and employees
hired through merger or acquisition.

(c) The rights and benefits of all members under the Plan shall be uniform to the extent reasonably practicable
and not inconsistent with the requirements of Section 411(d)(6) of the Internal Revenue Code (the “Code”).

(d) The Board of Directors shall have the sole authority to amend, merge or otherwise modify the Plan except to

the extent the Board may expressly delegate such authority.

The foregoing resolutions are subject to and conditioned upon said resolutions not adversely affecting the continued
qualified status of the Plan under Section 401 of the Code or the tax-exempt status of their related trust under

Section 501 of the Code.




7. The Benefits Committee and any proper officer or officers of the Employer are hereby authorized and empowered to do
or cause to be done all such further acts and things as shall be necessary and proper to implement the foregoing
resolutions or to maintain the qualified status of the aforesaid Plan, including but not limited to preparation of an

amendment to the Plan reflecting the preserved benefits described in these resolutions.

Except to the extent amended by this Instrument of Amendment, the Plan shall remain in full force and effect.




EX-10.37

SEVENTH AMENDMENT TO
CURTISS-WRIGHT ELECTRO-MECHANICAL DIVISION
PENSION PLAN

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 18 of the Curtiss-Wright Electro-Mechanical Division Pension Plan (“the Plan”), the
Administrative Committee (the “Committee”) may amend the Plan; and

WHEREAS, the Committee desires to amend the Plan to reflect certain amendments requested by the Internal Revenue
Service as a condition to its issuance of a favorable determination of the Plan’s qualified status under Section 401(a) of the Internal
Revenue Code;

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS RESOLVED that the Plan is amended in the following respects, effective as of October 29,

2002:
1. Subsection 1.12.C. is amended by adding a new category (4) to read as follows:

4) In the event an Employee separates from service and is subsequently reemployed, the
Employee’s periods of Eligibility Service accrued both before and after his severance from
service shall be aggregated.

2. Subsection 1.12. is amended by adding a new Subsectionl.12.I to read as follows:

l. In computing an employee’s Eligibility Service, all periods of service as an employee
rendered with an Affiliated Entity, an Excluded Unit or with the Employer in a classification
ineligible to participate in the Plan shall be recognized as Eligibility Service to the same
extent such service would be counted as Eligibility Service if such service had been
rendered as an Employee in accordance with the provisions of section 411(a)(4) of the
Code.

3. Subsection 3.A. is amended by adding the following sentences at the end thereof:

An Employee shall make such election within the 30-day period following the date he is notified of his
eligibility to participate in the Plan. An Employee who elects to contribute within said 30-day period
shall commence participating in the Plan on his date of employment as an Employee.




Appendix A.3.B. is amended by adding the following sentence at the end thereof:

An Employee who is a Non-Key Employee shall be entitled to accrue a minimum benefit under this
paragraph 3.8. regardless of the Employee’s level of compensation and regardless of whether the
Employee declined to make mandatory contributions; provided, however, that a part-time Employee
or Casual Employee who is regularly scheduled to work less than 24 hours per week shall only

accrue a benefit under this paragraph 3.B if he completes at least 1000 hours in the applicable
accrual computation period.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this amendment has been executed on this 11th day of July, 2006.




EX-10.38

EIGTH AMENDMENT TO
CURTISS-WRIGHT ELECTRO-MECHANICAL DIVISION
PENSION PLAN

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 18 of the Curtiss-Wright Electro-Mechanical Division Pension Plan (the “Plan”), the
Administrative Committee (the “Committee”) may amend the Plan; and

WHEREAS, the Committee desires to amend the Plan to merge it into the Curtiss Wright Corporation Retirement Plan
(the “C-W Plan”).

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS RESOLVED, that the Plan is amended in the following respects, as of the dates set forth

below”

1. The Plan shall be, and hereby is, merged into the C-W Plan, effective January 1, 2007, with the surviving plan being the
C-W Plan.

2. Effective January 1, 2007, the liability for benefits of the Plan shall become the obligation of the C-W Plan and the
participants (and beneficiaries thereof) of the Plan shall look to the assets of the C-W Plan for payment of their benefits
and as of that date the liability of the Plan for such benefits shall cease.

3. The trustee of the C-W Plan master trust is hereby authorized to accept the trust account funds attributable to the Plan
and merge such funds with the trust account attributable to the C-W Plan as soon as practicable on or after January 1,
2007.

4, The foregoing resolutions are subject to and conditioned upon said resolutions not adversely affecting the continued

qualified status of the C-W Plan under Section 401 of the Code or the tax-exempt status of their related trust under

Section 501 of the Code.




5. Any proper officer or officers of the Employer are hereby authorized and empowered to do or cause to be done all such

further acts and things as shall be necessary and proper to implement the foregoing resolutions.

The foregoing amendment shall apply to any Employee, former Employee or beneficiary who is receiving benefits under the Plan or
whose benefits have not commenced under the Plan as of the effective date of this amendment.

IN WITNESS THEREOF, this amendment has been executed on this 1st day of January, 2007.




Exhibit 1€
February 26, 2007

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Curtiss-Wright Corporation
Roseland, New Jersey

We have audited the consolidated financial statésneh Curtiss-Wright Corporation and subsidiaridee (“Company”)as of December 3
2006 and 2005, and for each of the three yearldrperiod ended December 31, 2006, included in yourual Report on Form 1R-to the
Securities and Exchange Commission and have issuleteport thereon dated February 26, 2007, whigliessses an unqualified opinion i
includes an explanatory paragraph regarding thepg@aois adoption of Statement of Financial Accoumt8tandard (SFAS) No. 123(R) Share-
Based Payment on January 1, 2006 and SFAS NoElBgloyers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit PensiordaOther Postretirement Plangr
Amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106 ar2{R)3as of December 31, 2006. Note 6 to such cafeted financial statemel
contains a description of your adoption during year ended December 31, 2006 of a change in tleeaddhe Companyg annual impairme
test of goodwill in accordance with SFAS No. 142y08will and Other Intangible Assets. In our judgmesuch change is to an alterna
accounting principle that is preferable under tineuenstances.

Yours truly,

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP




Subsidiaries of the Registrant

Exhibit 21

The information below is provided, as of DecemhkrZ006 with respect to the subsidiaries of theifReant, all of which are wholly owned
the Corporation, directly or indirectly. The nantdsertain inactive subsidiaries and other constéd subsidiaries of the Registrant have
omitted because such subsidiaries would not comstit significant subsidiary, individually or iretlaggregate.

Name

Organized Unde
the Laws of

CurtisWright Flow Control Corporatio
CurtisWright Controls, Inc

Metal Improvement Company, LL
Curtiss-Wright Electr--Mechanical Corporatio
Penny & Giles Controls Limite
CurtisWright Antriebstechnik Gmbt

Vista Controls, Inc

Autronics Corporatiol

Curtiss-Wright Flow Control Company Cana
Peerless Instrument Co., It

Dy 4, Inc.

Synergy Microsystems, In

Primagraphics (Holdings) Limite
Novatronics, Inc

Systran Corporatio

New York
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware

England

Switzerlanc

California
Delaware

Nova Scotie

New York
Delaware
California
U.K.
Ontario
Ohio



Exhibit 2
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTIN&GRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference iniReggion Statement Nos. 33-65073, 33-06329, 33256 33-126541, and 3826543 o
Form S-8, Registration Statement No. 33-61785 amF8-8 and S-3 and Registration Statement Nos.13%85 and 33-119589 on Form3S-
of our reports dated February 26, 2007, relatinght consolidated financial statements and findrstetement schedule of Curtigéright
Corporation and subsidiaries (which report expresse unqualified opinion and includes an explaryap@ragraph regarding the Company’
adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Stadd(SFAS) No. 123(R) ShaRased Payment on January 1, 2006 and SFAS No
Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit PensiardaOther Postretirement Planer Amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 10l
132(R) as of December 31, 2006) and managemeeaport of the effectiveness of internal contre¢mfinancial reporting appearing in ¢
incorporated by reference in the Annual Report omF10-K of CurtissA/right Corporation and subsidiaries for the yeateshDecember 3
2006.

DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Parsippany, New Jersey
February 26, 2007




Exhibit 31.1

Certifications

I, Martin R. Benante, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Curtis-Wright Corporation

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not coraainuntrue statement of a material fact or omisteie a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgta under which such statements were made, nteadisg with respect to the per
covered by this repor

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd, ather financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amndtf@ periods presented in this rep

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) andrke responsible for establishing and maintainirggldsure controls and procedures
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15¢k)) and internal control over financial repogti(as defined in Exchange Act Rt
13e-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a)

b)

<)

d)

Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresawsed such disclosure controls and procedurée tdesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made knowr
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pnegzh

Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finahoigorting to be design
under our supervision, to provide reasonable asseraegarding the reliability of financial repogirand the preparation
financial statements for external purposes in ataoee with generally accepted accounting princij

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant'slaisire controls and procedures and presentedsimeport our conclusions ab:
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls armtqulures, as of the end of the period covered lsyréport based on su
evaluation; an

Disclosed in this report any change in the regmanternal control over financial reporting tloatcurred during the registral
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repod} ttas materially affected, or
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasit's internal control over financial reportingpe

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) andhdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluafianternal control over financi
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant's board of directs persons performing the equiva
functions):

a)

b)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contratiofiancial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regidtsability to record, process, summarize and refieancial information; an

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significdatin the registran
internal control over financial reportin

February 23, 2007

/s/ Martin R. Benante

Martin R. Benante
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

Certifications

I, Glenn E. Tynan, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Curtis-Wright Corporation

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not coraainuntrue statement of a material fact or omisteie a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgta under which such statements were made, nteadisg with respect to the per
covered by this repor

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd, ather financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amndtf@ periods presented in this rep

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) andrke responsible for establishing and maintainirggldsure controls and procedures
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15¢k)) and internal control over financial repogti(as defined in Exchange Act Rt
13e-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a)

b)

<)

d)

Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresawsed such disclosure controls and procedurée tdesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made knowr
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pnegzh

Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finahoigorting to be design
under our supervision, to provide reasonable asseraegarding the reliability of financial repogirand the preparation
financial statements for external purposes in ataoee with generally accepted accounting princij

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant'slaisire controls and procedures and presentedsimeport our conclusions ab:
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls armtqulures, as of the end of the period covered lsyréport based on su
evaluation; an

Disclosed in this report any change in the regmanternal control over financial reporting tloatcurred during the registral
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repod} ttas materially affected, or
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasit's internal control over financial reportingpe

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) andhdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluafianternal control over financi
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant's board of directs persons performing the equiva
functions):

a)

b)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contratiofiancial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regidtsability to record, process, summarize and refieancial information; an

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significdatin the registran
internal control over financial reportin

February 23, 2007

/s/ Glenn E. Tynan

Glenn E. Tynan
Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

In connection with the Annual Report of Curtiss-@¥i Corporation (the "Company") on Form K{er the period ended December 31, 20C
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiantlee date hereof (the "Report"), Martin R. Benaate Chairman and Chief Execu
Officer of the Company, and Glenn E. Tynan, as ChRirancial Officer of the Company, each herebytifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. sect
1350, that to the best of his knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsettion 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeok 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly pets, in all material respects, the financial ctadiand results of operations
the Company

/s/ Martin R. Benante

Martin R. Benante

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
February 23, 2007

/s/ Glenn E. Tynan
Glenn E. Tynan

Chief Financial Officer
February 23, 2007




